
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
Committee 
 
 
 
Wed 10th March 
2010 
7.00 pm 
 
Committee Room 2 
Town Hall 
Redditch 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 
 

Access to Information - Your Rights 
 

The Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 
1985 widened the rights of 
press and public to attend 
Local Authority meetings 
and to see certain 
documents.  Recently the 
Freedom of Information Act 
2000, has further broadened 
these rights, and limited 
exemptions under the 1985 
Act. 

Your main rights are set out 
below:- 

• Automatic right to attend 
all Council and 
Committee meetings 
unless the business 
would disclose 
confidential or “exempt” 
information. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
agenda and public reports 
at least five days before 
the date of the meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
minutes of the Council 
and its Committees (or 
summaries of business  

 

undertaken in private) for 
up to six years following a 
meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
lists of background 
papers used in the 
preparation of public 
reports. 

• Access, upon request, to 
the background papers 
on which reports are 
based for a period of up 
to four years from the 
date of the meeting. 

• Access to a public 
register stating the names 
and addresses and 
electoral areas of all 
Councillors with details of 
the membership of all 
Committees etc. 

• A reasonable number of 
copies of agenda and 
reports relating to items to 
be considered in public 
must be made available 
to the public attending 
meetings of the Council 
and its Committees etc. 

• Access to a list specifying 
those powers which the 
Council has delegated to its 
Officers indicating also the 
titles of the Officers 
concerned. 

• Access to a summary of the 
rights of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council and 
its Committees etc. and to 
inspect and copy 
documents. 

• In addition, the public now 
has a right to be present 
when the Council 
determines “Key Decisions” 
unless the business would 
disclose confidential or 
“exempt” information. 

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
items of business before the 
Executive Committee are 
Key Decisions.  

• (Copies of Agenda Lists are 
published in advance of the 
meetings on the Council’s 
Website: 
www.redditchbc.gov.uk 

 
If you have any queries on this Agenda or any of the decisions taken or wish to 

exercise any of the above rights of access to information, please contact  
Ivor Westmore  

Committee Support Services  
 

Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 
Tel: 01527 64252 (Extn. 3269) Fax: (01527) 65216 

e.mail: ivor.westmore@redditchbc.gov.uk                Minicom: 595528 
 



 

Welcome to today’s meeting. 
Guidance for the Public 
 
 
Agenda Papers 

The Agenda List at the front 
of the Agenda summarises 
the issues to be discussed 
and is followed by the 
Officers’ full supporting 
Reports. 
 
Chair 

The Chair is responsible for 
the proper conduct of the 
meeting. Generally to one 
side of the Chair is the 
Committee Support Officer 
who gives advice on the 
proper conduct of the 
meeting and ensures that 
the debate and the 
decisions are properly 
recorded.  On the Chair’s 
other side are the relevant 
Council Officers.  The 
Councillors (“Members”) of 
the Committee occupy the 
remaining seats around the 
table. 
 
Running Order 

Items will normally be taken 
in the order printed but, in 
particular circumstances, the 
Chair may agree to vary the 
order. 
 
Refreshments : tea, coffee 
and water are normally 
available at meetings - 
please serve yourself. 
 

 
Decisions 

Decisions at the meeting will 
be taken by the Councillors 
who are the democratically 
elected representatives. 
They are advised by 
Officers who are paid 
professionals and do not 
have a vote. 
 
Members of the Public 

Members of the public may, 
by prior arrangement, speak 
at meetings of the Council or 
its Committees.  Specific 
procedures exist for Appeals 
Hearings or for meetings 
involving Licence or 
Planning Applications.  For 
further information on this 
point, please speak to the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Special Arrangements 

If you have any particular 
needs, please contact the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Infra-red devices for the 
hearing impaired are 
available on request at the 
meeting. Other facilities may 
require prior arrangement. 
 
Further Information 

If you require any further 
information, please contact 
the Committee Support 
Officer (see foot of page 
opposite). 

Fire/ Emergency  
instructions 
 
If the alarm is sounded, 
please leave the building 
by the nearest available 
exit – these are clearly 
indicated within all the 
Committee Rooms. 
 
If you discover a fire, 
inform a member of staff 
or operate the nearest 
alarm call point (wall 
mounted red rectangular 
box).  In the event of the 
fire alarm sounding, leave 
the building immediately 
following the fire exit 
signs.  Officers have been 
appointed with 
responsibility to ensure 
that all visitors are 
escorted from the 
building. 
 
Do Not stop to collect 
personal belongings. 
 
Do Not use lifts. 
 
Do Not re-enter the 
building until told to do 
so.  
 
The emergency 
Assembly Area is on 
Walter Stranz Square. 

 
 
 



 
 
 

Declaration of Interests: 
Guidance for Councillors 
 
 
DO I HAVE A “PERSONAL INTEREST” ? 
 
• Where the item relates or is likely to affect your  registered interests 

(what you have declared on the formal Register of Interests) 
OR 
 
• Where a decision in relation to the item might reasonably be regarded as affecting your 

own well-being or financial position, or that of your family, or your close associates more 
than most other people affected by the issue, 

 
you have a personal interest. 
 
WHAT MUST I DO?  Declare the existence, and nature, of your interest and stay 
 
• The declaration must relate to specific business being decided - 

a general scattergun approach is not needed 
 
• Exception - where interest arises only because of your membership of another public 

body, there is no need to declare unless you speak on the matter. 
 
• You can vote on the matter. 
 
 
IS IT A “PREJUDICIAL INTEREST” ? 
 
In general only if:- 
 
• It is a personal interest and 
 
• The item affects your financial position (or conveys other benefits), or the position of your 

family, close associates or bodies through which you have a registered interest (or 
relates to the exercise of regulatory functions in relation to these groups) 

 
 and 
 
• A member of public, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably believe the 

interest was likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 
 
 
WHAT MUST I DO?  Declare and Withdraw 
 
BUT you may make representations to the meeting before withdrawing, if the public have similar 
rights (such as the right to speak at Planning Committee). 



 
 

 
 
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

10th March 2010 

7.00 pm 

Committee Room 2 Town Hall 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: C Gandy (Chair) 
M Braley (Vice-Chair) 
P Anderson 
J Brunner 
B Clayton 
 

W Hartnett 
N Hicks 
C MacMillan 
M Shurmer 
 

1. Apologies  To receive the apologies of any Member who is unable to 
attend this meeting. 
  

2. Declarations of Interest  To invite Councillors to declare any interests they may have 
in items on the agenda. 
  

3. Leader's Announcements  1. To give notice of any items for future meetings or for 
the Forward Plan, including any scheduled for this 
meeting, but now carried forward or deleted; and 

 
2 any other relevant announcements. 
 
(Oral report) 
  

4. Minutes  

(Pages 1 - 16)  

Chief Executive 

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of 
the Executive Committee held on 3rd, 17th and 22nd 
February 2010. 
 
(Minutes for 3rd and 17th February attached and for 22nd 
February to follow) 
  

5. Quarterly Performance 
Monitoring - Quarter 3, 
October - December 2009  

(Pages 17 - 28)  

Head of Community 
Services 

To consider a report which provides a view on aspects of the 
Council’s overall performance and an opportunity to view the 
Council’s performance for Quarter 3 of the 2009/10 financial 
year and to comment on it. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(All Wards)  



 
 
Executive 
Committee  

 

 

10th March 2010 
 
 

6. Quarterly Budget 
Monitoring - Quarter 3, 
September to December 
2009  

(Pages 29 - 48)  

Head of Resources 

To consider an overview of the budget, including the 
achievement of approved savings as at the end of the third 
quarter 2009/10. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(All Wards)  

7. Quarterly Monitoring of 
Formal Complaints and 
Compliments - Quarter 3, 
September to December 
2009  

(Pages 49 - 64)  

Head of Community 
Services, Head of 
Customer and IT Services 

To consider a report which provides a view on aspects of the 
Council’s Formal Complaints Procedure, the compliments 
recorded during the same period and the Ombudsman 
‘Annual Review 2008/09. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
 (All Wards) 

8. Quarterly Monitoring of 
the Benefits Service 
Improvement Plan - 
Quarter 3, September to 
December 2009  

(Pages 65 - 114)  

Head of Resources 

To advise Members of actual performance during Quarter 3 
of the Improvement Plan. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(All Wards)  

9. Home Improvement 
Agency  

(Pages 115 - 164)  

Head of Community 
Services 

To consider recommissioning of Home Improvement Agency 
services on a countywide basis. 
 
(Appendix 1 to this report is exempt in accordance with s.100 
I of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the 
Local Government (Access To Information) (Variation) Order 
2006, as it contains information relating to a contract being 
negotiated with a third party.) 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  



 
 
Executive 
Committee  

 

 

10th March 2010 
 
 

10. Redditch Housing Advice 
and Homelessness 
Review and Enhanced 
Housing Options 
Strategy and Action Plan  

(Pages 165 - 170)  

Head of Housing 

To endorse the Redditch Housing Advice and Homelessness 
Review and agree the Redditch Enhanced Housing Options 
Strategy and Action Plan for 2010 to 2013. 
 
(Report attached – appendices available via the Council’s 
website and in the Group Rooms) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  

11. Prudential Indicators 
2010/11 to 2012/13 and 
Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy  

(Pages 171 - 180)  

Head of Resources 

To agree the Prudential Indicators and Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) Policy before the start of the 2010/11 
financial year. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  

12. Treasury Management 
Policy Statement  

(Pages 181 - 188)  

Head of Resources 

To approve the Council’s updated Treasury Management 
Policy Statement, including the Treasury Management and 
Annual Investment Strategies for the 2010/11 financial year. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  

13. Voluntary Sector Grant 
Applications 2010/11  

(Pages 189 - 198)  

Director of Policy, 
Performance and 
Partnerships 

To consider recommendations from the Grants Assessment 
Panel in awarding grants to voluntary sector organisations for 
projects in 2010/11. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  

14. Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Chief Executive 

To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 3rd February 2010. 
 
(Minutes to follow) 
 
  

15. Minutes / Referrals - 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Executive 
Panels, Neighbourhood 
Groups etc.  

Chief Executive 

To receive and consider any outstanding minutes or referrals 
from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Executive 
Panels, Neighbourhood Groups, etc. since the last meeting 
of the Executive Committee, other than as detailed in the 
items above. 
 
  



 
 
Executive 
Committee  

 

 

10th March 2010 
 

16. Advisory Panels - update 
report  

(Pages 199 - 202)  

Chief Executive 

To consider, for monitoring / management purposes, an 
update on the work of the Executive Committee’s Advisory 
Panels and similar bodies, which report via the Executive 
Committee. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
  

17. Action Monitoring  
(Pages 203 - 206)  

Chief Executive 

To consider an update on the actions arising from previous 
meetings of the Committee. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
  

18. Exclusion of the Public  It may be necessary, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, to 
consider excluding the public from the meeting in relation to 
the following items of business on the grounds that exempt 
information is likely to be divulged. It may be necessary, 
therefore, to move the following resolution: 

“that, under S.100 I of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following matter(s) on 
the grounds that it/they involve(s) the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in the relevant 
paragraphs (to be specified) of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) 
of the said Act, as amended.” 
 
  

19. Confidential Minutes / 
Referrals (if any)  

To consider confidential matters not dealt with earlier in the 
evening and not separately listed below (if any). 
 
  

  

 
 



 

 

 Chair 
 

  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 

 
 

3rd February 2010 
 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Carole Gandy (Chair), Councillor Michael Braley (Vice-Chair) 
and Councillors P Anderson, J Brunner, B Clayton, W Hartnett, N Hicks, 
C MacMillan and M Shurmer 
 

 Officers: 
 

 R Bamford, B Barr, M Bough, C Flanagan, H Halls, S Hanley, J Homer, 
R Kindon and T Kristunas 
 

 Committee Officers: 
 

 D Sunman 
 

229. APOLOGIES  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

230. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

231. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chair advised that she had accepted the following matter as 
urgent business: 
 
Item 7 – Initial Estimates 2010/11 and Forecasts for 2011/12 and 
2012/13. 
 

232. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK - OFFICE NEEDS 
ASSESSMENT  
 
Members considered a report which sought endorsement of an 
Office Needs Assessment that had been jointly produced by 
Officers of the Council and GVA Grimley.  Officers reported that the 
study would form part of the evidence base for the Core Strategy 
Development Plan document. 
 
Members were informed that the Office Needs Assessment had 
included four key stages as follows: 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
1) a Survey of Existing Occupiers; 

 
2) an Assessment of Floorspace in Redditch town centre; 

 
3) a Property Market Review; and  

 
4) the Need for Additional Floorspace. 
 
The key issues arising from these stages were: 
 
a) the town centre was an attractive location for the Office 

market with: 
 
i) affordable rent levels; 
ii) flexible accommodation; and 
iii) location accessible to main transport routes. 

 
b) since January 2000 to March 2009 there had been a gradual 

increase of office lettings – the average take up being around 
3,800 sq.m per annum, the freehold sales market was more 
limited; 
 

c) currently 28% of the total stock was vacant, the highest level 
in a decade; 
 

d) achieving the WMRSS target of 45,000 sq.m would be 
challenging given the limited about of demand for such a 
high level of office floorspace in the town centre and 
peripheral zone; 
 

e) the town centre and peripheral zone could only 
accommodate half of this requirement; 
 

f) a revised office target of 30,000 sq.m over the Plan period 
was recommended; 
 

g) the study identified some potential sites which could 
accommodate around 22,000 sq.m, which would mean 
identifying an additional 2.3ha outside the town centre / 
peripheral zone in order to achieve the 30,000 sq.m 
requirement; 
 

h) in order to attract a wider office market, which traditionally 
had not wanted to locate in the Borough, marketing of the 
town centre would be fundamental to its success; 
 

i) the Council should focus on regional and sub-regional public 
sector organisations when identifying potential occupiers of 

Page 2



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
office accommodation in the town centre; 
 

j) a wider range of ‘office products’ would be required, i.e. new, 
modern office buildings with flexible space capable of 
accommodating medium to large businesses. 
 

k) support from Economic Development would be required in 
order to ensure a holistic approach is used in identifying the 
types of sectors that should be focused upon in the town 
centre; and 
 

l) in order to achieve the challenging office requirement policy 
would need to set precedence over competing uses, e.g. 
residential and leisure in the town centre. 

 
The Chair of the Planning Advisory Panel (PAP) reported that the 
draft report had been presented to the Panel and had been 
discussed at length.  He informed Members that a number of key 
points, which had arisen in these discussions, had been included in 
the final report. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
the Office Needs Assessment, as attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be endorsed as part of the Council’s Local 
Development Framework Evidence Base. 
 

233. WATER QUALITY REPORT  
 
Members received a report which sought approval and adoption of 
a policy in relation to Water Quality in Redditch Borough Council’s 
owned and managed buildings. 
 
Officers reported that the Council’s policy for the management of 
water quality was as follows: 
 
1) to have clear procedures for the design and management of 

water services; 
 

2) to have specific lines of responsibility for the management of 
water services; 
 

3) to identify locations with high risk users of premises; 
 

4) to identify , where possible, potential risk areas due to 
materials, storage methods, poor installation etc. within 
buildings; 
 

Page 3



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
5) to check on a regular basis the quality of water within 

buildings; 
 

6) to train staff and contractors to ensure that works carried out 
on water services comply with legislation and the policy; 
 

7) to ensure that any risk of contamination is removed or 
reduces in an efficient, cost effective manner with the 
minimum disruption to building users. 

 
Members requested that the Council’s insurers be asked to 
comment on the policy. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
1) the policy in relation to water quality in Council-owned 

and managed buildings, as included at Appendix 1 to the 
report, be adopted; and 
 

2) the Council’s Insurers be sent a copy of the Water 
Quality Policy for comment. 

 
234. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN  

 
The Committee received a report that sought approval and adoption 
of the Private Sector Housing Strategy and Action Plan, which 
would replace the Private Sector Housing Strategy 2004. 
 
Officers reported that a stock modelling survey of private housing 
(all non-social) had been completed in April 2009 by Building 
Research Establishment (BRE).  Based on the evidence from the 
survey significant issues had been identified in the older areas of 
the Borough and hot spots in part of the former new town areas.  
The areas of most need had been identified as the older dwellings 
in Central and adjacent wards of Lodge Park and Abbey. 
 
Members were informed that a survey had been carried out during 
the summer of 2009 with private tenants, landlords and owner-
occupiers to identify which private sector housing services were 
seen as a priority. 
 
Resident’s priorities had been identified as follows: 
 
1) assistance to low-income households on property 

maintenance and helping arrange subsidised loans; 
 

2) returning empty properties back to use; 
 

Page 4



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
3) helping older people and people with disabilities to live 

independently in their own homes by providing stairlifts, 
wider doorways etc.; and 
 

4) advice on reducing energy use and combating fuel poverty. 
 
Officers reported that the main strategic aims of the strategy were: 
 

a) improve housing conditions in the private sector; and 
 

b) give support and advice to private sector tenants and 
vulnerable households. 

 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
the Private Sector Housing Strategy, as included at Appendix A 
to the report, be adopted. 
 

235. INITIAL ESTIMATES 2010/11 AND FORECASTS FOR 2011/12 
AND 2012/13  
 
Members received a report which presented the estimates at 
Directorate level that had been prepared in accordance with the 
Budget Guidelines, which had been approved by Council on 7th 
December 2009. 
 
The Head of Resources reported that since consideration of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan for the period 2010/11 to 2012/13 in 
July 2009 central government had announced an increase in 
National Insurance contributions to take effect from April 2011 at an 
estimated cost of £110k.  She also reported that there had been a 
reduction in income form business centres, leisure services, local 
land charges and planning fees. 
 
Members were informed that the Executive Committee at their 
meeting on 18th November 2009 had considered a number of 
revenue and capital bids.  Members had approved the bids for 
2009/10 and approved, in principle, the bids for the forthcoming 
three years, subject to the availability of resources.  Following the 
outcome of the Initial Estimates process for 2010/11 the Strategic 
Management Team had reviewed the General Fund bids.  As a 
result the following amendments had been made: 
 
1) the bid for £110,000 for works to Public Building had been 

removed pending a further report to Members; 
 

2) the bid for the repair and maintenance of street lighting had 
been changed to medium priority and would be reconsidered 

Page 5



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
later in the year; 
 

3) the bid for Landscape Maintenance had been changed to 
medium priority pending an investigation into the potential 
utilisation of Section 106 contributions to support the budget; 
 

4) the bid for Direct Action – Enforcement had been removed 
from the list. 
 

5) the capital bid for the Energy Management System had been 
removed form the list as it had been included in the list of 
projects for SALIX funding. 
 

The Leader reported that, with the approval of Members, the bid for 
the repair and maintenance of street lighting at a cost of £6,000 
would be included in the Initial Estimates 2010/11. 
 
The Head of Resources reported that the Secretary of State had 
approved the Council’s application for a Capitalisation Direction in 
respect of the severance costs associated with the Single 
Management Team.  She explained that this would mean that the 
severance costs could be met from capital receipts as opposed to a 
direct charge to the General Fund revenue account. 
 
Officers were asked to write, in the first instance, to Worcestershire 
County Council highlighting the increasing pressure on the 
Council’s budgets for staff pensions. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 

 
1) the Initial Estimates for 2010/11 be approved;  
 
2) the Revenue Bids categorised as unavoidable and high 

detailed in Appendix 14 be approved , as follows:   
 

2010/11 £279,210 
2011/12 £  98,210 
2012/13 £  97,210 

 
3) The General Fund bids for capital resources categorised 

as high set out in Appendix 15 be approved, as follows: 
 

2010/11 £325,000 
2011/12 £165,000 
2012/13 £845,000; 
 

Page 6



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
together with the associated revenue implications as 
follows: 
 
2010/11 £  6,500 
2011/12 £54,200 
2012/13 £96,400 
Future years £188,800; 

 
4) the proposal for how the Further Support for Town 

Centre Grant is utilised as set out in Appendix 17 be 
approved; 

 
5) the bids as recommended by Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee be approved as follows: 
 

a) 2nd December 2009 Redditch Matters to be 
published quarterly.  Cost of an additional edition 
£6,000; 

 
6) the bid for Church Hill District Centre Redevelopment 

for £60,000 2010/11 which was approved in principle at 
Council on 7th December 2009, be approved; 

 
7) that any Direct Action - Enforcement expenditure be 

funded from balances, pending recovery from the third 
party, and officers report back to Members on the 
success of any recovery action;  
 

8) that any bids not approved at this stage be brought back 
to this Committee for reconsideration once the outturn 
position for 2009/10 is known and 
 

9) the bid of £6,000 for the repair and maintenance of street 
lighting be included in the Initial Estimates 2010/11. 
 

(This report had been accepted as a matter of Urgent Business – 
not having met the publication deadline and was considered at the 
meeting as such, with the approval of the Chair, and in accordance 
with the Council’s constitutional rules and powers vested in the 
Chair by virtue of Section 100 (B) (4) (b) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to agree matters of urgency being discussed by reason of 
special circumstances. 
 
In this case the special circumstances were that the information, 
which was not available at the time of the agenda going to print, 
was required to be considered at the present meeting in order to 
meet statutory requirements.) 
 

Page 7



  
 

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive 
Committee 

 
 
 

3rd February 2010 

 
236. FORMER COVERED MARKET - INITIAL OPTIONS APPRAISAL  

 
The Committee were asked to consider the options for the use or 
redevelopment of the former Covered Market site. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the site be declared surplus to the Council’s 

requirements; 
 

2) Property Services, in conjunction with Planning 
Services, be authorised to work up a development brief 
to be reported to a future Executive Committee meeting; 
and 
 

3) the Property Services Manager be authorised to secure 
any short term interim uses of the former covered 
market area that would generate income, subject to 
planning considerations and in consultation with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder. 

 
237. CORPORATE SICKNESS STATISTICS  

 
Members received a report that updated them on sickness statistics 
for the Council for the period July to September 2009.  Officers 
circulated information for the period October to December 2009 at 
the meeting. 
 
Officers were asked to provide Councillor Hartnett with information 
regarding the SLA with Worcestershire County Council for the 
provision of Occupational Health services. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the statistics be noted; and 

 
2) the programme outlined in the report to reduce sickness 

absence be approved. 
 

 
 
 

 Chair 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.50 pm 

Page 8



 

 

 Chair 
 

  
 

EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE 
Committee 

 
 

 
 

17th February 2010 
 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Carole Gandy (Chair), Councillor Michael Braley (Vice-Chair) 
and Councillors P Anderson, J Brunner, B Clayton, W Hartnett, N Hicks 
and M Shurmer 
 

 Also Present: 
 

  Councillor J Pearce and Michael Collins (Standards Committee) 
 

 Officers: 
 

 A Rutt, D Riley, S Hanley, R Cooke, K Stokes, H Halls, J Godwin, D 
Taylor, J Bough and K Cook 
 

 Committee Officers: 
 

 D Sunman 
 

 
238. APOLOGIES  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

239. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

240. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chair advised that the following item of business, scheduled on 
the Forward Plan to be dealt with at this meeting, had been 
rescheduled to a later meeting of the Committee: 
 
• Information Management Strategy 
 
The Chair also advised that she had accepted the following matter 
as urgent business: 
 
Item 9 – Leisure Contracts Advisory Panel – Abbey Stadium 
Redevelopment 
 

Page 9



  
 

EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE 
Committee 

 
 
 

17th February 2010 

 
241. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27th 
January 2010 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by 
the Chair. 
 

242. PLANNING SERVICES - SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS - AMENDMENTS RELATING TO TREE PROTECTION 
ORDERS  
 
Members considered a report which sought approval to amend the 
current scheme of delegation to Officers relating to Tree 
Preservation Orders in order to provide a more efficient service, 
with quicker response times, which would improve the natural 
environment of the Borough. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 

 
1) authority be delegated to Officers, as summarised at 

Appendix 1; and 
 
2) the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, as detailed at 

Appendix 2 to the report, be adopted. 
 

243. PLANNING SERVICES - INCREASE IN CHARGING FOR PRE-
APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS  
 
Members considered a report which sought approval to alter the 
current scale of fees for Permitted Development enquiries and pre-
application advice to a common county-wide scale of charges and 
approach to service provision and to maintain the fees at the same 
level as other districts within Worcestershire.  Officers were asked 
to circulate Appendix 2 prior to the meeting of Council on 29th 
March 2010.  Officers were asked to circulate Appendix 2 prior to 
the meeting of Council on 29th March 2010. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
1) the schedule of charges, detailed at Appendix 1, be 

adopted and implemented by Planning Services from 
1st April 2010; and 

 
2) authority be delegated to Officers to maintain the fees at 

a standard county-wide level in future. 
 
 

Page 10



  
 

EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE 
Committee 

 
 
 

17th February 2010 

 
244. FILM PROPOSAL  

 
The Committee received a report requesting approval for the 
Council’s participation in a documentary film which would be 
produced by Fatum Films. 
 
Officers reported that following the success of the Morton Stanley 
Festival in 2009 an approach had been made to the Council by the 
owner of Fatum Films who was interested in producing a 
documentary, which would involve media students from NEW 
College as part of their work experience. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
participation in a documentary film produced by Fatum Films 
be approved. 
 

245. IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS  
 
The Committee received a report which sought approval to write off 
29 cases of irrecoverable debt amounting to £87,773.62. 
 
Officers reported that all appropriate debt recovery action had been 
attempted to recover the debts and that no further action could be 
taken to enforce payments. 
 
Members were asked to note that any debt that had been written off 
could be retrieved and pursued if it came to the Council’s attention 
that the debtor had the means to pay the debt. 

 
RESOLVED that 
 
the debts totalling £87,773.62 (£40,557.07 General Fund; 
£47,218.55 Housing Revenue Account), detailed in Appendix 1 
of the report be written off as irrecoverable. 
 
(During consideration of this item, Members discussed matters that 
necessitated the disclosure of exempt information.  It was therefore 
agreed to move to exclude the press and public prior to any debate 
on the grounds that it included information relating to individuals; 
the identity of individuals; and the financial or business affairs of 
particular persons (including the authority holding that information.) 
 
(There is nothing exempt, however, in this record of the 
proceedings.) 
 
 

Page 11



  
 

EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE 
Committee 

 
 
 

17th February 2010 

 
246. LEISURE CONTRACTS ADVISORY PANEL - ABBEY STADIUM 

REDEVELOPMENT  
 
Members received the notes of the meeting of the Leisure 
Contracts Panel on 1st February 2010 and were asked to approve 
the associated recommendations. 
 
Officers stated that, in their opinion, no Members of Planning 
Committee had fettered their discretion in any subsequent Planning 
Committee deliberations through their involvement in the decision-
making on the above matter. 
 
Officers were asked to arrange a visit for Councillors to a leisure 
centre in Coventry, which had been subject to a similar 
refurbishment to that being suggested at the Abbey Stadium. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) progress to date on the Abbey Stadium redevelopment 

be noted; and 
 

2) Stage D design, as indicated in the separate ‘artists’ 
impression’ Appendices, be formally approved for the 
purposes of seeking planning permission. 

 
247. MINUTES / REFERRALS - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE, EXECUTIVE PANELS, NEIGHBOURHOOD 
GROUPS ETC.  
 
There were no minutes of referrals under this item. 
 

248. ADVISORY PANELS - UPDATE REPORT  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted. 
 

249. ACTION MONITORING  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted. 
 

Page 12



  
 

EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE 
Committee 

 
 
 

17th February 2010 

 
250. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

 
RESOLVED that 
 
under S.100 I of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended 
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following matters on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2, 
3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) of the said Act, as 
amended. 
 
Irrecoverable Debts – [as detailed at Minute 245 (Item 8) 
above]; and 
 
Arrow Valley Countryside Centre – Review of Alternative 
Management Arrangements [as detailed at Minute 251 (Item 14) 
below]; 
 

251. ARROW VALLEY COUNTRYSIDE CENTRE - CONSULTANT'S 
REPORT  
 
(During the consideration of this item Members discussed matters 
that necessitated the disclosure of exempt information.  It was 
therefore agreed to exclude the press and public prior to any debate 
on the grounds that information would be revealed relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any person 9including the authority 
holding that information and contemplated consultations or 
negotiations in connection with a labour relations matter between 
the authority and employees of the authority.) 
 

252. CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES / REFERRALS (IF ANY)  
 
There were no confidential minutes of referrals. 
 
 

 
 

 Chair 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.28 pm 

Page 13



Page 14



Page 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 16



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Specific Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\3\5\AI00003531\QuarterlyPerformanceMonitoringReportFinal0.doc/11.02.10/LW 

 

QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
QUARTER 3, PERIOD ENDING DECEMBER 2009 
 
(Report of the Head of Community Services) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that 
 
the update on key performance indicators for the period ending 
December 2009 be noted and commented upon. 
 

3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  
Carbon Management Implications 

 
Financial 

 
3.1 Poor performance may have an impact on the financial position of 

the authority. 
 

Legal  
 
3.2 Under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007, a set of 198 new National Indicators was introduced to replace 
the previous Best Value Performance Indicators.  These cover all 
public authorities and are not all applicable to Redditch Borough 
Council.  

 
Policy  

 
3.3 The Council’s Corporate Plan makes a clear commitment to improve 

the way in which priority actions are planned and to improve the way 
in which performance is managed, including setting Service 
Standards.   

1. Summary of Proposals  
 

This report provides a view on aspects of the Council’s overall 
performance.  It shows which performance indicators, when 
compared to the same period last year, are exceeding their target, 
are not on target and where performance has remained static.   
 
This report provides Members with an opportunity to review the 
Council’s performance for quarter 3 of the 2009/10 financial year and 
to comment upon it. 
 

Agenda Item 5Page 17



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\3\5\AI00003531\QuarterlyPerformanceMonitoringReportFinal0.doc/11.02.10/LW 

 Risk 
 
3.4 Without adequate performance management the Council cannot 

review its performance at a corporate or service level adequately. 
 

Climate Change / Carbon Management 
 

3.5 There are a total of 4 performance indicators that relate to air quality 
and climate change within the list of new National Indicators (NI 185, 
NI 186, NI 188 and NI 194).  These are all reported annually. 

 
Report 

 
4. Background 
  
4.1 The National Indicator (NI) set was introduced with effect from the 

1st April 2008 and became the only indicators that public authorities 
will be required to report on to central Government.  Figures 
collected for 2008/09 formed the baseline for future reporting.   
28 national indicators are included in the Local Area Agreement for 
Worcestershire.  

 
4.2 A number of former Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPI’s) 

have been retained and are now included in the list of local 
performance indicators.  

 
4.3 The Council uses an electronic data collection (EDC) spread sheet 

to show our current and historic performance against selected 
national indicators and local performance indicators. 

 
4.4 Quarterly reporting is intended to drive improvement based on 

organisational need and local priorities. 
 
5. Key Issues 
 
 Basis of Quarterly Reporting 
 
5.1 In moving the agenda forward, the Council looked to address the 

following: 
 

a) Retaining a tighter focus at a corporate level – with a clearly 
defined number of indicators reported and monitored. 

 
b) Developing capacity for Directorates to strengthen 

performance management by focusing on service plan 
commitments. 

Page 18



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\3\5\AI00003531\QuarterlyPerformanceMonitoringReportFinal0.doc/11.02.10/LW 

c) Continuing to monitor selected National Indicators and 
retained BVPI’s and local indicators at a Member level at least 
annually. 

 
d) The development of links to how the Council is performing in 

its key delivery projects. 
 

5.2 Member involvement in monitoring performance for the remainder of 
the 2009/10 reporting year will involve: 

  

Quarter Period Member Group Purpose of 
reporting 

4 Jan – 
Mar  

May Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee / 
Executive Committee 

Receive annual 
outturn statistics 
Analyse exception 
report 

 
 The Exception Report 
 
5.3 The exception report compares the year to date outturn with the 

same period last year and highlights those indicators that have either 
improved or declined in performance when compared to the same 
period last year and those indicators where performance remains 
static.   

 
5.4 As in quarter 1 and 2, out of all corporate performance indicators 

reported in quarter 3 a higher proportion have improved compared to 
the same period last year. 

 
5.5 In total 35 indicators have provided data for quarter 3.  Of these, 24 

indicators have improved in performance, 4 have remained static 
(but are currently at optimum performance) but there has been some 
decline in performance for 7 of the indicators. 
 

6. Other Implications 
 

Asset Management - None specific. 
 
Community Safety - None specific. 
 
Health - ??? 
 
Human Resources - None specific. 
 
Social Exclusion - None specific. 
 
Environment /  - ??? 
Sustainability 
 

Page 19



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\3\5\AI00003531\QuarterlyPerformanceMonitoringReportFinal0.doc/11.02.10/LW 

7. Lessons Learnt   
 
 It was apparent that comments made by performance indicator 

owners were only relevant to the current quarter, however the report 
related to year to date performance.  For clarity, performance 
indicator owners were asked to ensure their comments related to 
both periods. 
 

8. Background Papers 
 

The details to support the information provided within this report are 
held by Policy Team. 
 

9. Consultation  
 
 There has been no consultation other than with relevant Borough 

Council Officers. 
  
10. Author of Report 
 

The author of this report is Tracy Beech (Policy Officer), who can be 
contacted on ext. 3182 (e-mail: tracy.beech@redditchbc.gov.uk) for 
more information. 

 
11. Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 - Exception Report – Corporate Performance 
Indicators - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 
2009. 

 
 

Page 20



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

DCX E&P HLCS Total

12 15 8 35

Total number of indicators showing 
improvement compared to the same period 
last year

���� 9 8 7 24

Total number of indicators showing a decline 
compared to the same period last year

���� 2 5 0 7

Total number of indicators showing no 
change compared to the same period last 
year*

�������� 1 2 1 4

Key to Symbols (throughout the report)

Improving performance compared to same 
quarter last year

���� #

Worsening performance compared to same 
quarter last year

���� NA

No change in performance compared to 
same quarter last year

�������� *

Performance Management Group

Key Findings for Quarter 3

These pages provide an exception report for all corporate performance indicators for which data was expected and
provided in quarter 3 (October - December) 2009/10.

Total number of corporate performance indicators providing
outturn data for quarter 3

* All four indicators showing no change in their performance are currently at optimum performance and as such 
improvement is not possible

No data available for the period

As in quarter 1 and 2, out of all corporate performance indicators reported in quarter 3 a higher proportion have improved

compared to the same period last year. By way of example NI 182 (Satisfaction of business with local authority

regulation services) has significantly improved from 46.46% to 73.55% at the same time last year. Likewise NI 181 (Time

taken to process Housing Benefit / Council Tax Benefit new claims and change events (days)) has also demonstrated a

positive direction of travel with a quarter 3 outturn of 13.3 days compared with 15.97 days; a decrease of 2.67 days for

the same period last year. However there are also indicators which are highlighted as areas for concern; NI 195(b) one

of the 'improved street and environmental cleanliness' indicators shows that the levels of detritus for quarter 3, 2009/10 is

18.75% compared with only 8.58% in 2008/09. This increase has occurred due to training on surveying methods

undertaken during 2009 resulting in detritus levels appearing higher.  There is a recovery plan in place for this indicator.

Not applicable for this indicator/period

Data is provisional

The Performance Management Group (PMG) has been established to review performance against performance

indicators (PI's) across the Council and to escalate concerns regarding underperformance to Senior Management Team

(SMT) and Corporate Managemet Team (CMT). The PMG has recently been updated on the Comprehensive Area

Assessment, had feed back following a data quality audit and received an update from Benefits on their performance

action plan. The Group also discussed the current recovery plans including NI 16 (serious acquisitive crime rate) and the

associated burglary action plan. An update was also provided on the Lean project including savings that had been made

as a result.

Page 21



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

1 Apr 08 - 31 
Dec 08

1 Apr 09 - 31 
Dec 09

D
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
ve
l

Target 
2009/10

20
06
/0
7 
 

20
07
/0
8

20
08
/0
9

Deputy Chief Executive Directorate

Number of affordable homes delivered (gross) NI 155 10 71 ���� 94 NA NA 10
Consistent with LAA target. 4 x almshouses (Ellen Warrin 
Trust) ceded by trust to RCH so stock transfer occurred. 
Not new build. 

The number of changes of circumstances which affect 
customers' Housing Benefit / Council Tax Benefit entitlement 
within the year 

NI 180 461.27 706.3 ���� 550 NA NA 681.2
Increases due to change in rules excluded from these 
figures.

Time taken to process Housing Benefit / Council Tax Benefit 
new claims and change events (days)

NI 181 15.97 13.3 ���� 13 NA NA 17.7

Several batch jobs have been run to take account of the 
rent decrease for Local Authority tenants and we have 
updated system to take account of changes to Child 
Benefit and capital in this quarter which has led to 
improved averages.

Percentage of invoices for commercial goods and services that 
were paid by the Council within 30 days of receipt or within the 
agreed payment terms

BV 008 91.52% 94.19% ���� 95.00% 94.05% 90.64% 91.62%

The amount of Housing Benefit overpayments recovered as a 
percentage of all HB overpayments

BV 079b(i) 67.02% 77.35% ���� TBC # 69.46% 69.46%

Improved recovery performance. However, Quarter 3 will 
be exceptional because of the Rent reduction for Council 
Tenants, which meant a large number of Council Tenant 
overpayments identified with the majority being recovered 
in full from the Rent Account. There was also an increase 
in Rent Allowance overpayments identified, possibly due 
to clearing a backlog, and there was an improved recovery 
rate through Benefits. (A recovery plan is in place for 
this indicator)

Housing Benefit (HB) overpayments recovered during the 
period as a percentage of the total amount of HB overpayment 
debt outstanding at the start of the period plus amount of HB 
overpayments identified during the period

BV 079b(ii) 20.23% 30.13% ���� TBC # 26.39% 26.39%
Improved recovery performance as for the reasons under 
BV79(i).  (A recovery plan is in place for this indicator)

The number of racial incidents recorded by the authority per 
100,000 population

BV 174 3.77 17.59 ����
contextual 
measure

18.92 30.21 12.59
A Hate Crime training package has been commissioned 
for delivery to members of the Joint Hate Incident 
Partnership in Qtr 4.

Percentage of new Housing and Council Tax Benefit claims 
where a decision was made within 14 days of receiving all 
information

HH 016 83.00% 89.00% ���� 85.00% 66.81 81.03% 80.00%
Batch jobs have increased average as changes due to 
rules change are recorded as one day taken - estimate 
average excluding these changes to be 84%.

Number of concessionary journeys per year ET 015 1,219,427 1,293,472 ����
Contextual 
Measure

1,498,838 1,474,325 1,614,815
Majority of claims for December 2009 not yet received at 
19 Jan 10.

Environment and Planning Directorate

Processing of major planning applications determined within 13 
weeks

NI 157(a) 92.31% 100.00% ���� 96% NA NA 93.75% Static- Has remained at 100% now for last 5 quarters.

Processing of minor planning applications determined within 8 
weeks

NI 157(b) 91.23% 95.45% ���� 90% NA NA 90.41%
2 Applications determined out of time this quarter, still 
above national average.

Processing of other planning applications determined within 8 
weeks

NI 157(c) 97.51% 98.51% ���� 95% NA NA 97.83%
Only 1 Application determined out of time within the last 
quarter, above national average.

Comments Indicator Description
Indicator 
Reference

Current Historic

Corporate Performance Indicators showing an improvement
in performance when compared to the same period last year 2 Data correct as at 11.30am Tue 26 January 2010

P
age 22



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

1 Apr 08 - 31 
Dec 08

1 Apr 09 - 31 
Dec 09

D
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
ve
l

Target 
2009/10

20
06
/0
7 
 

20
07
/0
8

20
08
/0
9

Comments Indicator Description
Indicator 
Reference

Current Historic

Satisfaction of business with local authority regulation services NI 182 46.46% 73.55% ���� 50% NA NA 44.22%
Licensing questionnaires are not included in this quarter 
and will be shown in the next quarter.

Residual household waste per household (kg) NI 191 435.84 423.09 ���� 575kg NA NA 566.74
There continues to be a reduction in the amount of 
residual waste collected.

Improved street and environmental cleanliness - fly-posting NI 195(d) 0.17% 0.00% ���� 0% NA NA 0.22%
No fly-posting was found in the survey in the second block 
of surveying for the year.

Improved street and environmental cleanliness – fly tipping     
(Level 1 - Good, Level 4 - Poor)

NI 196 2 1 ���� 2 NA NA 2

So far the number of enforcement actions compared with 
numbers of fly-tips has improved since last year, and we 
have achieved the highest performance level possible for 
the third quarter.

The number of working days/shifts lost to the local authority 
due to sickness absence per FTE staff member

BV 012 7.48 6.71 ���� 8.00 10.62 8.53 9.60 Increase in sickness absence since previous quarter. 

Number of households living in temporary accommodation NI 156 10 4 ���� 15 NA NA 10
2 households in TA are council tenants and placed into TA 
at request from Police whilst ongoing investigations are 
completed.

Number of households who considered themselves as 
homeless, who approached the local authority's housing advice 
service, and for whom housing advice casework intervention 
resolved their situation, per 1,000 population.

BV 213 5.52 6.80 ���� 6.50 2.89 4.24 7.62

Due to the economic climate we have seen an increase in 
homelessness approaches in Redditch but officers are 
managing to prevent homelessness rather than accepting 
a homelessness duty. We have seen an improvement in 
respect of this indicator due to adopting leaner working 
practices, getting involved in cases earlier, increasing the 
use of mediation and home visits and making better use 
of Private Rented Housing stock. 

Percentage of urgent repairs completed within Government 
time limits (Categories A, B and C)

HIP 001 82.05% 93.77% ���� 85% 77% 78.20% 83.72%

11% increase in number of priority B (within 24 hours) and 
C (within 5 days) jobs done and we achieved a higher % 
of jobs completed within target against the previous 
quarter.

Average time taken (days) to complete non-urgent responsive 
repairs (Categories D&E)

HIP 002 22.32 17.75 ���� 25 days 20 32 21.19
8.6 % decrease in number of these jobs completed but 3-
day improvement in completion time from previous 
quarter.

One Stop Shop: Customer satisfaction WMO 003 95.12% 95.29% ���� 96% 95.46% 95.05% 95.19%
 High satisifaction levels are being maintained but we are 
continuing to investigate ways in which to encourage more 
feedback from customers.

Enquiries dealt with at first point of contact WMO 004 92.06% 94.16% ���� 90% 84.57% 88.31% 92.86%
This reslolution figure is based on the enquiries which are 
logged on the CRM.

Number of e-enabled web payments WMO 010 6,758 10,954 ���� 11,942 NA 5,175 8,530
Indicator is as expected following last quarter. Information 
to be given to staff to ensure that electronic payment 
methods are promoted.

Housing, Leisure and Customer & IT Services Directorate

Corporate Performance Indicators showing an improvement
in performance when compared to the same period last year 3 Data correct as at 11.30am Tue 26 January 2010

P
age 23



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

1 Apr 08 - 31 
Dec 08

1 Apr 09 - 31 
Dec 09

D
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
ve
l

Target 
2009/10

20
06
/0
7 
 

20
07
/0
8

20
08
/0
9

Comments Indicator Description
Indicator 
Reference

Current Historic

Key to Symbols

Improving performance compared to same period last year ���� #

Worsening performance compared to same period last year ���� NA

No change in performance compared to same period last year �������� *

No data available for the period

Not applicable for this indicator/period

Data is provisional

Corporate Performance Indicators showing an improvement
in performance when compared to the same period last year 4 Data correct as at 11.30am Tue 26 January 2010

P
age 24



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

1 Apr 08 - 31 
Dec 08

1 Apr 09 - 31 
Dec 09

D
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
ve
l

Target 
2009/10

20
06
/0
7 
 

20
07
/0
8

20
08
/0
9

Deputy Chief Executive Directorate

The percentage of Council Tax collected by the Authority in the 
year

BV 009 86.61% 85.69% ���� 98.50% 96.67% 96.97% 97.10%

Collection rate remains below target, analysis of quarter 2 
outturn suggests this may be reflected nationally.  Revised 
recovery procedures have been adopted to ensure 
smoother progression of cases through recovery cycle 
however the effects of this will not be gained this year. 
Action is being taken on delinquent accounts that are not 
progressing through recovery stages.  (A recovery plan is 
in place for this indicator)

Housing Benefit (HB) overpayments written off during the 
period as a percentage of the total amount of HB overpayment 
debt outstanding at the start of the period, plus amount of HB 
overpayments identified during the period

BV 079b(iii) 0.88% 1.32% ���� TBC # 0.32% 0.32%
Write-off of overpaid benefit is still currently very low.  (A 
recovery plan is in place for this indicator)

Environment and Planning Directorate

Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting 

NI 192 31.26% 30.55% ���� 32% NA NA 31.43%

The level of waste recycled remains at a constant level for 
the 3rd quarter and we are expecting to see an increase in 
the 4th quarter as more materials are recycled from 
January 2010.  (A recovery plan is in place for this 
indicator)

Improved street and environmental cleanliness - levels of litter NI 195(a) 3.33% 3.67% ���� 6% NA NA 2.94%
This is a good score for the second of the 3 surveys this 
year, litter levels found to be very low.

Improved street and environmental cleanliness - levels of 
detritus

NI 195(b) 8.58% 18.75% ���� 10% NA NA 7.28%

Following training undertaken in 2009 on surveying 
methods, higher detritus levels (includes dust, mud, soil, 
grit, gravel, stones, rotted leaf and vegetable residues, 
fragments of twigs, glass, plastic and other finely divided 
materials and uncollected grass cuttings) have been 
reported due to the assessment and grading criteria that 
have to be used. This has identified a performance issue 
and an improvement plan has been developed with 
achievable timescales to target areas to improve sweeping 
and associated operations like weed spraying. (A 
recovery plan is in place for this indicator)

Improved street and environmental cleanliness - graffiti NI 195(c) 0.33% 1.58% ���� 1% NA NA 0.61%
Slightly higher levels than in previous surveys but still very 
low levels of graffiti found.  (A recovery plan is in place 
for this indicator)

The percentage of local authority employees from minority 
ethnic communities

BV 017(a) 2.79% 2.78% ����
Contextual 
Measure 
(3.43%)

3.49% 3.15% 2.80%
Increase in staff from ethnic minority communities since 
previous quarter.

Indicator Description
Indicator 
Reference

Current

Comments 

Historic

Corporate performance indicators showing a decline
in performance when compared to the same period last year 5 Data correct as at11.30am Tue 26 January 2010

P
age 25



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

1 Apr 08 - 31 
Dec 08

1 Apr 09 - 31 
Dec 09

D
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
ve
l

Target 
2009/10

20
06
/0
7 
 

20
07
/0
8

20
08
/0
9

Indicator Description
Indicator 
Reference

Current

Comments 

Historic

None

Key to Symbols

Improving performance compared to same period last year ���� #

Worsening performance compared to same period last year ���� NA

No change in performance compared to same period last year �������� *Data is provisional

Housing, Leisure and Customer & IT Services Directorate

No data available for the period

Not applicable for this indicator/period

Corporate performance indicators showing a decline
in performance when compared to the same period last year 6 Data correct as at11.30am Tue 26 January 2010

P
age 26



Corporate Performance Exception Report - Quarter 3, Period Ending December 2009

1 Apr 08 - 31 
Dec 08

1 Apr 09 - 31 
Dec 09

D
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
ve
l

Target 
2009/10

20
06
/0
7 
 

20
07
/0
8

20
08
/0
9

Deputy Chief Executive Directorate

The percentage of racial incidents that resulted in further action BV 175 100% 100% ��������
contextual 
measure

93.33% 100.00% 100.00%
A Hate Crime training package has been commissioned 
for delivery to members of the Joint Hate Incident 
Partnership in Qtr 4.

Environment and Planning Directorate

Has the local planning authority met the milestones which the 
current Local Development Scheme sets out?

BV 200(b) YES YES ��������

Meet 
milestones 
set out in 
LDS

YES YES YES LDS updated Sept 09.

Percentage of conservation areas in the local authority area 
with an up-to-date character appraisal

BV 219(b) 100% 100% ��������

Maintain up 
to date 
character 
appraisal

100% 100% 100% Static.

Percentage of repair appointments made that were kept by 
RBC

HH 018 100.00% 100.00% �������� 99% 98.00% 99.00% 100.00%
We endeavour to keep all of the appointments we make 
with customers and service will only fail due to unforeseen 
circumstances eg high levels of sick absence.

Key to Symbols

Improving performance compared to same period last year ���� #

Worsening performance compared to same period last year ���� NA

No change in performance compared to same period last year �������� *Data is provisional

Indicator Description
Indicator 
Reference

Current

Housing, Leisure and Customer & IT Services Directorate

Comments 

No data available for the period

Not applicable for this indicator/period

Historic

Corporate Performance Indicators showing no change
in performance when compared to the same period last year 7 Data correct as at 11.30am Tue 26 January 2010

P
age 27



Page 28



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Direct Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QUARTERLYBUDGETMONITORINGAPRILDECEMBERQU
ARTERReport0.doc/19.02.10sc 

 

QUARTERLY BUDGET MONITORING: APRIL - DECEMBER QUARTER 
 
(Report of the Head of Resources) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

The report provides the Executive Committee with an overview of 
the budget, including the achievement of approved savings as at the 
end of the second quarter 2009/10. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked RESOLVE that 

 
 subject to any comments the report be noted. 

 
3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Sustainability Implications 

 
Financial 
 

3.1 The financial implications are detailed in the report.  The report 
highlights areas of financial performance which are out of line with 
the approved budget.  Budgets will continue to be monitored during 
the year and reported to this Committee. 

 
Legal 
 

3.2 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 every local 
authority has a duty to make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs. 

 
Policy 
 

3.3 There are no policy implications. 
 
Risk 
 

3.4 Without adequate budget monitoring procedures, the Council will not 
achieve its objectives.  The Council needs to monitor its financial 
performance in order that corrective action may be taken to minimise 
risks to the organisation. 

 
3.5 There is also a risk that the Council will overspend its budget if 

action is not taken to monitor the delivery of planned savings during 
the year. 

Agenda Item 6Page 29



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QUARTERLYBUDGETMONITORINGAPRILDECEMBERQU
ARTERReport0.doc/19.02.10sc 

 
 Sustainability / Environmental  
 
3.6 There are no sustainability/environmental/climate change 

implications. 
 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 The Council set its base budget for 2009/10 on the 23rd February 
2009.  Subsequent to this Council, on the 6th April 2009, approved 
budget savings of £870.1k for 2009/10 to enable the authority to set 
a balanced budget and to fund a range of bids previously approved 
on the 9th March 2009.  The details of the approved savings are 
included at Appendix 1.  In addition to the approved savings for 
2009/10 there is a sum of £200k built into the base budget for 
vacancy/outturn savings. 

 
4.2 A number of the savings approved required an adjustment to the 

original budget because they reflect savings such as reductions in 
vacant posts.  The value of this type of saving totals £381.4k for 
which the base budget has been adjusted.  However, there are a 
range of savings totalling £488.7k which require action by officers to 
deliver the savings.  The purpose of this report is advise on the 
achievement of these savings and provide an outturn forecast for 
2009/10.  

 
4.3 Revised Budget 2009/10 
  

 £’000 
2009/10 Approved base budget 13,179.5 
add capital charges 1,357.8 
 14,537.3 
Approved bids 541.1 
 15,078.4 
Less approved savings 870.1 
 14,208.3 

 
5. Key Issues 
 
 Outturn forecast 
 
5.1 Appendices 2 and 3 detail the projected outturn variances as at the 

end of the second quarter.  The budget for 2009/10 includes £350k 
(£200k built into the base plus £125k addition approved 9th April 
plus £25k support service savings) for vacancy/outturn savings.  The 

Page 30



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QUARTERLYBUDGETMONITORINGAPRILDECEMBERQU
ARTERReport0.doc/19.02.10sc 

projected savings detailed at appendices 2 and 3 contribute towards 
the £350k. 

 
5.2 The savings detailed within Appendices 2 and 3 may fluctuate during 

the year particularly where they relate to vacant posts.  Any 
movement on these savings will be reflected in future monitoring 
reports. 

 
5.3 The projected variances at the end of the third quarter are savings of 

£841,027. 
 

Monitoring of approved savings (General Fund) 
 
5.4 Appendix 4 details the savings achieved at the end of the third 

quarter against the target of £488.7k plus the £200k already built into 
the base budget for outturn savings. 

 
5.5 At the end of December savings of £816.2 had been identified 

against the target of £688.7k.  This would indicate that the Council is 
on target to deliver the approved savings although the figure for 
vacancy/outturn savings may fluctuate during the last quarter of the 
year.  The figure of £816.2 includes savings of £321.6k in respect of 
the 2009/10 pay award and the re-tendering of some of the Council's 
energy supplies which have been taken into account in the Medium 
Term Financial Plan. 

 
5.6 Any shortfall in savings at the end of the year will need to be met 

from revenue balances.  General Fund balances as at the 1st April 
2009 stood at £2.131million of which £255k has been allocated for 
reinvestment in services. 

 
6. Other Implications 
 
 Asset Management - None identified. 

 
Community Safety - None identified. 
 
Health - None identified. 
 
Human Resources - None identified. 
 
Social Exclusion - None identified. 
 
Environment /  - None identified. 
Sustainability 
 

 

Page 31



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QUARTERLYBUDGETMONITORINGAPRILDECEMBERQU
ARTERReport0.doc/19.02.10sc 

7. Lessons Learnt 
 
7.1 None. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 Budget monitoring report. 

 
8.2 Council minutes – 23 February, 9 March and 6 April 
 
9. Consultation 

 
This report has been prepared in consultation with relevant Borough 
Council Officers. 
 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Teresa Kristunas (Head of Resources), 
who can be contacted on extension 3295 (e-
mail:teresa.kristunas@redditchbc.gov.uk ) for more information. 
 

11. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1  - Budget savings approved 6th April 2009. 

Appendix 2  – Quarterly Monitoring Directorate Summary April –
December 2009. 

Appendix 3  - Explanations for projected variances. 

Appendix 4  - Budget Savings - position as at end of third quarter 
2009/10 

 
 
 
 

Page 32



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 
 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberAppendix10.doc/
19.02.10sc. 

Budget Savings approved 6th April 2009 
  

2009/10 
Description £'000 
    

Budget adjusted to reflect saving/additional income -  

Planning  53.2 

Corporate Training 50.0 

Building Control 20.7 

Head of Asset 25.0 

Switchboard 3.0 

In-curtiladge parking 10.0 

Arrow Valley Countryside Centre 24.0 

Pay Award 60.0 

Property Services 10.3 

Licensing Officer 13.3 

Cllrs Personal Budgets 16.5 

INCOME   

Forge Mill 10.0 

Private Sector Lifeline to breakeven 28.4 

Car parking (Town Hall/Trafford Park) 12.0 

Dial- a- Ride 10.0 

Arrow Valley Countryside Centre 10.0 

Subject to ongoing monitoring -  

Pitcheroak Golf Course 42.7 

Shared Services 40.0 

Vacancy Management 125.0 

REDI 60.0 

Printing 52.0 

Procurement 70.0 

Committee Services  14.0 

Benefits Subsidy 40.0 

Community Meeting Rooms 45.0 

Support Service Costs 25.0 

  
    

Total savings/additional income 870.1 

Page 33



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 
 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberAppendix10.doc/
19.02.10sc. 

 

Page 34



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 Q
u
ar
te
rl
y 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 D
ir
ec
to
ra
te
 S
u
m
m
ar
y 
A
p
ri
l –

 D
ec
em

b
er
 2
00
9 

 D
ir
ec
to
ra
te
 

B
u
d
g
et
 

P
ro
fi
le
d
 Y
T
D
 

B
u
d
g
et
 

Y
T
D
 A
ct
u
al
s 

C
o
m
m
it
m
en

ts
 

A
ct
u
al
 +
 

C
o
m
m
it
m
en

ts
 

V
ar
ia
n
ce

 t
o
 

d
at
e 

P
ro
je
ct
ed

  
O
u
tt
u
rn
 

P
ro
je
ct
ed

 
V
ar
ia
n
ce
 

C
hi
ef
 

E
xe
cu
tiv
e 

3,
94
0,
05
2 

3,
50
2,
76
0.
19
 

1,
89
1,
96
4.
60
 

99
1,
82
0 

2,
88
3,
78
4.
60
 

(6
18
,9
75
.5
9)
 

3,
50
2,
96
2 

(4
37
,0
90
) 

E
nv
iro
nm
en
t 

&
 P
la
nn
in
g 

5,
83
3,
40
0 

4,
53
3,
15
5.
00
 

4,
56
3,
94
8.
33
 

39
,7
80
 

4,
60
3,
72
8.
33
 

70
,5
73
.3
3 

5,
88
6,
01
0 

52
,6
10
 

H
ou
si
ng
 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

72
6,
34
0 

83
2,
11
5.
79
 

52
8,
97
0.
02
 

40
,0
00
 

56
8,
97
0.
02
 

(2
63
,1
45
.7
7)
 

63
9,
84
0 

(8
6,
50
0)
 

Le
is
ur
e 

C
us
to
m
er
 &
 

B
us
in
es
s 

S
up
po
rt
 

3,
24
5,
90
0 

2,
55
0,
06
2.
52
 

2,
34
1,
18
7.
35
 

97
,7
50
 

2,
43
8,
93
7.
35
 

(1
11
,1
25
.1
7)
 

3,
29
9,
82
0 

53
,9
20
 

C
or
po
ra
te
 

46
2,
55
8 

0.
00
 

0.
00
 

0.
00
 

0.
00
 

0.
00
 

18
4,
29
1 

(2
78
,2
67
) 

 
T
o
ta
l:
  

 
14
,2
08
,2
50
 

 
11
,4
18
,0
93
.5
0 

 
9,
32

6,
07

0.
30

 
 

1,
16

9,
35

0 
 

10
,4
95
,4
20
.3
0 

 
(9
22
,6
73
.2
0)
 

 
13
,5
12
,9
23
. 

 
(6
95
,3
27
)    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
H
ou
si
ng
 

R
ev
en
ue
 

A
cc
ou
nt
 

80
,5
50
 

(1
1,
55
3,
24
0)
 

(1
2,
29
8,
55
4.
96
) 

0.
00
 

(1
2,
29
8,
55
4.
96
) 

(7
45
,3
14
.9
6)
 

0.
00
 

0.
00
 

H
R
A
 R
ep
ai
rs
 

0.
00
 

0.
00
 

(1
2,
29
8,
55
4.
96
) 

0.
00
 

(1
2,
29
8,
55
4.
96
) 

(7
45
,3
14
.9
6)
 

(1
45
,7
00
) 

(1
45
,7
00
) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
T
o
ta
l:
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(8
41
,0
27
) 

    

Page 35



Page 36



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc 

Budget Monitoring Apr – Dec 2009 
Explanations for projected outturn variances 
 
Acting Deputy Chief Executives Directorate 
 
Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0014 Directorate 
Support 

(12,000) Salary Savings 

 
Head of Financial Revenue and Benefits Services 

 
Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0103 Financial 
Services 

(45,910) Salary savings. 

0107 Local 
Taxation 

(30,000) Salary savings 

 Benefits (116,930) Additional Admin Subsidy 
 
 Head of Legal, Democratic & Property Services 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0431 Investment 
Properties 

(75,000) Budget assumed leaseholder would 
give notice in March. Notice not 
received. 

0432 Business 
Centres 

73,300 Increase in the number of vacant 
units 

0435 Community 
Related 
Asset 
Property 

(52,000) Savings on empty property rates of 
£27k, also £13k received for 
dilapidations and £11k received for a 
letting at Matchborough (delay in 
billing). 

0472 Pay and 
Display Car 
Parks 

6,000 The scheme has been delayed  

0110 Members & 
Committee 
Services 

(10,000) Overview and Scrutiny budget no 
longer required 

0623 Civic Suite 3,000 Reduction in number of bookings of 
weddings and Christmas parties 
(19% loss of income) 

0101 Legal 
Services 

6,350 Legal fees from external solicitors not 
budgeted for. 

Page 37



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc 

 
0626 Register of 

Electors 
11,340 The overspend relates to the 

purchase of a new computer system, 
the cost of the new system was more 
expensive than originally budgeted 
for. 

0111 Electoral 
Services 

1,800 As above 

0196 Crossgate 
Deport 

6,000 Additional Security costs following 
several break ins. 

 
 

Page 38



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc 

 
 Head of Strategy & Partnership 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 
 

0102 Corporate 
Strategy 

(16,000) Staff Vacancies during the year 

0706 Concessionary 
Travel 

(174,040) Legal fees not expected to be 
incurred and reduction in claims 
from operators. 

0135 Housing Policy (13,000) Salary Savings 
 

Total Acting 
Deputy CEO 

(437,090)  

 
 

Page 39



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc 

 
Environment & Planning Directorate 
 
 Head of Environment 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0704 Allotments 9,040 
 
 

Income forecast to be below 
estimate. 

 
 Head of Human Resource & Communications 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0137 Payroll 30,300 Additional staff required to cover 
sickness. 

0141 Human 
Resources 

(19,200) Maternity leave 

0611 Job 
Evaluation 

16,000 Additional consultancy costs 

 
 Head of Operations 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0437 Market 9,480 Reduction in income 
 

Page 40



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc 

 
 Head of Planning & Building Control 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0142 Planning 
Services 

(48,010) Salary savings. 

0751 Planning 
Applications 

50,000 Reduction in income 

0760 Building 
Control 

5,000 Reduction in income 

 
Total Environment 

& Planning 
52,610  

 
 

Page 41



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc 

 
Housing, Leisure and Customer Services Directorate 
 
 Head of Asset & Maintenance 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0189 Housing 
capital 

(13,000) Salary savings (HRA) 

0703 Care & 
Repair 

(10,000) Increase in income 

 
 Head of Housing & Community Services 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0483 Lifeline (3,000) Contract re-negotiated 
0499 CCTV 

Operating 
Costs 

(10,000) Contract re-negotiated 

0490 Community 
Warden 
Service 
Support 

(30,000) Salary savings (HRA). 

0187 Housing 
Tenancy 

(33,000) Salary savings (HRA) 

0185 Data Base & 
Housing 
Performance 

(9,500) Salary savings (HRA) 

0191 Income & 
Recovery 

22,000 Increased use of debt collection 
agency. 

 

Page 42



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc/19
.02.10sc. 

 
 Head of Leisure & Arts 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0001 Abbey 
Stadium 

6,200 Reduction in income due to the 
closure of the sports hall for 3 weeks 

0005 Hewell Road 
Pool 

20,940 Closure for toilet refurbishment and 
essential maintenance work 
Economic climate resulting in an 
inability to achieve additional income  

0007 Redi Card 12,000 Reduction in income due to a 
decrease in the number of 
customers at leisure sites. 

0021 Arrow Vale 
Sports 
Centre 

26,690 Cancellation of cheerleading and 
gymnastics classes/cancellation of 
block bookings due to fee 
increase/closure of ATP pitch due to 
inclement weather 

0025 Kingsley 
Sports 
Centre 

16,590 Reduction in adult fitness classes 
and swimming lesson enrolments. 
Economic climate resulting in an 
inability to achieve additional income 
 

0010 Stitch 
Meadow 

5,000 Summer events programme, low 
attendance due weather. 

0060 Forge Mill 22,500 Summer events programme, low 
attendance due weather. 

 
  

Page 43



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc/19
.02.10sc. 

 
Head of Customer Services 
 

 Switchboard (9,000) Contract savings 
 One Stop 

Shop 
(47,000) Salary savings 

 
Total Housing Leisure 
& Customer Services 

(32,580)  

 
 
 Housing Revenue Account 
 

0901 Insurance (70,000) Savings from tendering exercise 
0554 Cyclical/Prog 

Public 
Buildings 

35,000 Increased testing requirements for 
fire alarm systems (HRA) 

 Pay award (84,000) Pay award settled at 1% 
 Energy (26,700) Savings from tendering exercise 

 
Total Housing Revenue 
Account 

(145,700)  

 
 
Corporate Costs 
  

Cost 
Centre 

Description Variance 
£ 

Explanation 

0901 Insurance (10,000) Reduction in insurance  
0382 Planning 

Delivery Grant 
(120,000) Additional grant received 

0392 LAGBI Grant (23,347) Additional grant received 
 Energy (67,600) Savings from tendering exercise 
 Pay award (200,280) Pay award settled at 1% (254,000) 

/ cost of job evaluation 53,720 
 Superannuation 

costs 
85,000 Historical costs for previous 

employees 
 Shared 

Services 
35,000 RBC cost of Serco Business Case 

 Restructure of 
Management 
Team 

22,960 Pay in Lieu of notice costs for 
2009/10 

 
Total Corporate Costs (278,267)  

 
  

Page 44



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgetMonitoringAprilSeptemberQuarterAppendix30.doc/19
.02.10sc. 

Summary -  
 

Total variances £ 
General Fund 599,827 
Housing Revenue 
Account 

241,200 

Total 841,027 
 

 
 
 

Page 45



Page 46



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

Appendix 4 
 

 

10th march 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\5\AI00003566\QuarterleyBudgtMonitoringAprilSeptemberAppendix40.doc/19.02.10/s
c. 

 

Position as at end of third Quarter (including estimate for 4th Quarter) 
    

 Target 
Estimated 
Outturn  

 2009/10 2009/10 Comments  

 £'000 £’000 
 
 

 
Pitcheroak Golf 
Course 

 
 

42.7 36.4 Unlikely to achieve by £6,300 due to weather. 
 
Shared Services 40.0  

Dependant upon progress with planned 
projects 

 
Vacancy 
Management/Outturn 
savings* 325.0 599.8 Monitoring in place 
 
REDI 60.0 50.0 Expected to achieve £50,000 
 
Printing 52.0    Unlikely to be achieved.   
 
Procurement 70.0 70.0 Achieved 
 
Committee Services  14.0   Not likely to be achieved.   
 
Benefits Subsidy 40.0  40.0 On target to be achieved 
 
Community Meeting 
Rooms 20.0  20.0 On target to be achieved 
 
Support Service 
Costs 25.0   Added to vacancy savings 
    
*including £200k 
already built into base 
budget    
    
Total 688.7 816.2  

 
 
 

Page 47



Page 48



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Specific Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\5\AI00003535\FINALQUARTERLYMONITORINGOFFORMALCOMPLAINT
SCOMPLIMENTSReport0.doc/25.10.10sc./amended28.01.10jw 

 

QUARTERLY MONITORING OF FORMAL COMPLAINTS & COMPLIMENTS 
QUARTER 3, OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2009 
 
(Report of the Head of Community Services /Head of Customer & IT  
Services) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

This report provides a view on aspects of the Council’s Formal 
Complaints Procedure.  It shows the numbers of complaints at each 
Stage, whether they were responded to on target and what has 
been learnt/service improvements that have been made. 
 
The report also shows the compliments recorded during the same 
period and details the Ombudsman Enquiry response times and 
outcomes. 
 
This report provides Members with an opportunity to review the 
Council’s performance for quarter 3 of the 2009/10 financial year 
and to comment upon it. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that 

 
the update on complaints and compliments for the period 
October 2009 – December 2009 be noted and commented upon. 
 

3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  
Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 Poor performance may have an impact on the financial position of 
the authority. 
 
Legal 
 

3.2 No particular legal issues arising from this report – any legal issues 
arising from complaints or compliments are dealt with on a case by 
case basis. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 49



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\5\AI00003535\FINALQUARTERLYMONITORINGOFFORMALCOMPLAINT
SCOMPLIMENTSReport0.doc/25.10.10sc./amended28.01.10jw 

Policy 
 

3.3 No particular issues arising from this report – any policy issues 
arising from complaints or compliments are dealt with on a case by 
case basis. 
 
Risk 
 

3.4 Without analysing the Council’s complaints or compliments the 
Council cannot identify whether there are any patterns to 
complaints/compliments which need to be addressed and any 
lessons learnt in order to improve the Council performance and 
service to the Customer. 
 
Climate Change / Carbon Management  
 

3.5 No particular issues arising from this report – any issues arising from 
complaints or compliments are dealt with on a case by case basis. 
 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 The Council's Formal Complaints Procedure has the following 
stages: 

 
Stage 1  
Formal Complaint 

Relevant Director for that service 
areas responds.  Target for 
response 10 working days.  

Stage 2 
Complaint Appeal 

Chief Executive investigates and 
responds.  Target for response 10 
working days. 

Stage 3 
Member Complaint 
Appeal 

Panel of Members consider 
complaint.   Committee Services 
respond on Panel's behalf.  No 
target set for response time. 

Ombudsman Chief Executive investigates and 
responds.   Target of 28 working 
days (set by Ombudsman) 

 
4.2 Quarterly reporting is intended to drive improvement based on 

organisational need and local priorities. 
 

Page 50



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\5\AI00003535\FINALQUARTERLYMONITORINGOFFORMALCOMPLAINT
SCOMPLIMENTSReport0.doc/25.10.10sc./amended28.01.10jw 

5. Key Issues 
 

5.1 The report sets out the statistical details of Formal Complaints, 
Complaint Appeals, Member Complaint Appeals and Ombudsman 
Enquiries. 

 
5.2 This will enable a baseline to be set for further reporting and 

monitoring. Member involvement in monitoring performance for the 
remainder of the 2009/10 reporting year will involve: 

 
Quarter Period Member Group Purpose of 

reporting 
4 Jan – 

Mar  
May Executive Committee 
/ Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Receive annual 
outturn statistics 
and to recommend 
any improvements 
to services 
 

 
5.3 It was reported in the 1st quarter monitoring that only 50% of Formal 

Complaints (Stage 1) and Complaint Appeals (Stage 2) were 
responded to on time.  The response time target is 10 working days.  
Officers have pursued an improvement in this area and actions have 
been successful.  Response times for the 2nd quarter increased to 
74% on target for Stage 1 and 80% for Stage 2 complaints.  For the 
3rd quarter response times have increased again, to 92% on target 
for Stage 1 and 86% for Stage 2 complaints. 

 
5.4 The Audit Commission monitors the Ombudsman Response times 

and these are used in Audit Commission reports/reviews including 
Direction of Travel and Service Reviews. 

 
5.5 The Ombudsman Response times had improved from 28 days at the 

end of the 1st Quarter to 25 days at the end of the 2nd Quarter.  
They remain at 25 days during the 3rd Quarter. 

 
5.6 The Ombudsman Response times have improved greatly over the 

past two years, following efforts by officers.   
 

Year Number of Enquiries RBC average days 
06/07 8 39.6 days 
07/08 6 26.7 days 
08/09 5 14.6 days 

 

Page 51



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\5\AI00003535\FINALQUARTERLYMONITORINGOFFORMALCOMPLAINT
SCOMPLIMENTSReport0.doc/25.10.10sc./amended28.01.10jw 

6. Other Implications 
 

 Asset Management - None specific. 
 
Community Safety - None specific. 
 
Health - None specific. 
 
Human Resources - None specific. 
 
Social Exclusion - None specific. 
 
Environment /  - None specific. 
Sustainability 

 
7. Lessons Learnt 

 
 Appendix 1 and 4 shows the lessons learnt and service 

improvement. 
 
8. Background Papers 

 
The details to support the information provided within this report are 
held by Chief Executive/Directors/Personal Assistants. 
 

9. Consultation 
 
There has been no consultation other than with relevant Borough 
Council Officers. 
 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Susan Tasker (Senior Personal 
Assistant), who can be contacted on ext. 3299 (e-mail: susan.tasker 
@redditchbc.gov.uk) for more information. 
 

11. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Monitoring data 3rd Quarter (October-December) 
Appendix 2 - Quarterly Complaints Statistics 
Appendix 3 - Quarterly Compliments Statistics 
Appendix 3- What has been learnt and Service 

Improvements 
 
 

Page 52



COMPLAINTS MONITORING  Appendix 1 
October – December 2009-10 (3rd Quarter)  
 
Formal Complaints (Stage 1) 
 
 Number of 

complaints 
Target met 
(response 
within 10 
working 
days) 

Complaint 
Justified 

Complaint 
Partly 
Justified 

Complaint 
Not 
Justified 

Still 
awaiting 
response 
from 
officers 
(whether 
justified or 
not) 

1st Quarter 18 9 (50%) 3 5 10 - 
2nd Quarter 23 17 (74%) 2 7 10 4 
3rd Quarter 25 23 (92%) 14 7 4 - 
 
 
Details of those Justified or Partly Justified: 
 
Service Nature of 

Complaint 
Justified/ 
Partly 
Justified 

Action Taken or 
explanation 

Service Improvement 

Benefits Problems with 
Benefit/Investig
ation for benefit 
fraud.  
(Some 
confusion over 
response to 
original enquiry 
and notional 
earnings 
decision was 
not supported 
by evidence.) 

Partly  
 

Discussion with 
decision makers 
about notional 
earnings - difference 
of opinion regarding 
rules - this can 
happen and the 
appeal process can 
be used to challenge 
the decision as in this 
case 
 

Formal complaints coming 
in via web seem to bypass 
usual processes with the 
risk that they are missed 
or not monitored. 
 

Benefits Rude/unhelpful 
benefits staff 
since moving 
out of area.  
Threat of court 
action received 
for Council Tax 

Partly Remind staff of 
requirement to give 
name. Look at 
identifying priority 
documents and 
respond within 14 
days. 

Review priorities attached 
to document management 
system. Reminder to staff 
about identifying priority 
items. By end of 
December 2009. 
 

Page 53



 
Benefits Not getting the 

full sum 
complainant 
expected, 
which he 
alleged he had 
been told he 
would get. 

Partly Complainant was 
given inaccurate info 
regarding amount of 
HB he would receive 
due to early creation 
of a 2nd payment not 
due until 4 Jan 10 
showing on payment 
screens - claim was 
calculated correctly.  
However the claim 
was actioned as 
soon as the info was 
received and an 
additional payment 
run was made to 
ensure he would get 
paid. 

Next time we raise a 
payment file early - remind 
staff that when checking 
payments screen to be 
aware of future payments 
which will look like they 
are due immediately. 
 

Repairs & 
Maintenance 

State of 
property when 
the tenancy 
was taken on. 

Partly Remedial works 
carried out when new 
tenant moved in and, 
during decoration, 
uncovered a false 
wall and exposed 
electric cables.  It 
means tenants had 
to move out.  The 
Voids Team were not 
physically able to see 
this problem prior to 
the tenant stripping 
the walls, but agree 
tenant should then 
not live in property 
until work done.  It 
was agreed to 
reimburse the 
tenants' rent for this 
period. 
 

No service improvement 
identified. 

Property 
Services  

FOI Request 
made on 22 
September. 
Should have 
been 
responded to 
by 20 October.  
Delay in 
information 
being provided 
by Property 
Services. 
 

Justified Manager responded 
to FoI request on 
29th Oct.  Formal 
complaint response 
confirms this. 
 

No service improvement 
identified. 

Page 54



Property 
Services 

Delays in 
transfer of land 
from 
Shafestbury to 
Sanctuary 
Housing 
 

Justified Manager spoke to 
complainant and 
Legal to be passed 
instructions. 
 

No service improvement 
identified. 

Tenancy Rubbish left 
outside address 

Justified The Tenancy Officer 
had already 
contacted the tenant 
about this and was 
dealing with the 
situation.  The 
complainant was 
notified that it was 
the tenant’s 
responsibility to 
move the rubbish 
and would be 
monitored. 
 

No service improvement 
identified. 

Waste 
Collection 

Problems with 
waste not being 
collected 

Partly Monitoring of this 
address with 
reference to missed 
sacks.  Although 
explanation has been 
given to how many 
sacks will be 
collected as per 
service standard. 
 

M3 computer system to be 
checked to make sure 
actions are given to 
correct Officer.  Timescale 
- immediately. 
 

Planning – 
Enforcement 

Problems 
regarding 
storage of 
container next 
door 

Partly Enforcement Notice 
drafted and issued. 

Already changed internal 
process and more liaison 
between staff and 
manager over priorities 
and caseload. 
 

Tenancy Parking outside 
complainant’s 
garage 

Partly Tenancy Officer 
should have made 
direct contact with 
the complainant.  
Due to not having 
complainant's details, 
she has been asked 
to telephone Estate 
Tenancy Officer, and 
arrange a meeting 
time convenient to 
both parties at a time 
when parking issues 
are likely to be 
occurring. 

Reiterate to Officers to 
keep tenants informed of 
action being taken. 

Page 55



 
Capital Central Heating Justified All the work to 

maintain the central 
heating has been 
completed and the 
electric sockets have 
all been checked and 
refixed where 
required. 
 

The contractor's engineers 
to explain more clearly to 
the tenant the full 
workings of the system 
where temporary or 
permanent.  All plumbing 
works must be checked for 
leaks before the engineer 
leaves the property.  
These have both been 
relayed back to the 
contractor and have been 
implemented. 

 
 
Complaints Appeals (Stage 2) 
 
 Number Target Met 

(response within 10 
working days) 

Complaints Upheld 

1st Quarter 4 2 (50%) 0 
2nd Quarter 10 8 (80%) 0 
3rd Quarter 7 6 (86%) 0 
 
Member Complaint Appeals (Stage 3) 
 
 Number 
1st Quarter 1 
2nd Quarter 3 
3rd Quarter 1 
 
 

Page 56



COMPLAINTS MONITORING 
October - December 2009-10 (3rd  Quarter) 
 
OMBUDSMAN MONITORING - 2009/10 Response times & 
Outcomes 
 

C
o
m

p
la

in
t 

(s
er

vi
ce

) 

Q
u
ar

te
r 

re
ce

iv
ed

 

In
fo

 r
eq

u
es

te
d
 

o
n
 

T
ar

g
et

 f
o
r 

re
sp

o
n
se

 

L
et

te
r 

se
n
t 
o
n
 

(b
y 

e-
m

ai
l)
 

R
es

p
o
n
se

 t
im

e 
 A

ve
ra

g
e 

R
es

p
o
n
se

 t
im

e 
(c

u
m

u
la

ti
ve

) 

O
u
tc

o
m

e 

Property 
Services 

1st  

22
 0
4 
09
 

16
 0

5 
09

 

09
 0

6 
09

 

48
 d

ay
s 

 

48
 d
ay
s 

Local Settlement - £500 
compensation & waiver of £121 
legal costs 

Housing 
recharges 

1st 

24
 0
4 
09
 

18
 0

5 
09

 

08
 0

5 
09

 

14
 d

ay
s 

31
 d
ay
s 

No maladministration 

Housing 
Options 

1st 

02
 0
6 
09
 

26
 0

6 
09

 

23
 0

6 
09

 

21
 d
ay
s 

28
 d
ay
s 

Ombudsman’s Discretion 
– No Maladministration.  
Asked Council to consider : 
Consideration of a) whether someone 
fleeing violence should pay rent on two 
properties and b) need to discuss with 
households entering temporary 
accommodation whether there are any 
particular difficulties in storing 
belongings. 

Housing 
Repairs 

2nd 

01
 0
7 
09
 

24
 0

7 
09

 

21
 0

7 
09

 

21
 d
ay
s 

26
 d
ay
s 

No maladministration 

Homelessness 2nd 

08
 0
7 
09
 

01
 0

8 
09

 

27
 0

7 
09

 

20
 d
ay
s 

25
 d
ay
s 

No maladministration 

Leisure/Sundry 
Debts 

3rd  

26
 1
0 
09
 

19
 1

1 
09

 

20
 1

1 
09

 

26
 d
ay
s 

25
 d
ay
s 

No maladministration 

 
Year Number of Enquiries RBC average days 
03/04 - 66.7 days 
04/05 - 36.4 days 
05/06 - 22.5 days 
06/07 8 39.6 days 
07/08 6 26.7 days 
08/09 5 14.6 days 

Page 57



 
 

Page 58



Appendix 2 
 

Redditch Borough Council 
Quarterly Complaints Statistics 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORATE 

ENVIRONMENT & PLANNING 
DIRECTORATE 

Benefits(4) Property(3)

Revenues(2) ASB(1)

Asset Maintenance(2)

 
Development Control(2) Waste(1) Landscape(4)

 

HOUSING, LEISURE & CUSTOMER  
SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

Capital(2) Housing Options (1)

Repairs (1) Tenancy(2)
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

October - December 2009 
There were a total of 25 complaints in the last quarter 

What did you complain about? 
The majority of complaints related to Benefits and Landscape issues. 
What did we do about this? 
We addressed each case individually, and tightened up our procedures.  We have 
reviewed/improved services where possible 

Page 59



Page 60



Appendix 3 
 

Redditch Borough Council 
Quarterly Compliment Statistics 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORATE 

ENVIRONMENT & PLANNING 
DIRECTORATE 

Financial Svs (1) Policy (1) Legal (1)

 

Building Control (4) Development Control (1)

Landscape & Countryside/Cleansing (19) Dial A Ride (1)

 
HOUSING, LEISURE & CUSTOMER  

SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

Aids & Adaptions (2) Capital (4) Care&Repair (1)

Housing Options (1) Income (1) IT (1)

OSS (1) Leisure (1) Performance (1)

Wardens (6) Repairs (7) Sure Start (9)

Tenancy (3)

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

October - December 2009 
There were a total of 66 compliments in the last quarter 

What did you compliment? 
The majority of compliments related to Landscape & Countryside/Cleansing, Wardens, 
Surestart and Repairs 

Page 61



Page 62



Appendix 4 
 

Redditch Borough Council 
Quarterly Complaints Statistics 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issue Action Taken/Improvement 
Maintenance – cleaning 
charges in flats.  Rubbish 
left on landing for five 
weeks. 

Tenancy Officer inspecting communal 
area to ensure no items left on landing.  
Monthly inspections to be undertaken. 

Benefits and Council Tax – 
resident moving outside of 
Redditch 

Staff reminded to give their name to 
customers. 
Look to identifying priority documents and 
respond within 14 days 
Review priorities attached to document 
management system. 
Reminder to staff about priority items. 

Housing Options – concern 
about housing application 
and bidding for properties 

Additional training to be given to Housing 
Options Officers.   

Landscape – dangerous 
trees 

Trees inspected and deemed safe.   
Proposed work included in woodland 
management programme 

Planning Enforcement Enforcement Notice drafted. 
Internal processes changed to ensure 
more liaison over priorities and 
caseloads. 

 

October-December 2009 
 

What we Learnt and Service Improvement  
 

Page 63



 

Maintenance of trees and 
vegetation 

Officer inspected site and natural sprint 
accounted for excess water. 
Worcestershire CC have put a gulley in to 
deal with surface water. 
Seven Poplar trees on site will be 
reduced to ground level and then allowed 
to reshoot. 
Part of site to be strimmed/flailed to allow 
it to be mown within the existing grass 
cutting schedule. 

Central Heating The contractor’s engineers to explain 
more clearly to tenants the full workings 
of the system where temporary or 
permanent.   
All plumbing works must be checked for 
leaks before the engineer leaves the 
property. 

Benefits – payment dates Staff training given. 
 

Page 64



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Specific Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

 

BENEFITS IMPROVEMENT PLAN – QUARTERLY MONITORING 
OCTOBER – DECEMBER  2009 
 
 
(Report of the Head of Resources ) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

To advise members on the performance of the Benefits Service 
during the third quarter and to provide an update on progress 
against the Benefits Service Improvement Plan 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that 

 
subject to any comments, the report be noted, 
 

3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  
Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 There are no specific financial implications 
 
Legal 
 

3.2 There are no specific legal implications. 
 
Policy 
 

3.3 There are no specific policy implications 
 
Risk 
 

3.4 Without adequate performance monitoring arrangements there is a 
risk that the planned/required improvements in the Benefits Service 
will not be achieved. In addition without an effective recovery 
procedures for overallowed Housing Benefit the Council will forego 
the ability to pursue debt recovery procedures with a consequential 
loss of income to the Council. 
 

 Climate Change / Carbon Management  
 

Agenda Item 8Page 65



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

3.5 There are no specific sustainability / environmental / climate change 
implications. 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 The Benefits Service Improvement Plan was developed in response 
to the Audit Commission Inspection in February 2009. 

 
4.2. Work is progressing towards the aims of the improvement plan. The 

Performance Development Team (PDT) from the Department for 
Work and Pensions has been working with the Benefits Service to 
help implement the recommendations from the Audit Commission 
inspection. In particular they are looking at helping to improve 
overpayment recovery, devise a Take Up Strategy, improve access 
to the service and performance management. 
 

5. Key Issues 
 
Claims Performance 

 
5.1.   There are two national Indicators for the Benefits Service. 

 
NI 180 Right Benefit – this measures the number of change events 
identified and actioned – a target of identifying 550 changes each 
month has been set and the service remains on track to meet this 
target.  
 

NI 180 RIGHT BENEFIT

0
100

200
300
400
500

600
700
800

900
1000

No
ve
m
be
r

D
ec
em
be
r

Ja
nu
ar
y

Fe
br
ua
ry

M
ar
ch

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju

ly

Au
gu
st

Se
pt
em
be
r

O
ct
ob
er

No
ve
m
be
r

D
ec
em
be
r

Total C hange Events Target
 

 
 

5.2 NI 181 – this is a measure of the average number of days taken to       
process new claims and changes in circumstances. An average of 13 

Page 66



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

days was set as a target and the year to date figure is 13 days. The 
third quarter figure of 9 days was helped by two bulk up rates to the 
system – one for the Council Tenant rent deduction and one for 
changes to how Child Benefit and Capital for pensioners are treated. 

 

         

NI 181 Right Time Indicator

0

5

10

15

20

25

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju

ly

Au
gu
st

Se
pt
em
be
r

Oc
to
be
r

No
ve
m
be
r

De
ce
m
be
r

D
a
y
s Target

Actual

 
 

5.3 Case-load and Claims received 
The number of claims received remained steady through the quarter 
with 1017 new claim forms being received compared with 1093 in the 
previous quarter. The caseload has remained steady at around 7800. 
There has however been an increase in the number of change events 
dealt with. A total of 5913 change events were worked on in the 
quarter compared to 5081 in the same quarter last year. The 5913 
does not include the batch work mentioned previously – with these 
included the quarterly total would be 12236. 

 

         

New claims and change events actioned April  2008 to 
December 2009

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Ap
ril
Ma
y
Ju
ne Ju

ly

Au
gu
st

Se
pt
em
be
r

Oc
to
be
r

No
ve
m
be
r

De
ce
m
be
r

Ja
nu
ar
y

Fe
br
ua
ry

Ma
rc
h
Ap
ril
Ma
y
Ju
ne Ju

ly

Au
gu
st

Se
pt
em
be
r

Oc
to
be
r

No
ve
m
be
r

De
ce
m
be
r

D
a
y
s

New Claims Change  Events
 

Page 67



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

 
 

       
5.4. Local Indicators 

The Benefits Services also monitors a range of other performance 
data including the percentage of claims decided within 14 days. The 
current year target is to decide 85% of claims within 14 days. 
Between October and December 2009 89% of new claims and 
change events were dealt with within 14 days of being able to make 
a decision 
 

5.5 Overpayment  recovery 
Outstanding overpayments at the beginning of the quarter increased 
to £1,182,766 up from £1,166,218 at the beginning of the previous 
quarter and both the value of overpayments identified and the 
amount of overpayments recovered increased.  

 

         

OVERPAYMENTS IDENTIFIED AND RECOVERED

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

April -
Jun 2008

Jul -
Sept
2008

Oct -
Dec
2008

Jan -
March
2008

April -
Jun 2009

Jul -
Sept
2009

Oct -
Dec
2009

£

 LA OP Identified in period PT OP Identified in period

Total LA Recovered Total PT Recovered
 

 
 
5.6   Local Authority Error overpayments continued to remain below the 

financial threshold and remain on target to receive 100% subsidy 
again. Only £62,817 or 0.28% of qualifying expenditure has been 
treated as Local Authority error in the first three quarters of the year 
out of £23,562,378 expenditure. Local Authorities receive a grant to 
cover all overpayments attributed to Local Authority delay or error 
as long as the total does not exceed 0.48% of qualifying expenditure 
(qualifying expenditure in this case being expenditure which 
qualifies for 100% subsidy).                                                     

Page 68



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

Expenditure as at 31/12/2009

£9,407,711

£57,239

£6,921,266 £7,176,162

£0

£1,000,000

£2,000,000

£3,000,000

£4,000,000

£5,000,000

£6,000,000

£7,000,000

£8,000,000

£9,000,000

£10,000,000

Counc il Tenants Homeless Rent Allowance Counc il Tax
 

 
5.7. Counter Fraud work 

In the quarter 263 cases where fraud was suspected were referred to 
the Investigations team, and 18 Cautions and 2 Administration 
penalties were issued. 4 cases was successfully prosecuted and a 
further 5 cases were identified as being suitable for prosecution. 

 

                             

FRAUD INVESTIGATIONS OUTCOMES

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Apr-08 Jun-08 Oct-08 Jan-09 Apr-09 Jun-09 Oct-09

Jun-08 Sep-08 Dec-08 Mar-09 Jun-09 Sep-09 Dec-09

Cautions Admin penalties Prosecutions
 

 
5.8   Appeals 

A target of sending a written response to all appeal requests within 20 
working days has been set and currently 83% of appeals have had this 
target met. 

 
 

Page 69



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

6  Improvement plan  
 
6.1  Work is progressing towards the aims of the improvement plan. The 

Performance Development Team (PDT) from the Department of 
Work and Pensions has been working with the Benefits Service to 
help implement the recommendations from the Audit Commission 
inspection. In particular they have helped by looking at the 
overpayment recovery processes, assisted with the creation of a 
Take Up strategy, and worked with Officers to improve access to the 
service and performance management. 

 
6.2  The overpayment recovery process has been mapped and a new 

Overpayments Officer will shortly be appointed.   
 
6.3 A draft Take-Up strategy has been prepared to help local people 

maximise their income. Consultation is taking place with 
stakeholders such as the Job Centre Plus, Age Concern and 
Citizens Advice Bureau. Various activities and events are scheduled 
to promote take-up. 

 
6.4 Service users have been asked their views on aspects of service 

provision and the service is working closer with voluntary and 
community organisations. 

 
6.5    Service standards set, monitored and reported to customers –

available from web site and from Customer Service Centre. 
 

6.6     Detailed training plan developed to show objective of training and 
how effectiveness measured. 
 

6.7 The latest position regarding the Benefits Improvement Plan has 
been included at Appendix 1. 

 
7. Other Implications 

 
 Asset Management - None identified 
 

Community Safety - None identified 
 
Health - None identified 
 
Human Resources - None identified 
 
Social Exclusion - None identified 
 
Environment /  - ??? 
Sustainability 

 

Page 70



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\3\5\AI00003536\BenefitsImprovementPlanQuarterlyMonitoringOctoberDecemberReportFINAL0.doc9/2/10/j
w/amendments 17.02.10sc. 

8. Lessons Learnt 
 

 The Performance Development Team are as useful source of 
learning for the Benefits Service 

 
9. Background Papers 

 
Audit Commission inspection report. 
 

10. Consultation 
 
This report has been prepared in consultation with relevant Borough 
Council Officers 
 

11. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Teresa Kristunas (Head of Resources), 
who can be contacted on extension 3295 (e-mail: 
teresa.kristunas@redditchbc.gov.uk) for more information. 
 

12. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 –  Position Statement – Benefits Service Improvement 

Plan as at January 2010 
Appendix 2 -  Redditch take up strategy 
 

Page 71



Page 72



 A
p
p
en
d
ix
 1
 

  K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

 
 

25
.1
 

(R
1)
 

Im
p
ro
ve
 t
h
e 
m
an
ag
em

en
t 
an
d
 c
o
lle
ct
io
n
 o
f 
al
l H

o
u
si
n
g
 B
en
ef
it
 o
ve
rp
ay
m
en
ts
.  
A
pp
ro
va
l t
o 
co
m
bi
ne
 r
ec
ov
er
y 
of
 o
ve
rp
ai
d 
H
B
 in
 

th
e 
H
B
 s
ec
tio
n 
w
ith
 th

e 
cr
ea
tio
n 
of
 a
 n
ew

 p
os
t d

ed
ic
at
ed
 to
 th
is
 r
ol
e.
 O
ng
oi
ng

 P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 D
ev
el
op
m
en
t T

ea
m
 s
up
po
rt
 to
 d
ev
el
op
 

pr
oc
ed
ur
es
. T

ar
ge
t d
at
e 
Ja
nu
ar
y 
20

10
 fo

r 
tr
an
sf
er
 o
f d

eb
ts
 fr
om

 In
co
m
e 
R
ec
ov
er
y.
 

R
1a
 

R
ev
ie
w
in
g 
th
e 
ro
le
s 
an
d 

re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
ie
s 
fo
r 
re
co
ve
ry
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ja
ne
 B
ou

gh
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

R
1b
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th
e 
re
so
ur
ce
s 

ne
ed
ed

 a
re
 m
ad
e 
av
ai
la
bl
e.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ja
ne
 B
ou

gh
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

In
te
rv
ie
w
s 
fo
r 

ov
er
pa

ym
en

t p
os
t t
o 

be
 h
el
d 
on
 1
1/
12
 F
eb
. 

R
1c
 

R
ev
ie
w
in
g 
de

bt
s 
an
d 
im
pr
ov
in
g 

pr
oc
ed
ur
es
 fo

r 
re
co
ve
ry
, 

m
on

ito
rin
g 
an

d 
m
an

ag
em

en
t. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ja
ne
 B
ou

gh
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

T
hr
ee
 m
on
th
 e
xt
en

si
on
 

re
qu
es
te
d 
to
 c
om

pl
et
e 

im
pr
ov
ed

 p
ro
ce
du

re
s.
 

C
om

pl
et
ed
 a
s 
fa
r 
as
 

po
ss
ib
le
 w
ith
ou

t a
 p
os
t 

in
 p
la
ce
.  
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 73



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
1d
 

R
ev
ie
w
 th

e 
w
rit
e 
of
f p

ol
ic
ie
s 
an
d 

pr
oc
ed
ur
e.
 

 D
av
id
 R
ile
y 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
ng
oi
ng
 p
ro
ce
ss
 

ex
pa
nd
ed
 fr
om

 r
ev
en
ue
s 

on
ly
 r
ev
ie
w
 to

 
en
co
m
pa
ss
 a
ll 
se
rv
ic
es
. 

D
ra
ft 
po
lic
y 
be
in
g 

pr
ep
ar
ed
  F

eb
ru
ar
y 

20
10
. 

R
1e
 

E
ffe

ct
iv
e 
pr
ev
en
tio
n 
w
or
k 
to
 

re
du
ce
 o
ve
rp
ay
m
en
ts
 a
ris
in
g,
 

pa
rt
ic
ul
ar
ly
 L
A
 E
rr
or
 o
ve
rp
ay
m
en
t. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
  

W
ee
kl
y 
m
ea
su
re
s 
in
 

pl
ac
e 
to
 m
on
ito
r 
w
ith
 

m
on
th
ly
 r
ep
or
tin
g.
  

R
1f
 

Im
pr
ov
e 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
se
nt
 to
 

cu
st
om

er
s 
so
 th
at
 u
nd
er
ly
in
g 

en
tit
le
m
en
t c
an
 b
e 
es
ta
bl
is
he
d.
 

S
an

dr
a 

M
ad
do

x 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

C
us
to
m
er
 le
tte
r 
up
da
te
d,
 

re
m
in
de
r 
to
 s
ta
ff 
m
ad
e,
 

ne
w
 o
ve
rp
ay
m
en
t p

os
t t
o 

ch
ec
k 
th
at
 a
ll 
de
bt
or
s 

ha
ve
 h
ad
 u
nd
er
ly
in
g 

en
tit
le
m
en
t a

pp
lie
d 

R
1g
 

N
ee
d 
fo
r 
an
 e
m
be
dd
ed
 

m
ec
ha
ni
sm

 to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 a
ll 

de
bt
or
s 
al
re
ad
y 
on
 th
e 
su
nd
ry
 

de
bt
or
s 
sy
st
em

 c
an
 b
e 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
if 

th
ey
 r
ec
la
im
 b
en
ef
it.
 

V
ic
ki
 L
ew

is
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

    

     

 
 

P
ar
tia
lly
 C
om

pl
et
e 
- 

R
ep
or
t a

lre
ad
y 
w
rit
te
n 
to
 

id
en
tif
y 
in
vo
ic
es
 w
he
re
 

H
B
 r
ec
la
im
ed
. W

ill
 

be
co
m
e 
em

be
dd
ed
 w
he

n 
th
e 
de
bt
s 
ar
e 
tr
an
sf
er
re
d.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 74



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
1h
 

O
ve
ra
ll 
pr
of
ile
 o
f t
he
 h
is
to
ric
 d
eb
t 

is
 n
ot
 r
ep
or
te
d 
or
 r
eg
ul
ar
ly
 

m
on
ito
re
d.
 

M
an
dy
 

V
er
no

n/
 

S
an

dr
a 

M
ad
do

x 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
n 
ta
rg
et
. R

eg
ul
ar
 

re
po
rt
s 
to
 b
e 
sc
he
du
le
d 

to
 r
un
. 

R
1i
 

C
re
at
e 
a 
S
M
A
R
T
 p
la
n 
to
 im

pr
ov
e 

ov
er
pa
ym

en
t r
ec
ov
er
y.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

S
m
ar
t p

la
n 
to
 b
e 

fin
al
is
ed
 w
he
n 
po
st
 in
 

pl
ac
e.
 W

ith
 n
ew

 p
os
t 

th
er
e 
w
ill
 b
e 
m
or
e 
th
an
 

do
ub
le
 th

e 
re
so
ur
ce
s 

de
vo
te
d 
to
 r
ec
ov
er
y 
of
 

th
es
e 
de
bt
s.
 

 In
te
rv
ie
w
s 
to
 b
e 
he
ld
 

11
/1
2 
F
eb
ru
ar
y.
 

 

25
.2
 

(R
2)
 

In
cr
ea
se
 in
co
m
e 
le
ve
ls
 o
f 
th
e 
p
o
o
re
st
 p
ar
ts
 o
f 
th
e 
co
m
m
u
n
it
y 
b
y 
ad
o
p
ti
n
g
 a
 T
ak
e-
U
p
 S
tr
at
eg
y.
  S

ta
ke
ho
ld
er
s 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
an
d 

ro
le
s 
de
fin
ed
, w

or
k 
on
go

in
g 
w
ith
 P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 D
ev
el
op
m
en
t T

ea
m
 to
 d
ev
el
op
 s
tr
at
eg
y 
to
 in
cl
ud
e 
da
te
s 
in
 r
es
pe
ct
 o
f a
ct
iv
iti
es
 a
nd
 e
ve
nt
.  
 

 
R
2a
 

C
om

pi
le
 a
 d
es
cr
ip
tio
n 
of
 r
ol
es
 a
nd
 

re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s 
to
 in
tr
od
uc
e 
T
ak
e-

U
p 
S
tr
at
eg
y.
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 75



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
2b
 

D
at
es
 o
f a

ct
iv
ity
 a
nd
 e
ve
nt
s 

ag
re
ed
 w
ith
 p
ar
tn
er
s 
an
d 
ot
he
r 

st
ak
eh
ol
de
rs
. 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

S
tr
at
eg
y 
in
cl
ud
es
 ta
rg
et
 

da
te
s 
fo
r 
ac
tiv
iti
es
 a
nd
 

ev
en
ts
. 

R
2c
 

B
et
te
r 
us
e 
of
 lo
ca
l d
em

og
ra
ph
ic
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
to
 h
el
p 
id
en
tif
y 

po
te
nt
ia
l a
re
as
 o
f u

nd
er
-c
la
im
in
g.
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

R
2d
 

C
le
ar
 m

ea
su
re
s 
of
 e
ffe

ct
iv
en
es
s.
 

 
D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

In
cl
ud
ed
 in
 s
tr
at
eg
y.
 

R
2e
 

B
et
te
r 
ta
rg
et
in
g 
of
 r
es
ou
rc
es
 a
nd
 

th
e 
m
ax
im
is
at
io
n 
of
 e
nt
itl
em

en
t o
f 

be
ne
fit
 to
 v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
pe
op
le
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

In
co
m
e 
M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 

P
os
ts
 n
ow

 in
 p
la
ce
. 

U
si
ng

 d
at
a 
m
ap
s 
to
 

ta
rg
et
 c
er
ta
in
 a
re
as
 fo
r 

ta
ke
-u
p 
w
or
k.
 

25
.3
 

(R
3)
 

Im
p
ro
ve
 t
h
e 
ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e 
S
er
vi
ce
.  
B
en
ef
its
 a
pp
oi
nt
m
en
ts
 s
ys
te
m
 a
nd
 v
is
its
 to
 b
e 
pr
om

ot
ed
 in
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
M
at
te
rs
 a
nd
 p
os
te
rs
. 

R
eg

is
te
re
d 
S
oc
ia
l l
an
dl
or
ds
 a
dv
is
ed
 o
f a

pp
oi
nt
m
en
ts
 s
ys
te
m
 a
nd
 h
om

e 
vi
si
ts
. A

re
a 
to
 b
e 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
in
 O
ne
 S
to
p 
S
ho
p 
fo
r 
B
en
ef
it 
pr
om

ot
io
n.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 76



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
3a
 

S
ee
k 
cu
st
om

er
 a
nd
 in
te
rn
al
 a
nd
 

ex
te
rn
al
 s
ta
ke
ho
ld
er
s’
 v
ie
w
s 
fo
r 

co
ns
id
er
at
io
n 
in
 th
e 
de
si
gn
 o
f t
he
 

S
er
vi
ce
, t
o 
en
su
re
 it
 m
ee
ts
 th
ei
r 

ne
ed
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

In
co
m
e 
M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 

G
ro
up
 a
nd
 R
S
L 
vi
ew

s 
so
ug

ht
. C

us
to
m
er
 s
ur
ve
y 

co
m
m
en
ce
d 
fo
r 
2 

m
on
th
s 
– 
re
su
lts
 to
 

fo
llo
w
 F
eb
 2
01
0.
 S
ta
ff 

an
d 
ot
he
r 
in
te
rn
al
 

st
ak
eh
ol
de
rs
 to
 b
e 

in
vo
lv
ed
 in
 s
er
vi
ce
 

de
si
gn

. 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 77



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
3b
 

Jo
in
tly
 w
or
ki
ng
 w
ith
 p
ub
lic
 s
ec
to
r,
 

vo
lu
nt
ar
y 
an
d 
co
m
m
un
ity
 

or
ga

ni
sa
tio
ns
 lo
ca
lly
 to

 im
pr
ov
e 

th
e 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 s
er
vi
ce
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

C
lo
se
r 
w
or
ki
ng
 w
ith
 A
ge

 
C
on
ce
rn
 a
gr
ee
d 
– 

In
co
m
e 
M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 

po
st
s 
to
 w
or
k 
fr
om

 A
ge

 
C
on
ce
rn
 o
ffi
ce
s 
pa
rt
 o
f 

th
e 
w
ee
k 
to
 h
el
p 

co
m
pl
et
e 
D
LA

 a
nd
 A
A
 

fo
rm

s.
 A
cc
om

m
od
at
io
n 

pr
ob
le
m
s 
pr
ev
en
t t
hi
s 

fr
om

 h
ap
pe
ni
ng
 c
ur
re
nt
ly
 

w
ith
 C
A
B
 b
ut
 o
th
er
 

cl
os
er
 w
or
ki
ng
 to
 b
e 

in
ve
st
ig
at
ed
 –
 i.
e.
 e
-m

ai
l 

re
fe
rr
al
s 
fo
r 
de
bt
 a
dv
ic
e.
 

R
3c
 

D
ev
el
op
 r
el
at
io
ns
hi
p 
w
ith
 

R
eg

is
te
re
d 
S
oc
ia
l L
an
dl
or
ds
 

(R
S
L’
s)
 in
cl
ud
in
g 
ve
rif
ic
at
io
n.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
 

Q
ua
rt
er
ly
 m

ee
tin
gs
 b
ei
ng
 

he
ld
 w
ith
 R
S
L’
s.
 

 S
LA

 w
ith
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
C
o-

O
p 
H
ou
si
ng
 a
t d
ra
ft 

st
ag
e.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 78



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
3d
 

U
nd
er
st
an
di
ng
 a
nd
 a
dd
re
ss
in
g 
th
e 

ne
ed
s 
of
 d
is
ab
le
d 
pe
rs
on
s 
an
d 

vu
ln
er
ab
le
 g
ro
up
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

W
or
k 
co
m
m
en
ce
d 
Ja
n 

20
10
 –
 n
ew

 In
co
m
e 

M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 
po
st
s 
to
 

id
en
tif
y 
an
y 
pr
ob
le
m
s.
 

T
ak
e-
up
 s
tr
at
eg
y 
ha
s 

sp
ec
ifi
c 
ac
tio
n 
to
 s
up
po
rt
 

th
is
. 

R
3e
 

P
ro
m
ot
e 
th
e 
ap
po
in
tm
en
ts
 s
ys
te
m
 

an
d 
ho
m
e 
vi
si
ts
 fa

ci
lit
y.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ly
nn

 J
on

es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

In
fo
rm

at
io
n 
ab
ou
t 

ap
po
in
tm

en
ts
 a
nd
 h
om

e 
vi
si
ts
 in
cl
ud
ed
 in
 a
dv
er
ts
 

an
d 
al
re
ad
y 
ra
is
ed
 w
ith
 

R
S
L 
an
d 
pr
iv
at
e 
la
nd
lo
rd
 

gr
ou
ps
.  

25
.4
 

(R
4)
 

E
n
su
re
 c
h
al
le
n
g
in
g
 s
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
n
d
ar
d
s 
an
d
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 t
ar
g
et
s 
ar
e 
in
 p
la
ce
, t
h
at
 a
re
 r
el
ev
an
t 
to
 c
u
st
o
m
er
s 
n
ee
d
s.
  

S
er
vi
ce
 P
la
n 
in
 p
la
ce
. A

ct
io
n 
pl
an
s 
fo
r 
th
e 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 s
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 d
el
ay
ed
. C

on
su
lta
tio
n 
w
ith
 s
ta
ke
ho
ld
er
s 
st
ar
te
d 
an
d 
cu
st
om

er
s 
to
 b
e 

in
vo
lv
ed
 v
ia
 s
ur
ve
y 
an
d/
or
 p
ar
tic
ip
at
io
n 
gr
ou
p 
re
ad
y 
fo
r 
in
cl
us
io
n 
in
 n
ex
t y
ea
rs
 p
la
ns
.  

R
4a
 

D
ev
el
op
 s
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 a
nd
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 ta
rg
et
s 
th
ro
ug

h 
co
ns
ul
ta
tio
n 
w
ith
 k
ey
 s
ta
ke
ho
ld
er
s 

in
cl
ud
in
g 
cu
st
om

er
s,
 p
ar
tn
er
s 
an
d 

C
ou
nc
ill
or
s.
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

O
ng
oi
ng
 c
on
su
lta
tio
n 

ta
ki
ng
 p
la
ce
 w
hi
ch
 w
ill
 b
e 

in
co
rp
or
at
ed
 in
 n
ew

 
se
rv
ic
e 
pl
an
s.
  

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 79



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
4b
 

P
ro
m
ot
e 
st
an
da
rd
s 
to
 c
us
to
m
er
s 

an
d 
re
gu

la
rly
 m

on
ito
r 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 

ag
ai
ns
t s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 a
nd
 ta
rg
et
s 
an
d 

re
po
rt
 r
es
ul
ts
 to
 c
us
to
m
er
s,
 s
en
io
r 

m
an
ag
er
s 
an
d 
C
ou
nc
ill
or
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

A
gr
ee
d 
th
at
 B
en
ef
it 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 d
at
a 
w
ill
 b
e 

in
cl
ud
ed
 o
n 
T
V
 in
 O
S
S
. 

W
eb
si
te
 u
pd
at
ed
 to
 s
ho
w
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 a
ga

in
st
 

st
an
da
rd
s.
 R
ep
or
ts
 m
ad
e 

to
 s
en
io
r 
m
an
ag
er
s 
an
d 

co
un
ci
llo
rs
. 

R
4c
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th

e 
S
er
vi
ce
 h
as
 r
ob
us
t 

pl
an
s 
to
 d
el
iv
er
 th

e 
st
an
da
rd
s 
an
d 

ta
rg
et
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

A
ct
io
n 
pl
an
s 
de
la
ye
d 
– 

ho
w
ev
er
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

ap
pr
ai
sa
ls
 h
av
e 
be
en
 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 li
nk
in
g 
to
 

se
rv
ic
e 
pr
io
rit
ie
s 
an
d 

re
ce
nt
 w
or
k 
ha
s 
be
en
 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 to
 p
ro
m
ot
e 

pa
ym

en
t o
f H

B
 in
to
 b
an
k 

ac
co
un
t. 

R
4d
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th

e 
S
er
vi
ce
 h
as
 th

e 
ca
pa
ci
ty
 to

 d
el
iv
er
 th

em
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

R
4e
 

G
re
at
er
 c
la
rit
y 
fo
r 
bo
th
 in
te
rn
al
 a
nd
 

ex
te
rn
al
 c
us
to
m
er
s 
as
 to
 w
ha
t t
he
 

S
er
vi
ce
 is
 a
im
in
g 
to
 a
ch
ie
ve
. 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 80



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
4f
 

G
re
at
er
 tr
an
sp
ar
en
cy
 o
f 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 w
ill
 e
na
bl
e 

C
ou
nc
ill
or
s'
 c
ha
lle
ng

e 
to
 b
e 
m
or
e 

ef
fe
ct
iv
e 
w
hi
ch
 c
an
 h
el
p 
dr
iv
e 

fu
rt
he
r 
im
pr
ov
em

en
t. 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

 B
en
ef
it 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 d
at
a 

m
or
e 
av
ai
la
bl
e.
  

 
R
4g
 

R
el
at
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
co
st
s 
di
re
ct
ly
 to

 th
e 

ou
tc
om

es
 a
nd
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

de
liv
er
ed
, e

st
ab
lis
hi
ng

 w
he
th
er
 

im
pr
ov
in
g 
va
lu
e 
fo
r 
m
on
ey
 is
 b
ei
ng

 
ac
hi
ev
ed
. 

T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
W
or
k 
un
de
rw
ay
 to

 
id
en
tif
y 
se
rv
ic
e 
co
st
s.
  

           
25
.5
 

(R
5)
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
 . 
 

 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 81



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
5a
 

Im
pr
ov
e 
cl
ai
m
 p
ro
ce
ss
in
g 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
. 

K
er
ry
 H
er
be
rt
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

A
ve
ra
ge

 p
ro
ce
ss
in
g 
tim

e 
im
pr
ov
ed
 to
 1
4 
da
ys
 in
 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
10
.  

N
V
Q
 id
en
tif
ie
d 

al
te
rn
at
iv
e 
m
et
ho
d 
of
 

w
or
ki
ng
 w
hi
ch
 m

ay
 

im
pr
ov
e 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
. 

R
5b
 

Im
pr
ov
e 
ac
cu
ra
cy
 r
at
e 
to
 a
bo
ve
 

av
er
ag

e 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
. 

K
er
ry
 H
er
be
rt
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

N
ee
ds
 to
 b
e 

re
co
ns
id
er
ed
 -
 n
ew

 
ta
rg
et
 d
at
e 
se
t f
or
 e
nd
 o
f 

F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
10
. 

N
o 
re
ce
nt
 n
at
io
na
l 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 fi
gu
re
s 

av
ai
la
bl
e 
an
d 
ne
ed
 to
 b
e 

ab
le
 to

 r
el
ea
se
 B
en
ef
it 

O
ffi
ce
r 
fr
om

 p
ro
ce
ss
in
g 

to
 c
ar
ry
 o
ut
 a
cc
ur
ac
y 

ch
ec
ki
ng
.  

R
5c
 

Im
pr
ov
e 
A
pp
ea
ls
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 in
 

m
ee
tin
g 
its
 ta
rg
et
s.
 T
he
 p
ub
lis
he
d 

ta
rg
et
 is
 to
 m

ak
e 
a 
su
bm

is
si
on
 to

 
th
e 
T
rib
un
al
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 w
ith
in
 2
8 

da
ys
. 

S
an

dr
a 

M
ad
do

x 
 

 
 

 
   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
S
til
l n
ot
 m
ee
tin
g 
28
 d
ay
 

ta
rg
et
. 

E
xt
en
si
on
 r
eq

ue
st
ed
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 82



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
5d
 

In
tr
od
uc
e 
a 
cl
ea
r 
an
d 
co
he
si
ve
 

ap
pr
oa
ch
 to
 d
el
iv
er
in
g 

im
pr
ov
em

en
t f
or
 c
us
to
m
er
s.
 

C
re
at
e 
de
ta
ile
d 
im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

pl
an
s 
to
 m
an
ag
e 
an
d 
m
on
ito
r 

im
pr
ov
em

en
t a
ga

in
st
 k
ey
 

ob
je
ct
iv
es
, w

hi
ch
 h
av
e 
be
en
 

in
fo
rm

ed
 b
y 
se
rv
ic
e 
us
er
s 
an
d 

st
ak
eh
ol
de
rs
. S

et
 r
ea
lis
tic
 ta
rg
et
s 

an
d 
m
ile
st
on
es
 w
hi
ch
 s
up
po
rt
 th

e 
ai
m
s 
of
 th
e 
S
er
vi
ce
 a
nd
 th
e 

C
ou
nc
il.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

25
.6
 

(R
6)
 

S
er
vi
ce
 P
la
n
n
in
g
  A

ct
io
n 
pl
an
s 
no
t y
et
 fu
lly
 d
ev
el
op
ed
. O

th
er
 is
su
es
 w
ill
 b
e 
ad
dr
es
se
d 
in
 th
e 
ne
w
 T
ak
e-
U
p 
S
tr
at
eg
y.
 

R
6a
 

D
ev
el
op
 s
pe
ci
fic
 a
im
s 
fo
r 
th
e 

B
en
ef
its
 S
er
vi
ce
. 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 83



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
6b
 

S
er
vi
ce
 P
la
n 
to
 b
e 
su
pp
or
te
d 
by
 a
 

de
ta
ile
d 
ac
tio
n 
pl
an
 th

at
 id
en
tif
ie
s 

ke
y 
ac
tiv
iti
es
, r
es
po
ns
ib
ili
tie
s 
an
d 

m
ea
su
re
s 
of
 s
uc
ce
ss
 th
at
 c
an
 b
e 

re
co
gn

is
ed
 b
y 
cu
st
om

er
s.
 T
he
se
 

sh
ou
ld
 a
dd
re
ss
 p
ro
bl
em

 a
re
as
 a
nd
 

ha
ve
 s
pe
ci
fic
 a
nd
 m
ea
su
ra
bl
e 

ta
rg
et
s,
 li
nk
ed
 to
 s
ta
ff 
ob
je
ct
iv
es
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
ct
io
n 
pl
an
s 
de
la
ye
d 
– 

ho
w
ev
er
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

ap
pr
ai
sa
ls
 h
av
e 
be
en
 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 li
nk
in
g 
to
 

se
rv
ic
e 
pr
io
rit
ie
s 
an
d 

re
ce
nt
 w
or
k 
ha
s 
be
en
 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 to
 p
ro
m
ot
e 

pa
ym

en
t o
f H

B
 in
to
 b
an
k 

ac
co
un
t. 
 D
et
ai
le
d 
ac
tio
n 

pl
an
s 
to
 b
e 
lin
ke
d 
to
 n
ex
t 

ye
ar
’s
 s
er
vi
ce
 p
la
n.
 

R
6c
 

In
vo
lv
e 
st
af
f i
n 
se
tti
ng
 fu
tu
re
 

pr
io
rit
ie
s 
an
d 
ob
je
ct
iv
es
 fo
r 
th
e 

S
er
vi
ce
, t
o 
sh
ap
e 
th
e 
im
m
ed
ia
te
 

fu
tu
re
 o
f t
he
 S
er
vi
ce
.  
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

S
ta
ff 
ha
ve
 b
ee
n 
in
vo
lv
ed

 
in
 s
et
tin
g 
ne
w
 p
rio
rit
ie
s 

an
d 
ob
je
ct
iv
es
 fo

r 
20
10
/1
1.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 84



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
6d
 

T
he
 S
er
vi
ce
 s
ho
ul
d 
sp
ec
ifi
ca
lly
 

ac
kn
ow

le
dg

e 
ho
w
 it
 w
ill
 s
up
po
rt
 

an
d 
co
nt
rib
ut
e 
to
 th

e 
pr
io
rit
ie
s 
of
 

th
e 
W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 L
A
A
; r
ed
uc
in
g 

th
e 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
in
 

po
ve
rt
y,
 in
cr
ea
si
ng
 th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 

vu
ln
er
ab
le
 p
eo
pl
e 
w
ho
 a
re
 

su
pp
or
te
d 
to
 m
ai
nt
ai
n 
in
de
pe
nd
en
t 

liv
in
g 
an
d 
su
cc
es
sf
ul
 n
ew

 c
la
im
s 

ge
ne
ra
te
d 
fo
r 
P
en
si
on
 C
re
di
t, 

A
tte

nd
an
ce
 A
llo
w
an
ce
 a
nd
 

D
is
ab
ili
ty
 L
iv
in
g 
A
llo
w
an

ce
. 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

N
ew

 S
er
vi
ce
 p
la
n 
(d
ue
 in
 

A
pr
il 
20
10
 w
ill
 d
ire
ct
ly
 

lin
k 
to
 th
es
e 
th
em

es
. 

 S
ta
ff 
ha
ve
 b
ee
n 

co
ns
ul
te
d 
an
d 
dr
af
t 

S
er
vi
ce
 P
la
n 
20
10
-1
1 
in
 

pr
oc
es
s.
 

 In
co
m
e 
M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 

O
ffi
ce
r 
po
st
s 
to
 h
el
p 
w
ith
 

ne
w
 c
la
im
s 
fo
r 
A
A
 a
nd
 

D
LA

 a
nd
 C
hi
ld
 T
ax
 

C
re
di
t. 

 T
ak
e 
up
 s
tr
at
eg
y 

co
m
pl
et
ed
. 

25
.7
 

(R
7)
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 M
an
ag
em

en
t 
 D
at
a 
in
 s
up
po
rt
 o
f p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 ta
rg
et
s 
fo
r 
in
di
vi
du
al
 m

em
be
rs
 o
f s
ta
ff 
st
ill
 b
ei
ng
 c
om

pi
le
d 
– 
P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

D
ev
el
op
m
en
t T

ea
m
 (
P
D
T
) 
su
pp
or
tin
g.
 

 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 85



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
7a
 

T
he
 O
ve
rv
ie
w
 a
nd
 S
cr
ut
in
y 

C
om

m
itt
ee
 is
 n
ot
 s
uf
fic
ie
nt
ly
 

in
vo
lv
ed
 in
 o
ve
rs
ee
in
g 
th
e 

m
an
ag
em

en
t o
f p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
. 

T
he
re
 s
ho
ul
d 
be
 a
 g
re
at
er
 

em
ph
as
is
 o
n 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 a
na
ly
si
s 

ag
ai
ns
t e
xi
st
in
g 
po
lic
ie
s 
an
d 

ob
lig
at
io
ns
 r
at
he
r 
th
an
 fu
tu
re
 

po
lic
y 
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t. 
In
cr
ea
se
 th

e 
ro
le
 o
f t
he
 P
or
tfo

lio
 H
ol
de
r 
in
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 m
an
ag
em

en
t 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

     ? 

 
 

 
 T
he
re
 is
 n
ow

 r
eg
ul
ar
 

fe
ed
ba
ck
 o
n 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 a
nd
 th
e 

po
rt
fo
lio
 h
ol
de
r 
ha
s 
an
 

in
cr
ea
se
d 
ro
le
 th
ro
ug
h 

ne
w
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t f
ra
m
ew

or
k.
 

R
ef
er
re
d 
ba
ck
 to
 O
 a
nd
 

S
 b
y 
E
xe
cu
tiv
e 
fo
r 
th
ei
r 

co
m
m
en
t. 

R
7b
 

Im
pr
ov
e 
P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 a
t 

se
rv
ic
e 
le
ve
l. 
In
tr
od
uc
e 
st
af
f 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 a
pp
ra
is
al
s 
an
d 

in
di
vi
du
al
 o
r 
te
am

 ta
rg
et
s 
fo
r 

pr
oc
es
si
ng
 s
ta
ff.
 M
ea
su
re
 

pr
od
uc
tiv
ity
 s
ys
te
m
at
ic
al
ly
. E

m
be
d 

ne
w
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 m
an
ag
em

en
t. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

D
at
a 
be
in
g 
an
al
ys
ed
 to
 

se
t i
nd
iv
id
ua
l t
ar
ge

ts
. 

 F
ee
db
ac
k 
gi
ve
n 
to
 

pr
oc
es
si
ng
 s
ta
ff 
on
 th
ei
r 

cu
rr
en
t p

er
fo
rm

an
ce
. 

R
7c
 

Li
m
ite
d 
up
 to
 d
at
e 
m
an
ag
em

en
t 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
is
 a
va
ila
bl
e 
to
 s
en
io
r 

m
an
ag
er
s 
an
d 
C
ou
nc
ill
or
s 
to
 

as
se
ss
 v
ar
ia
tio
ns
 in
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 86



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
7d
 

In
tr
od
uc
e 
re
gu

la
r 
re
po
rt
in
g 
of
 

cu
rr
en
t p

er
fo
rm

an
ce
 to
 c
us
to
m
er
s 

ag
ai
ns
t e
ith
er
 th
e 
co
rp
or
at
e 

C
us
to
m
er
 S
er
vi
ce
 S
ta
nd
ar
ds
 o
r 

th
e 
S
er
vi
ce
 ta
rg
et
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ly
nn

 J
on

es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

      

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

W
eb
 s
ite
 a
nd
 O
S
S
 T
V
 

up
da
te
d 
to
 s
ho
w
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 d
at
a 
fo
r 

20
09
-1
0.
 

 N
ew

 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

m
ea
su
re
s 
fo
r 
20
10
-1
1 

w
ill
 b
e 
sh
ow

n 
on
 T
V
 a
nd
 

W
eb
si
te
 fr
om

 A
pr
il 
20
10
 

R
7e
 

E
ns
ur
e 
fu
tu
re
 d
em

an
d 
an
d 
th
e 

po
te
nt
ia
l i
m
pa
ct
 o
f t
ak
e-
up
 

ca
m
pa
ig
ns
 a
nd
 e
xt
er
na
l e
co
no
m
ic
 

ci
rc
um

st
an
ce
s 
ar
e 
re
gu

la
rly
 

ev
al
ua
te
d 
to
 s
up
po
rt
 fu
tu
re
 

pl
an
ni
ng

 a
nd
 r
es
ou
rc
e 

m
an
ag
em

en
t. 
M
ap
 d
em

an
d 
to
 

id
en
tif
y 
pe
ak
s 
an
d 
tr
ou
gh
s 
to
 

en
su
re
 a
de
qu

at
e 
pr
oc
es
se
s 
ar
e 
in
 

pl
ac
e 
to
 fo
re
ca
st
 fu
tu
re
 d
em

an
d 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

B
as
ic
 m

on
ito
rin
g 
al
re
ad
y 

un
de
r 
w
ay
 –
 C
ou
nt
y 

un
em

pl
oy
m
en
t d

at
a 

an
al
ys
ed
 to

 h
el
p 
pr
ed
ic
t 

fu
tu
re
 d
em

an
d.
 C
as
el
oa
d 

nu
m
be
rs
 a
nd
 ty
pe
s 

m
on
ito
re
d 
m
on
th
ly
. 

   

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 87



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
7f
 

T
he
re
 a
re
 n
ot
 y
et
 r
ob
us
t, 
fo
rm

al
ly
 

ad
op
te
d 
S
M
A
R
T
 (
sp
ec
ifi
c,
 

m
ea
su
ra
bl
e,
 a
tta

in
ab
le
, r
es
ou
rc
ed
 

an
d 
tim

e-
ba
se
d)
 p
la
ns
 in
 p
la
ce
 to
 

gi
ve
 c
le
ar
 s
tr
uc
tu
re
 to
 th
e 
de
liv
er
y 

of
 im

pr
ov
em

en
t. 

T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

25
.8
 

(R
8)
 

C
u
st
o
m
er
 In
fo
rm

at
io
n
  O

n 
ta
rg
et
 –
 n
ot
 d
ue
 ti
ll 
la
te
r 
in
 th

e 
ye
ar
. 

 
R
8a
 

In
fo
rm

at
io
n 
pr
ov
id
ed
 is
 n
ot
 e
as
y 

fo
r 
cu
st
om

er
s 
to
 u
nd
er
st
an
d 
an
d 

do
es
 n
ot
 h
el
p 
cl
ai
m
an
ts
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 

al
l o
f t
he
 e
vi
de
nc
e 
re
qu

ire
d,
 

le
ad
in
g 
to
 e
xc
es
si
ve
 a
pp
ea
ls
 a
nd
 

re
co
ns
id
er
at
io
ns
. C

us
to
m
er
s 
ar
e 

pr
ov
id
in
g 
ev
id
en
ce
 a
fte

r 
th
e 

de
ci
si
on
 d
at
e 
w
hi
ch
 is
 r
es
ul
tin
g 
in
 

a 
ch
an
ge

 to
 th
e 
de
ci
si
on
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

W
or
k 
un
de
rw
ay
, 

in
cl
ud
in
g 
te
le
ph
on
in
g 

cu
st
om

er
s 
to
 e
xp
la
in
 

qu
er
ie
s 
an
d 
ad
vi
si
ng
 to
 

pr
ov
id
e 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

w
ith
in
 7
 d
ay
s 
of
 c
la
im
 

re
ce
ip
t. 
T
hi
s 
w
ill
 r
ed
uc
e 

th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 d
ec
is
io
n 

ch
an
ge

s.
 N
ot
 d
ue
 u
nt
il 

M
ay
 2
01
0 

R
8b
 

In
cr
ea
se
 u
nd
er
st
an
di
ng
 o
f t
he
 

re
as
on
s 
fo
r 
th
e 
hi
gh

 n
um

be
r 
of
 

un
su
cc
es
sf
ul
 a
nd
 d
ef
ec
tiv
e 

(in
co
m
pl
et
e)
 c
la
im
s 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

A
na
ly
si
s 
of
 d
ef
ec
tiv
e 

cl
ai
m
s 
co
m
pl
et
e.
 N
ew

 
m
et
ho
d 
(a
bo
ve
) 
be
in
g 

tr
ia
lle
d 
to
 r
ed
uc
e 
nu
m
be
r 

of
 d
ef
ec
tiv
e 
cl
ai
m
s.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 88



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

25
.9
 

(R
9)
 

C
u
st
o
m
er
 le
d
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
 O
n 
ta
rg
et
 –
 n
ot
 d
ue
 ti
ll 
la
te
r 
in
 th

e 
ye
ar
. 

 
R
9a
 

T
he
 S
er
vi
ce
 d
oe
s 
no
t 

sy
st
em

at
ic
al
ly
 m

ea
su
re
 c
us
to
m
er
 

sa
tis
fa
ct
io
n 
on
 a
n 
on
go

in
g 
ba
si
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

C
us
to
m
er
 s
at
is
fa
ct
io
n 

su
rv
ey
 c
om

pl
et
ed
. 

 
R
9b
 

T
he
 S
er
vi
ce
 c
an
no
t c
le
ar
ly
 

de
m
on
st
ra
te
 th
at
 it
 h
as
 d
el
iv
er
ed
 

si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
 im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
 in
 

ou
tc
om

es
 fo
r 
se
rv
ic
e 
us
er
s.
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

N
ot
 d
ue
 u
nt
il 
M
ay
 2
01
0 

R
9c
 

In
tr
od
uc
e 
a 
fo
rm

al
 m

ec
ha
ni
sm

 to
 

us
e 
cu
st
om

er
 fe
ed
ba
ck
 a
s 
pa
rt
 o
f 

th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
pl
an
ni
ng

 u
se
d 
to
 

im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 
S
er
vi
ce
. E

.g
. f
as
t-

tr
ac
ki
ng
 in
 O
ne
 S
to
p 
S
ho
p.
 T
he
 

ch
an
ge

s 
sh
ou
ld
 c
le
ar
ly
 

de
m
on
st
ra
te
 w
ha
t i
m
pa
ct
 th
ey
 

ha
ve
 h
ad
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ly
nn

 J
on

es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

    

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

S
ur
ve
y 
co
m
pl
et
ed
 a
s 
pe
r 

R
9a
. S

ur
ve
y 
an
al
ys
is
 

co
m
pl
et
e.
  

 P
er
io
di
c 
su
rv
ey
s 
to
 b
e 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 to
 in
fo
rm

 
se
rv
ic
e 
pl
an
s.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 89



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
9d
 

A
 b
en
ef
its
 r
ea
lis
at
io
n 
m
et
ho
do
lo
gy
 

sh
ou
ld
 b
e 
ap
pl
ie
d 
to
 d
em

on
st
ra
te
 

T
hi
nk
 L
ea
n 
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 a
re
 

pr
op
or
tio
na
te
 to
 th
e 
re
so
ur
ce
s 

us
ed
 a
nd
 le
ad
 to
 o
ut
co
m
es
 fo
r 
th
e 

cu
st
om

er
 a
s 
a 
di
re
ct
 r
es
ul
t. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

K
ar
en

 J
on
es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
D
 

N
V
Q
 c
om

pl
et
ed
 fo
r 
le
an
 

te
ch
ni
qu

es
 to
 e
vi
de
nc
e 

ga
th
er
in
g 
– 
w
ill
 r
ec
or
d 

ou
tc
om

es
 fo
r 
cu
st
om

er
s.
  

N
ew

 p
ro
fo
rm

as
 c
re
at
ed
 

to
 r
ec
or
d 
ou
tc
om

es
 a
nd
 

pr
oc
es
se
s.
 

25
.1
0 

(R
10
) 

C
u
st
o
m
er
 A
cc
es
s 
 B
en
ef
its
 a
pp
oi
nt
m
en
ts
 s
ys
te
m
 a
nd
 v
is
its
 to
 b
e 
pr
om

ot
ed
 in
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
M
at
te
rs
 a
nd
 p
os
te
rs
. R

eg
is
te
re
d 
S
oc
ia
l l
an
dl
or
ds
 

ad
vi
se
d 
of
 a
pp
oi
nt
m
en
ts
 s
ys
te
m
 a
nd
 h
om

e 
vi
si
ts
. A

re
a 
to
 b
e 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
in
 O
ne
 S
to
p 
S
ho
p 
fo
r 
B
en
ef
it 
pr
om

ot
io
n.
 

 
R
10
a 

Im
pr
ov
e 
te
le
ph
on
e 
ac
ce
ss
. C

al
ls
 

pu
t o

n 
ho
ld
 o
r 
no
t a
ns
w
er
ed
 a
t a

ll.
 

C
us
to
m
er
 s
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
ff 
un
ab
le
 to

 
co
nt
ac
t B

en
ef
its
 q
ui
ck
ly
 to
 a
sk
 fo
r 

de
ta
ile
d 
ad
vi
ce
. T

he
re
 is
 n
o 

sy
st
em

at
ic
 m

on
ito
rin
g 
of
 

ab
an
do
ne
d 
ca
lls
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ly
nn

 J
on

es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
on
th
ly
 m

on
ito
rin
g 
of
 

te
le
ph
on
es
 d
at
a 

co
m
m
en
ce
d 
– 
m
or
e 

de
ta
ile
d 
re
po
rt
s 
to
 b
e 

in
ve
st
ig
at
ed
. 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 90



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
10
b 

T
he
 a
pp
oi
nt
m
en
ts
 s
ys
te
m
 in
 th
e 

B
en
ef
its
 S
er
vi
ce
 is
 n
ot
 o
pe
ra
tin
g 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 
an
d 
it 
is
 d
iff
ic
ul
t f
or
 

us
er
s 
of
 th
e 
O
ne
 S
to
p 
S
ho
p 
to
 

m
ee
t f
ac
e 
to
 fa
ce
 w
ith
 b
en
ef
its
 

as
se
ss
or
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ly
nn

 J
on

es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
pp
oi
nt
m
en
ts
 p
ro
m
ot
ed
. 

S
LA

 to
 b
e 
re
vi
se
d 
to
 s
et
 

ou
t w

he
n 
B
en
ef
it 
st
af
f 

sh
ou
ld
 m

ee
t w

ith
 

C
us
to
m
er
 S
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
ff.
 

O
ut
lin
e 
di
sc
us
se
d 
w
ith
 

Ly
nn
 J
on
es
 0
3/
02
/1
0.
 

R
10
c 

Le
af
le
ts
 a
nd
 fo
rm

s 
ar
e 
no
t r
ea
di
ly
 

av
ai
la
bl
e 
in
 th

e 
O
ne
 S
to
p 
S
ho
ps
. 

C
us
to
m
er
s 
ha
ve
 to
 r
eq
ue
st
 th
em

. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r/
 

Ly
nn

 J
on

es
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
 

A
re
a 
in
 O
S
S
 fo
r 
B
en
ef
its
 

to
 h
av
e 
po
st
er
s 
an
d 

le
af
le
ts
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
– 
 

O
S
S
 a
re
a 
to
 b
e 

re
fr
es
he
d 
in
 F
eb
 2
01
0 

Jo
in
t i
nf
or
m
at
io
n 
bo
ar
d 

di
sc
us
se
d 
w
ith
 h
ou
si
ng
 

op
tio
ns
.  

R
10
d 

B
en
ef
its
 S
er
vi
ce
 h
as
 n
ot
 y
et
 

id
en
tif
ie
d 
its
 h
ar
d 
to
 r
ea
ch
 g
ro
up
s.
 

 N
ot
 d
ue
 ti
ll 
Ju
ly
 2
01
0.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 N
ot
 d
ue
 u
nt
il 
Ju
ly
 2
01
0 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 91



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
10
e 

T
he
 S
er
vi
ce
 h
as
 n
ot
 fo
rm

al
ly
 

as
se
ss
ed
 w
he
th
er
 a
ll 
us
er
s 
ha
ve
 

fa
ir 
an
d 
eq
ua
l a
cc
es
s 
to
 th
e 

S
er
vi
ce
 a
nd
 it
s 
po
lic
ie
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

Li
nk
ed
 to
 c
om

pl
et
io
n 
of
 

E
qu

al
iti
es
 Im

pa
ct
 

A
ss
es
sm

en
t. 
N
ew

 e
-

cl
ai
m
 fo
rm

 (
du
e 
M
ar
ch
 

20
10
) 
ha
s 
et
hn
ic
ity
 a
nd
 

di
sa
bi
lit
y 
m
on
ito
rin
g 

re
po
rt
s 
in
cl
ud
ed
. 

R
10
f 

S
om

e 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 c
la
im
an
ts
 a
re
 

re
ce
iv
in
g 
a 
sl
ow

er
 s
er
vi
ce
 th

an
 

ot
he
r 
cl
ai
m
an
ts
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

O
rig
in
al
 ta
rg
et
 d
at
e 
of
 

N
ov
 2
00
9 
m
is
se
d 
– 

In
co
m
e 
M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 

po
st
s 
to
 id
en
tif
y 
an
y 

pr
ob
le
m
s.
 

25
.1
1 

(R
11
) 

V
al
u
e 
fo
r 
M
o
n
ey
 W

or
k 
on
go

in
g.
 S
om

e 
co
m
pa
ra
to
rs
 o
bt
ai
ne
d 
co
nt
in
ui
ng
 to
 s
ou
rc
e 
ot
he
rs
. 

 
R
11
a 

D
em

on
st
ra
te
 im

pr
ov
ed
 o
ut
co
m
es
 

th
at
 h
av
e 
ar
is
en
 fr
om

 a
ct
iv
el
y 

ex
pl
or
in
g 
op
po
rt
un
iti
es
 to
 w
or
k 
in
 

pa
rt
ne
rs
hi
p 
to
 d
el
iv
er
 fi
na
nc
ia
l 

ef
fic
ie
nc
ie
s 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

S
ha
re
d 
S
er
vi
ce
 a
ge

nd
a 

S
ha
re
d 
tr
ai
ni
ng
 w
ith
 

B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 a
nd
 W

yr
e 

F
or
es
t. 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 92



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
11
b 

T
he
 B
en
ef
its
 S
er
vi
ce
s'
 n
et
 c
os
t p
er
 

he
ad
 o
f p

op
ul
at
io
n 
is
 lo
w
er
 th
an
 

av
er
ag

e 
an
d 
sa
tis
fa
ct
io
n 
is
 h
ig
he
r 

th
an
 a
ve
ra
ge

, b
ut
 p
ro
ce
ss
in
g 

tim
es
 a
re
 s
lo
w
 w
he
n 
co
m
pa
re
d 
to
 

its
 s
ta
tis
tic
al
 n
ea
re
st
 n
ei
gh

bo
ur
s.
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
W
P
 s
til
l n
ot
 p
ub
lis
he
d 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 d
at
a 
to
 

en
ab
le
 b
en
ch
 m
ar
ki
ng
.  

F
ur
th
er
 c
om

pa
ra
tiv
e 

an
al
ys
is
 to

 b
e 

un
de
rt
ak
en
. 

R
11
c 

C
om

pa
re
 c
os
ts
 to
 o
th
er
 s
er
vi
ce
s,
 

ca
lc
ul
at
e 
un
it 
co
st
s 
an
d 
se
ek
 to
 

ev
al
ua
te
 c
os
t e
ffe
ct
iv
en
es
s.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 O
ng
oi
ng
 –
 d
el
ay
s 

ge
tti
ng
 d
et
ai
le
d 
co
st
s 

to
ge

th
er
 a
nd
 p
er
su
ad
in
g 

ot
he
r 
au
th
or
iti
es
 to
 s
ha
re
 

da
ta
 –
 e
xt
en
si
on
 

re
qu

es
te
d 
un
til
 a
fte
r 
ne
xt
 

C
ou
nt
y 
gr
ou
p 
m
ee
tin
g.
 

R
11
d 

C
re
at
e 
ro
bu
st
 p
ro
po
sa
ls
 fo
r 

de
liv
er
in
g 
ef
fic
ie
nc
y 
sa
vi
ng

s.
 

Id
en
tif
y 
ar
ea
s 
fo
r 
ef
fic
ie
nc
y 

sa
vi
ng

s 
th
at
 a
re
 c
as
h-
ab
le
 a
nd
 

su
st
ai
na
bl
e.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

S
ha
re
d 
se
rv
ic
e.
 

E
-c
la
im
 fo
rm

 a
nd
 B
A
C
S
 

ta
ke
-u
p.
 

R
11
e 

F
ut
ur
e 
in
ve
st
m
en
t p
ro
po
sa
ls
 

sh
ou
ld
 d
em

on
st
ra
te
 a
n 
aw

ar
en
es
s 

of
 li
nk
in
g 
im
pr
ov
em

en
t i
n 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 to
 v
al
ue
 fo

r 
m
on
ey
 

D
av
id
 

T
ay
lo
r/
T
er
es
a 

K
ris
tu
na

s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
 

E
va
lu
at
in
g 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 th

at
 m
ay
 

be
 p
os
si
bl
e 
be
fo
re
 

pu
rc
ha
si
ng
 a
dd
iti
on
al
 

so
ftw

ar
e 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 93



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

25
.1
2 

(R
12
) 

T
ra
in
in
g
  W

or
k 
on
go

in
g,
 d
ue
 la
te
r 
in
 y
ea
r.
 

 
R
12
a 

D
ev
el
op
 a
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 p
la
n 
th
at
 g
iv
es
 

cl
ea
r 
de
ta
ils
 o
f t
he
 c
os
t o
f t
ra
in
in
g,
 

w
ha
t t
he
 o
bj
ec
tiv
e 
of
 th

e 
tr
ai
ni
ng
 

is
, o

r 
ho
w
 it
s 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 
w
ill
 b
e 

de
te
rm

in
ed
. C

re
at
e 
a 
tr
an
sp
ar
en
t 

an
d 
pr
io
rit
is
ed
 s
ys
te
m
 fo
r 

id
en
tif
yi
ng
 in
di
vi
du
al
s 
w
ho

 n
ee
d 

pa
rt
ic
ul
ar
 tr
ai
ni
ng

. 

K
er
ry
 H
er
be
rt
 

/ S
an

dr
a 

M
ad
do

x/
 

S
ho

na
 K
ni
gh
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

C
O
M
P
LE

T
E
 

O
ve
ra
rc
hi
ng
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 p
la
n 

ha
s 
be
en
 d
ra
fte

d.
 O
n 

ta
rg
et
 fo
r 
A
pr
il 
20
10
. 

25
.1
3 

(R
13
) 

S
ys
te
m
 a
n
d
 S
ys
te
m
 R
ep
o
rt
s 
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
y 
er
ro
r 
on
 ta
rg
et
 –
 o
nl
y 
pa
rt
ia
l i
m
pr
ov
em

en
t o
n 
ot
he
r 
ar
ea
s 
du
e 
to
 c
ap
ac
ity
. D

ue
 la
te
r 
in
 y
ea
r.
 

R
13
a 

Im
pr
ov
e 
da
ta
 a
ss
ur
an
ce
 in
 th

e 
pr
oc
es
s 
fo
r 
co
m
pi
lin
g 
th
e 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 in
di
ca
to
rs
. 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

/S
an

dr
a 

M
ad
do

x 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

R
ev
ie
w
 o
f r
ol
es
 w
ith
in
 

te
am

 to
 h
el
p 
ch
ec
k 
da
ta
 

– 
ca
pa
ci
ty
 is
su
e 
– 

in
te
nd
ed
 to
 m
ov
e 

pr
oc
es
si
ng
 o
ffi
ce
r 
in
to
 

C
on
tr
ol
s 
te
am

 to
 s
up
po
rt
 

th
is
 a
re
a.
 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 94



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
13
b 

Im
pr
ov
e 
H
B
/C
T
B
 S
ub
si
dy
 C
la
im
 

pr
oc
es
se
s.
 In
tr
od
uc
e 
te
st
in
g 
of
 

so
ftw

ar
e 
re
le
as
es
 a
nd
 r
eg
ul
ar
 

te
st
in
g 
of
 c
la
im
 a
cc
ur
ac
y 
du
rin
g 

th
e 
ye
ar
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 s
ub
si
dy
 

ca
lc
ul
at
io
n 
is
 a
cc
ur
at
e.
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

/Ia
n 
S
pr
ot
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

LA
 e
rr
or
 o
n 
ta
rg
et
 a
nd
 

te
st
ed
 –
 o
nl
y 
lim

ite
d 

im
pr
ov
em

en
t e
ls
ew

he
re
. 

P
re
vi
ou
s 
ye
ar
 a
ud
it 

qu
al
ifi
ed
 a
nd
 a
dd
iti
on
al
 

te
st
in
g 
m
ay
 b
e 
re
qu

ire
d 

by
 D
W
P
 –
 C
ap
ac
ity
 

is
su
e 
to
 b
e 
lo
ok
ed
 a
t a
s 

pa
rt
 o
f r
ev
ie
w
 o
f h

ow
 

te
am

s 
or
ga

ni
se
d 
w
ith
in
 

th
e 
se
rv
ic
e.
 L
oo
k 
at
 

op
tio
ns
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 m
or
e 

de
di
ca
te
d 
re
so
ur
ce
 –
 p
ay
 

IB
S
 to
 c
ar
ry
 o
ut
 c
he
ck
s,
 

w
or
k 
w
ith
 a
no
th
er
 

au
th
or
ity
 o
r 
us
e 
ex
is
tin
g 

st
af
f. 

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 95



K
ey
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e 
W
M
8:
  

T
o
 p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
n
d
 d
el
iv
er
 o
n
 a
n
 Im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e 
B
en
ef
it
s 
 S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 d
el
iv
er
s 
a 
B
en
ef
it
s 
S
er
vi
ce
 t
h
at
 is
 r
es
p
o
n
si
ve
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
m
er
 

n
ee
d
s 

M
o
n
th
ly
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
at
e 

 
 

 
O
w
n
er
 :
 

H
ea
d
 o
f 
F
in
an
ce
, R

ev
en
u
es
 &
 B
en
ef
it
s 
 

 D
at
e:
   

Ja
n
u
ar
y 
 2
01
0 

 

 

R
ef
. 

A
ct
io
n
 

L
ea
d
 

April 

May 

June 

July 

Aug 

Sep 

Oct 

Nov 

Dec 

Jan 

Feb 

Mar 

C
o
m
m
en
t 
/  

C
o
rr
ec
ti
ve
 A
ct
io
n
 

R
13
c 

IB
S
 a
nd
 A
ni
te
 a
re
 n
ot
 b
ei
ng
 u
se
d 

to
 b
es
t e
ffe
ct
.  
 

D
av
id
 T
ay
lo
r 

/V
ic
ki
 L
ew

is
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

N
ot
 d
ue
 u
nt
il 
20
10
 b
ut
 

an
y 
ar
ea
s 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
fo
r 

qu
ic
k 
w
in
s 
im
pl
em

en
te
d 

– 
N
V
Q
 p
ro
je
ct
 to
 im

pr
ov
e 

A
ni
te
 le
tte
r 
re
qu

es
tin
g 

fu
rt
he
r 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
– 

st
an
da
rd
is
ed
 p
ar
ag
ra
ph
s 

to
 s
av
e 
tim

e 
an
d 
as
k 
fo
r 

co
ns
is
te
nt
 in
fo
rm

at
io
n.
 

In
ve
st
ig
at
in
g 
in
pu
t o
f 

fo
rm

s 
di
re
ct
ly
 in
to
 

pr
oc
es
si
ng
 s
of
tw
ar
e 
to
 

av
oi
d 
ty
pi
ng

 in
 n
am

es
 

an
d 
ad
dr
es
se
s 
et
c.
 

          

 
P
ro
gr
am

m
ed
 d
at
es
 

 
O
n 
ta
rg
et
 

 
O
ne
 m

on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
O
ve
r 
on
e 
m
on
th
 b
eh
in
d 

 
R
ep
ro
gr
am

m
ed
/e
xt
en
de

d 
 

S
us
pe
nd

ed
 

 

Page 96



 Final Feb 2010  1 

Appendix 2 
    

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

HOUSING BENEFIT  
&  

COUNCIL TAX  
BENEFIT  
TAKE-UP 

 STRATEGY 
 

2010/2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 Final Feb 2010  2 

Introduction 
 
This strategy aims to maximise the income of local citizens by increasing the take-up of 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit and supports corporate, County and national 
priorities. 

Redditch Benefits Service provides help with housing costs to nearly eight thousand local 
households on low incomes. Redditch is an area where deprivation and unemployment 
levels are above the county average. 
 
There is also a statutory requirement to promote Benefits take-up covered by Sections 
123(3)(a) and 123(4)(a) of The Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992: - 

“Every authority awarding HB/CTB shall take such steps as appear to them appropriate for the purpose of 
securing that persons who may be entitled to benefit from the authority become aware that they may be 
entitled to it.” 

This strategy will work towards the following priorities: 

Worcestershire Local Area Agreement 2008 – 2011 

The County wide LAA has identified the following priority areas;  

LI3 Successful new claims generated for Pension Credit, Attendance Allowance and 
Disability Living Allowance, as a percentage of the population of pensionable age. 

NI 116  Proportion of children in poverty. 

NI152  Working Age people on out of work benefits. 

NI142  Number of vulnerable people who are supported to maintain independent living. 

NI146  Adults with learning difficulties in employment. 

NI187 Tackling fuel poverty – percentage of people receiving income based benefits living 
in houses with a low efficiency rating. 

 

Redditch Borough Council Corporate Priorities  

Enterprising Community 

The Benefits section strives to deliver a service that provides value for money. It seeks to 
improve health and economic well-being of citizens by helping to combat poverty by 
undertaking “take-up” campaigns; by ensuring that the correct benefit is paid and by 
offering advice. Benefits are a valuable source of income to vulnerable people. 
 

Safe  

The Benefits Service seeks to make a difference to local people by assisting to reduce 
poverty, helping people with their housing costs, enabling them to secure safe and decent 
homes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 Final Feb 2010  3 

 

 

What stops people claiming? 

There are a range of reasons that prevent people from claiming their full entitlement to 
state benefits.  These include:  

 

• Lack of knowledge of the Housing/Council Tax Benefit schemes.   

This can result in people not realising they can claim and misunderstanding how the 
scheme operates, for example, not realising they may be entitled to Housing/Council Tax 
benefit while they are working. 

 

• The complexity of the claim process 

The length of the application form and the amount of evidence required can put people off 
as can assumptions about delays in getting the claim started. 

 

• Negative view of claiming Benefits 

Some people are embarrassed to claim as they perceive that others would have a 
negative view of who do claim.  

 

• Having to provide private information 

Certain people are worried about providing private data particularly bank details as they 
are concerned about how the data will be stored and what it will be used for. 

 

• Lack of support or personal contact during the claim process 

Some people need help to make the claim and left on their own will not be able to. 

This can be due to: 

• language barriers 

• physical or mental inability 

 

• Inadequate promotion and publicity 

Does everyone know these benefits exist and what they can claim? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 Final Feb 2010  4 

 

Key Objectives 

 

In order to maximise take-up of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit, the Benefit 
Service will: 

 
1. Gather data to understand the borough and its communities which will help to 

identify areas of low take-up of benefits and ensure that these issues are addressed 
by targeted awareness campaigns and promotions. 

 
2. Evaluate and monitor customer needs in all communities of the district to identify 

reasons for any low take-up of benefits and address these issues. 
 

3. Ensure that all staff have the skills and expertise to give customers accurate advice 
and assistance in relation to claiming benefits. 

 
4. Work closely with service partners/stakeholders and Government Agencies, to 

ensure that the Governments and corporate priorities for Benefit Take up are 
achieved. 

 
5. Effectively promote Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit throughout the 

borough. 
 

6. Ensure that our partners and stakeholders are able to provide accurate advice and 
guidance on Housing and Council Tax Benefit issues and promote take up. 

 
7. Identify vulnerable and hard to reach customers in order to provide assistance in 

claiming benefit.  
 

8. Actively promote Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit as an ‘in-work’ benefit. 
 

9. Actively promote Council Tax Benefit and Housing Benefit to pensioners. 
 

10. Monitor results of take-up campaigns in order to identify successful and 
unsuccessful activity.   

 
11. Seek feedback from customers regarding their experience of making a claim for 

benefit in order to ensure that the process meets their needs. 
 

12. Promote general take up of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit by running 
publicity campaigns and setting up surgeries in a variety of locations throughout the 
district. 

 
 

Page 100



 Final Feb 2010  5 

Benefits Caseload 
 
 
In December 2009 the total benefits caseload (claimants) was 7801 following a rapid 
increase in the first half of 2009 due to the changed economic climate. 
 
The charts below give details of how our case-load is made-up and the distribution of 
claims in the borough. 
 

Caseload April 2008 onwards

6000
6200
6400
6600
6800
7000
7200
7400
7600
7800
8000

Apr
il

Ju
ne

Aug
us

t

Oct
ob

er

Dec
em

be
r

Fe
br

ua
ry

Apr
il

Ju
ne

Aug
us

t

Oct
ob

er

Dec
em

be
r

 
 
 

Types of claim

25%

6%

20%
1%

48%

Council Tax only

Private tenant only

Private Tenant & Council Tax

Council Tenant Only

Council Tenant and Council
Tax

 
 
 

Page 101



 Final Feb 2010  6 

 
 
Density and Distribution of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit claims 
July 2009      
 
RED = Highest number of claims – Darker Red = higher number of claims.  
GREEN = Fewest number of claims – Darker Green = lowest number of claims    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 Final Feb 2010  7 

 
 
Monitoring and review 
 
In order to monitor and review the effectiveness of this strategy we will measure the 
success of publicity drives and take-up campaigns by:  
 
• consulting with our customers to find out how they found out about Housing Benefit and 

Council Benefit; and how they would like to access the Benefits service 
 
• identifying any increase in the case-load that can be linked to take-up activity. 
 
• obtaining a breakdown of the benefits case-load on a monthly basis in order to identify 

any changes regarding take-up 
 
The strategy will be reviewed and updated based on the results of monitoring carried out 
and will be subject to a full review on an annual basis.  
 
Communication Plan 
 
The Benefits Service will work with a range of stakeholders to increase awareness and 
take-up of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit and will keep identified stakeholders 
aware of progress against this plan. 
 

Audience 
(stakeholder) 

How often 
(when) 

Purpose (key message) Format By whom  Other 

Level 1  
 
One Stop 
Shop 
 
 
 
 

 
Every 2 
months 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy.  

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting + 
SLA 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

Feedback 
provided at 
Wednesday 
staff 
meetings 

 
 
Age Concern 
 
 

 
Every 2 
months 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy 

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
Bromsgrove 
And  
Redditch 
Network 

 
Every 2 
months 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy 

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
Redditch 
Citizens 
Advice  
Bureau 

 
Every 2 
months 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy 

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
 
Housing 

 
 
Every 2 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 

 
 
Verbal 

 
 
Benefits 

 

Page 103



 Final Feb 2010  8 

Audience 
(stakeholder) 

How often 
(when) 

Purpose (key message) Format By whom  Other 

Options 
 

months  invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy 
 

report at 
meeting 

Services 
Manager 

Chief 
Executive 

 
Quarterly 

To provide update of 
progress against take up 
strategy 

Written /oral 
- as 
appropriate   

Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
Sure Start 
 

 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

Benefits 
Services 
Manager  

 

County 
Council 
Health and 
Social Care  
(includes 
Mental Health 
and Joint 
Team) 

 
  
 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  
 

 
 
Written /oral 
- as 
appropriate   

  
 
Benefit 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
RSLs 
(including 
YMCA) 
 

 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 
Meeting 
minutes 
copied to 
staff 

 
Family Centre 
 

 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  

 
Written 
report 

 
Income 
Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
DIAL 
 

 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  

 
 
Written 
report 

 
 
Income 
Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
Shelter 
Wardens 
 

 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  

 
 
Written 
report 

 
Income 
Maximisation 
Officers 
 

 

 
Care & Repair 

 
Quarterly 
 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  
 

 
 
Written 
report 

 
 
Income 
Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Provide overview of 

 
 

  
 

 

Page 104



 Final Feb 2010  9 

Audience 
(stakeholder) 

How often 
(when) 

Purpose (key message) Format By whom  Other 

 
Council Tax 

 
Informal 

project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy 
 
 

Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

Benefits 
Services 
Manager 
 

Level 2  
 
Pension 
Service 
 
 

 
Quarterly 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  
 
Provide support to the 
maximising income 
initiative 

 
Meeting 

 
  
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 
 

 

 
JCP 
 

 
Quarterly 

To provide support to 
take up strategy and 
support the maximising 
income initiative 

 
Meeting 

Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
Private 
Landlords 
 

 
 
 
Tri-annual 
 
 
 
 

Provide overview of 
project 
objectives/progress and 
invite input which would 
contribution to the 
effectiveness of the take 
up strategy  
 

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 
 
Newsletter 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 
 
 
Management 
Team 

 

 
Local 
employers 
 

 
Bi-annual 

To provide support to 
take up strategy and 
support the maximising 
income initiative 

 
Written 
report 

Income 
Maximisation 
Officers 

 

Level 3  
 
Credit Union 

 
Every 2 
months 
 

Provide overview of 
project objectives and 
obtain full contribution to 
the effectiveness of the 
take up strategy 

 
Verbal 
report at 
meeting 

 
Benefits 
Services 
Manager 

 

 
 

Page 105



 

 

Appendix 1 – Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Take-Up Action Plan  
 

1.   Gather data to understand the borough and its communities which will help to identify areas of low take-up of benefits and 
ensure that these issues are addressed by targeted awareness campaigns and promotions. 
 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
1.1 Obtain detailed information about the district and it’s communities, compare it to our 

caseload and evaluate areas of low take-up 
Benefits Services 
Manager 

 

1.2 Obtain detailed information about the breakdown of our benefits caseload. Benefits Services 
Manager 

 

1.3 Include questions regarding the claim process and customers knowledge of HB/CTB 
in relevant customer surveys 

Project Officer  

 
 

2.   Evaluate and monitor customer needs in all communities and identify reasons for any low take-up of benefits and address 
these issues 
 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
2.1 Monitor take-up rates of different communities within the borough. Benefits Services 

Manager 
 

2.2 Analyse any reasons for low take-up. Benefits Services 
Manager 

 

2.3 Resolve any issues identified preventing take-up.  Benefits Services 
Manager 

 

 
 

3.   Ensure that staff have the skills and expertise to give customers accurate advice and assistance in relation to claiming 
benefits. 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
3.1 Continue to provide all staff with comprehensive benefit training Assistant Benefits 

Manager (Processing) 
 

P
age 106



 

 

3.2 Ensure that appropriate staff in other Council services have benefits awareness 
training in order to identify potential customers  

Assistant Benefits 
Manager (Processing) 

 

3.3 Ensure that staff receive annual refresher training on how entitlement is calculated Assistant Benefits 
Manager (Processing) 

 

3.4 Ensure that clear training targets are set for Customer Service staff Assistant Benefits 
Manager (Processing) 

SLA with Customer 
Services 

 
 

4.   Work closely with service partners/stakeholders and Government Agencies, to ensure that Governments and corporate       
priorities for Benefit Take up are achieved. 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
4.1 Work closely with the DWP to promote greater awareness and access of the benefit 

process 
Benefits Services 
Manager 

Income 
Maximisation 
Group 

4.2 Continue to promote Housing and Council Tax Benefit take-up by maintaining regular 
liaison links with landlords and partner organisations 

Benefits Services 
Manager 

 

 
 
 

5.   Effectively promote Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit. 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
5.1 Ensure that our website is informative, up to date, well signposted and customer 

friendly 
Benefits Improvement 
Project Officer 

 

5.2 Ensure that we provide clear signposting for customers who require assistance to 
complete a claim form 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

5.2 Create and display take-up posters at key points throughout the borough Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

5.3 Review current leaflets and identify shortfalls in literature available to our customers  Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

5.4 Ensure that publicity material is checked and approved by marketing  Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

P
age 107



 

 

5.5 Ensure that publicity material and leaflets are checked on a regular basis to ensure 
they are current and readily available 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
6.   Ensure that our partners and stakeholders are able to provide accurate advice and guidance on Housing and Council Tax 
Benefit issues and promote take up. 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
6.1 Maintain regular contact with service users and groups in order to highlight potential 

weaknesses in processes in order that these can be improved 
Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
7.   Identify our vulnerable/hard to reach customers in order to provide  assistance in claiming benefit  
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
7.1 Work with other organisations to identify areas and groups of customers not taking up 

entitlement to Housing and Council Tax benefit and ensure that this is addressed 
through joint working, targeted campaigns and promotions of the availability of 
benefits 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 
 

7.2 Introduce regular liaison with Social Services  Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

7.3 Identify the various community/’voluntary/charitable groups operating within the district  
in order to establish links with them and introduce joint working to improve take-up 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

7.4 Contact the Carers Allowance unit and the Local Disability Benefits Centre in order to 
establish links with them and introduce joint working to improve take-up 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

7.5 Contact the RNIB and RNID in order to establish links with them and investigate joint 
working to improve take-up 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
 

8.   Actively promote Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit as an ‘in-work’ benefit 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
8.1 Create take-up posters promoting HB/CTB as a potential benefit for workers Income Maximisation 

Officers 
 

8.2 Create posters publicising Extended Payments Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

P
age 108



 

 

8.3 Establish links with the councils link worker in order to understand their role and look 
at the possibility of joint initiatives 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

8.4 Liaise with JCP local officers to look at the possibility of joint initiatives Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

8.5 Provide HB/CTB awareness training to local JCP staff Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
9.   Actively promote Council Tax Benefit and Housing Benefit to pensioners 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
9.1 Create posters specifically targeting this group of customers and display them in 

relevant areas such as; Drs Surgeries, Hospitals, Royal British Legion etc. 
Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

9.2 Establish links with Age Concern to look at joint take-up initiatives Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

9.3 Promote take-up via newsletters   
9.4 Continue to promote take-up of CTB at annual billing   
 
 

10.   Monitor results of take-up campaigns in order to identify successful and unsuccessful activity.   
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
10.1 Evaluate effectively all take-up work undertaken to ensure that resources are used 

effectively 
Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
 

11.   Seek feedback from customers regarding their experience of making a claim for benefit in order to ensure that the process 
is a straightforward as possible. 
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
11.1 Ensure that the customer survey includes questions relating to knowledge of the 

HB/CTB scheme and ease of claiming 
  

11.2 Carry out surveys on the HB/CTB application form to obtain feedback on ease of 
completion 

  

11.3 Include questions regarding the claim process and customers knowledge of HB/CTB   

P
age 109



 

 

in relevant customer surveys 
11.4 Re-visit the claim form survey to include questions relating to knowledge of the 

HB/CTB scheme and ease of claiming  
  

11.5 Maintain regular contact with service users and groups in order to highlight potential 
weaknesses in processes in order that these can be improved 

  

 
 

12.  Promote general take up of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit by running publicity campaigns and setting up 
surgeries in a variety of locations throughout the district.    
Ref Objectives Lead Officer Linked activity 
12.1 Approach major supermarkets operating in the area to explore the possibility of 

running HB/CTB promotion events 
Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

12.2 Identify areas throughout the borough where take up posters could be displayed Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

12.3 Explore the opportunity to provide advice surgeries in other locations such as libraries 
and community centres. 

Income Maximisation 
Officers 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 110



 

 

 
 
 
 

BENEFIT TAKE UP 2009-10 
 

CAMPAIGNS AND PROJECTS 
 

Month  Target Activity Action taken 
    
July 2009 Demographic 

breakdown of 
claims 

To identify areas of poverty 
within the borough and 
provide a demographic 
analysis 

Establish through la areas of deprivation or poverty. 
Map borough against indices of multiple deprivation as well as detailed 
breakdown of case-load by ward and output area. 
 
 

On 
request 

New 
unemployed 

Ongoing site visits with Job 
Centre to factories  

 

Minimum 
of 4 a year 

Promotion Attend events 55+ event attended, Help in Hard Times, Churchill Community Event, YMCA 
older persons group. 

Quarterly Landlords Ongoing involvement with 
landlords. 

Ongoing attendance at private housing meetings, three meetings per year 
plus newsletter.  
 
Quarterly meetings with RSL – performance feedback, update. 
 
Ongoing liaison with Housing Options regarding fast track of claims and 
vulnerability policy. 

  
November 
2009 

Pensioners 
increase in 
disregard to 
capital  

Amend live claims to reflect 
change. 
Promote to potential new 
claimants. 

  

P
age 111



 

 

November 
2009 

Child benefit 
Full disregard 

Amend live claims to reflect 
change. 
Promote to potential new 
claimants. 

 

November 
2009 

General To promote use of on-line 
entitlement calculator. 

 Press release and adverts. 
 
 
 
 

November 
2009 

Maximise 
income  

Appoint Income 
Maximisation Officer posts 

1.5 FTE Officers appointed to this role – develop links with CAB and Age 
Concern and set plans for future activities and priorities. 

December 
2009 

Maximising 
entitlement to 
benefit  

Look to widen the definition 
of “authorised office” to 
include housing, welfare 
agencies etc… 

Enter into discussions with Redditch Co-Operative Housing Association to 
become designated office 

December 
2009 

Raise 
awareness 
through web 
site 

Refresh website so that 
information on benefits is 
clearly shown and monitor 
use 

All leaflets and information to be checked for accuracy and updated  
  
Investigate numbers accessing Benefits area of web site – set baseline and 
then monitor. 
Compare to neighbouring authorities for figures to compare. 
 

January 
2010 

Low paid 
workers 

Raise awareness of the 
scheme in low paid workers 

Target supermarkets and other large shops – posters and leaflets. 

February 
2010 

Distribution of 
leaflets 

Raise awareness of HB  
and CTB scheme by 
distributing leaflets and 
posters in priority 
stakeholder areas. 

  

April 2010 All Council 
tenants  

Promote benefit take up 
within all council tenancies 

New year rents form sent out as usual  

P
age 112



 

 

May 2010 Council Tax 
Summonses 

Issue a take up leaflet with  
tax summonses) 

Potential referral to Income Maximisation posts. 

June  
2010 

Take up 
amongst 
Disability 
Groups 

To raise awareness 
amongst disability groups of 
HB & CTB availability 

Liaise with BARN  
 
Use detailed mapping results to identify disabled claims and check for any 
barriers that lead to delays in processing claims.   
 

June  
2010 

Take up 
amongst 
tenancy 
support 
groups 

To raise awareness 
amongst welfare agencies 
providing tenancy support 

 Housing, CAB 

June  
2010 

Raise 
awareness 
through 
carer’s 
groups 

To raise awareness of the 
HB/CTB scheme through 
carer groups 

Benefits to attend carers event and promote benefits, hand out application 
forms and leaflets etc. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 113



Page 114



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Specific Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amended 1/3/10SW 

 

RE-COMMISSIONING OF HOME IMPROVEMENT AGENCY SERVICES 
INTO A COUNTYWIDE AGENCY. 
 
(Report of the Head of Community Services) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 
The report informs Members of proposals to re-commission the current 
Care & Repair agency services (also known as Home Improvement 
Agency (HIA) services) in partnership with Worcestershire County Council, 
Supporting People, the Worcestershire PCT and the six District Councils.  
The report seeks Member approval for the re-commissioning process 
based upon the current level of funding provided by this Council, 
continuing to be contributed into a new single Countywide Home 
Improvement Agency. 
 
The report also introduces and recommends the Council’s participation in 
the roll out to Worcestershire authorities of the Kickstart scheme that 
currently operates in the West Midlands offering an alternative form of 
assistance to help home owners improve and renovate their dwellings 
through subsidised loan facilities. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 

 
1) the Council agrees the commencement of the new 

Countywide Home Improvement Agency from April 2010 
provided by Festival Housing Group; 

2)  the Head of Community Services, in consultation with the 
Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic Services finalise 
and enter into the necessary legal arrangements to 
implement the transfer and commencement of the new 
service; and  

 
to RESOLVE that 

3) the new HIA be supported through the use of revenue and 
capital base budget contributions that are committed to 
the current service arrangements with the North 
Worcestershire Care & Repair Agency. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9Page 115



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  
Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 Confidential Appendix One  
 
Legal 
 

3.2 A new contract will be entered into by the Council and Festival 
Housing Group for the provision of delivering DFG’s and Lifetime 
Loans on transfer of the service to Festival Housing Group. 

 
3.3 Appendix 1 to this report is exempt in accordance with S.100 I of the 

Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, as it contains 
information relating to a contract being negotiated with a third party. 
For the Council to reveal details at this stage may affect the 
Council’s negotiating position with that third party. It is therefore felt 
that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Policy 
 

3.4 Housing Assistance Policy was agreed on the 11 January 2006 for 
Lifetime grants. Work is currently being undertaken to revise the 
Housing Assistance Policy and Code of Practise. 
 
Risk 
 

3.5 Should the Council not join the Countywide Scheme there will be a 
requirement to fund our own service which there is currently no 
budget.  The current supporting people funding for the North 
Worcestershire Agency is to be allocated to the Countywide Service 
therefore a requirement to cover this extra cost will also be required 
for a Redditch Service. 

3.6 The Council will not be in a position to deliver the enhanced level of 
services to older and disabled people without extra funding, unless it 
works in partnership with all of the main partners across the County 
and benefits from the additional resources being made available to 
the HIA through Supporting People, Kickstart and the First Stop 
grant. 

3.7 Failure to implement the Kickstart scheme will mean that the 
Worcestershire authorities will be unable to access ring fenced 
regional funding that is allocated to them and may lead to their not 
being an established alternative solution for home owners in the 

Page 116



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

event of local authority capital becoming less available to support the 
allocation of local authority discretionary grant.  
 

 Climate Change / Carbon Management  
 

3.8 Grant funded energy efficiency measures will be undertaken to 
properties through the HIA reducing CO2 emissions and reducing 
occupier’s energy costs. 
 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 Central to the Government’s framework for delivery of older people’s 
services are the roles of Home Improvement Agencies. This was 
clearly outlined in the Government strategy “Lifetime Homes, 
Lifetime Neighbourhoods – National Strategy for Housing in an 
Ageing Society”  

 
4.2 The national strategy (published in February 2008) is particularly 

relevant to the question of Home Improvement Agency and other 
statutory services such as disabled adaptations in Worcestershire.  It 
sets out a comprehensive strategic approach to older persons 
housing and contains key proposals, some of which are 
accompanied by new funds for:  

 
§ Support to strengthen local housing advice, information and 

‘moving home’ services for older people. 

§ The modernisation of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) including 
the increase to 30,000 maximum grant and the ability of Local 
Authorities to recover grant in certain circumstances. 

§ Greater encouragement of loans and equity release, with an 
acknowledgement that HIAs could provide information and 
support to help people access funding options. 

§ New rapid repairs and adaptations services, expanding the 
coverage of handyperson schemes. 

 
4.3 Following on from the national strategy a further report was 

published on HIAs “ The Future Home Improvement Agency: 
Supporting choice and maintaining independence” which outlined the 
importance of HIAs in delivering advice services, supporting people 
to remain in their own home and their preventative role in terms of ill 
health. 

 
 
5. Key Issues 

Page 117



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

 
5.1  Redditch Borough Council has been operating the North 

Worcestershire HIA covering Redditch, Bromsgrove and Wyre Forest 
since the beginning of 2005.  Festival Housing Group has been 
operating the South Worcestershire HIA covering Wychavon and 
Worcester since January 2006.  The expansion of this service into 
Malvern Hills to cover the whole of the South Worcestershire 
geographical area has not been achieved. 

 

5.2 Supporting People has been the main driver of this initiative and a 
report was taken to the Chief Executives Panel outlining the key 
reasons for uniting the two agencies and reviewing their current roles 
with a view to delivering a more comprehensive and consistent 
service across the whole county.  This work would also give the 
Local Authorities the opportunity to identify good practise both within 
the county and by considering models of HIA from across the country 
and to incorporate delivery of the Kickstart funding programme, for 
which each the Local Authorities had received a grant allocation from 
the Regional Assembly. 

 
5.3 Any future commissioning of services needs to see a greater joining 

up of housing, health and social care programmes, and HIA services 
must be capable of meeting this broad range of demand by offering 
services with cross-cutting objectives across tenures.  Re-
commissioning HIA services will offer the opportunity to ensure they 
play a key role in delivering much improved housing-related services 
to growing numbers of older people.   

5.4 A Project Management Group, consisting of Supporting People, 
Borough & District Councils, Worcestershire County Council, the 
PCT and Foundations (the Government’s co-ordinating agency for 
HIAs) was set up to oversee the review.  Additional project 
management was provided by Foundations, through grant funding 
provided by Worcestershire County Council and this service provided 
technical expertise and useful examples of service delivery in other 
parts of the country. In addition an officer group was established to 
review the District’s current Housing Assistance Policies (HAP) and 
to develop a countywide HAP that covered the majority of services 
on offer including disabled facilities grants, home improvement 
grants and loans, handyman services etc.  This revised policy will be 
brought to a future executive committee for approval. 

5.5 The urgency of progressing the project remains, with the intention of 
the new HIA commencing from 1st April 2010 and with this in mind, 
the Project Management Group mapped the existing provision within 
the county, identified best practice examples nationally, the 
outcomes being met and also identified potential organisations to 
tender for this piece of work.  

Page 118



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

5.6 Supporting People, the project lead, believed that a full tender 
exercise would not deliver the best outcomes in terms of a service 
model for Worcestershire and that they would consider direct 
negotiations with an existing service provider, Festival Housing 
Group.  In particular their reasons for selecting this organisation were 
as follows; 

• A consortium was already established providing the majority of the 
related provision within Worcestershire; the consortium is made 
up of Festival Housing, Evesham and Pershore Housing 
Association, Worcester Community Housing, Wyre Forest 
Community Housing.  Supporting People currently contract with 
Festival Housing and have no concerns over their ability to 
manage the Home Improvement Agency under the consortium 
umbrella.  

• If the group were to tender, the consortium expressed an interest 
with the view of submitting a tender.  The consortium would be 
strong contenders in a tender due to their available capacity, the 
quality of the current provision and the opportunity to have 
improved value for money within this arrangement.  

• The market place in terms of appropriate and suitable providers is 
very limited; in regards to the providers who could have tendered 
for this contract (other than Festival) there were concerns over 
capacity to deliver in addition to a requirement to provide longer 
implementation phases within the contract due to the work 
involved to establish networks and working arrangements (which 
have mostly been adapted by the Consortium already).  

• It was also felt that greater benefits and outcomes could be 
delivered from the Consortium contract and the Project 
Management Group would be able to negotiate greater value for 
money than if we went through a tender exercise with a new 
provision.  Although employed by Redditch Borough Council many 
of the staff within the North Worcestershire HIA worked directly 
with, and were managed by, members from within the consortium, 
making the transition to the new organisation likely to be more 
acceptable and seamless for those officers with TUPE rights.  This 
in turn would benefit service users who wouldn’t, in the majority of 
cases, even experience a change of personal in the transition 
period and would therefore get some continuity in case 
management. 

5.7 The decision to proceed with a direct negotiation with Festival 
Housing Group was discussed by the Chief Executives Panel on 
11th September 2009 and agreement reached that this approach 
could proceed. 

Page 119



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

5.8 The development of the Consortium and the intent to bring 
services together in a more strategic manner has been endorsed 
by Officers within The Department for Communities and Local 
Government (CLG), and also acknowledged by Officers of the 
Worcestershire Partnership as an effective partnership 
arrangement which may increase the opportunity to access 
additional funding / utilise existing funding more effectively and 
subsequently achieve greater value for money and improved 
service provision for service users. 

5.9 It is the intention of the Project Management Group to let the 
contract on a three year basis with an opportunity to extend for 
further 2 years. 

SERVICES TO BE DELIVERED BY THE NEW HIA 

5.10 The Worcestershire partner organisations see significant benefits 
for local older and disabled residents from delivering services 
through a Home Improvement Agency that covers the county and 
works closely with social care and health professionals. 

5.11 The vision for the new Agency is that it will deliver a range of 
options, including helping people to repair, improve, maintain or 
adapt their home.  The purpose of the service is to help people 
live independently, in the home of their choice, warm, safe and 
secure.  The range of services on offer, subject to the level of 
funding available, could include: 

a) Information, advice and signposting. 

b) Disabled Facility grant and other housing grant work. 
c) Fitting aids and adaptations. 
d) Minor works and handyperson services. 

e) Falls and accident prevention. 
f) Hospital discharge support. 
g) Home energy, security and safety checks. 

h) Advocacy and support on housing options. 
i) Kickstart loans. 

Much of the Council’s work on Disabled Facilities Grants and other 
housing assistance to the private sector will continue to be 
channelled through such partnership arrangements. 
 

5.12 During the process of establishing the HIA the Project 
Management Group bid for some additional funding to support the 
establishment of a signposting support, information and advice 
service as part of the HIA and were successful in receiving an 

Page 120



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

allocation of £40k for 20010/11 and £40k 2011/12 to develop this 
crucial aspect of the new HIA.  This funding will be held directly by 
the HIA. 

 
5.13 Also during the process of establishing the HIA the Kickstart sub-

group submitted the proposal for the Local Delivery Plan (LDP) 
(attached at Appendix Two) to the West Midlands Kickstart 
Partnership Board. Kickstart is a regionally funded scheme that 
provides an additional or alternative form of assistance to help 
home owners improve and renovate their dwellings through 
subsidised property appreciation loan facilities.  The funding for 
this scheme is held centrally by Birmingham City Council and 
administered by them on behalf of the partnership. 

5.14 The LDP outlines the mechanisms for delivery of the Kickstart 
programme, the timescales and the required level of funding.  The 
Kickstart group are meeting to discuss the LDP on 3rd February 
and we hope that the outcome should be known spring 2010. 

5.15 The delivery of the Kick Start loans and the cost of scheme 
management and supervision within the proposed new HIA will be 
funded from the ring fenced regional funding that is allocated to 
the districts for the purposes of promoting Kick Start. 

 
5.16 The advantages of progressing a centralised Worcestershire 

scheme of engagement with Kick Start are seen to be: 
 

a)  Reduced marketing, management and administration costs. 
b)  Ability to embody the scheme within the proposed new HIA 

structure. 
c)  Ability to be co terminal with the Worcestershire Local Area 

Agreement and become a stronger priority to support HIA 
funding. 

d)  Provide a consistent approach to delivery of the service 
across the County. 

e)  To have a stronger voice within the Regional Kick Start 
programme and negotiate the ring fencing of Kickstart funding 
to Worcestershire rather than run the risk of losing unspent 
allocation to other parts of the Region. 

 
5.17 There is a likelihood that the availability of LA capital funds to 

provide discretionary grants could potentially diminish and the 
establishment of a Kick Start scheme will enable the public to view 
other forms of funding works as a valued alternative and option to 
gradually supplement and if necessary eventually replace the 
availability of discretionary grants.  

Page 121



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

5.18 Whilst funding remains available the HIA, on behalf of the council, 
will continue to offer grants (up to £5k) for decent homes work to 
vulnerable households not eligible for Kickstart loans for example 
due to a lack of equity in their property. 

 
 

6. Other Implications 
 

 Asset Management - None. 
 
Community Safety - The Worcestershire HIA will undertake 

works that will provide security to 
vulnerable resident’s homes. 

 
Health -  The Worcestershire HIA aims to 

provide the ageing population with 
more services and provide greater 
choice and quality and independence. 

 
Human Resources - The staff of the North Worcestershire 

Care & Repair Agency currently 
employed by Redditch Borough 
Council will be transferred to Festival 
Housing Group under TUPE 
arrangements. 

 
Social Exclusion - The aim of the HIA is to provide 

assistance and advice to vulnerable 
residents to enable them to remain in 
their home which is safe and decent. 

 
Environment /  - None. 
Sustainability 

 
7. Lessons Learnt 

 
 None. 
 
8. Background Papers 

 
Lifetime Homes - see 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/housing/lifetimehomesneighbo
urhoods 
 

9. Consultation 
 

Page 122



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\7\AI00003748\ReCommissioningofHIAreportFINAL0.doc/24.02.10/LW/amendedSW 1.3.10 

 

All relevant Borough officers and all Worcestershire Local 
Authorities. 
 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Matthew Bough, Housing Policy & LSP 
Manage, who can be contacted on extension 3120 e-mail: 
matthew.bough@redditchbc.gov.uk  for more information. 
 

11. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Confidential financial information.  
Appendix 2 -  Kickstart Local Delivery Plan. 
 

 

Page 123



Page 124



Page 125
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 126



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

A
p
p
en
d
ix
 T
w
o
 –
 K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 L
o
ca
l D
el
iv
er
y 
P
la
n
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
     

  
 

B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

R
ed
di
tc
h 
B
or
ou
gh
 C
ou
nc
il 

M
al
ve
rn
 D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 W
or
ce
st
er
 C
ity
 C
ou
nc
il 

   
   
 W
yc
ha
vo
n 
D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

   
   
 W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

  
 

   
  W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ou
nt
y 
C
ou
nc
il 

 
W
ith
 th
e 

 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 (
A
R
T
 H
om
es
) 
D
ec
em
be
r 
20
09
 

      
    

Page 127



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 D
E
T
A
IL
S
 O
F
 P
A
R
T
N
E
R
S
 

B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

T
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
H
ou
se
 

B
ur
co
t L
an
e 

B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 

W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 

B
60
 1
A
A
 

T
el
ep
ho
ne
: 0
15
27
 8
73
23
2 

F
ax
: 0
15
27
 8
81
41
4 

E
-m
ai
l: 
w
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
hu
b@

br
om
sg
ro
ve
.g
ov
.u
k 

R
ed
di
tc
h 
B
or
ou
gh
 C
ou
nc
il 

T
ow
n 
H
al
l, 

W
al
te
r 
S
tr
an
z 
S
qu
ar
e 

R
ed
di
tc
h,
  

B
98
 8
A
H
 

T
el
ep
ho
ne
: (
01
52
7)
 6
42
52
 

F
ax
: (
01
52
7)
 6
52
16
 

E
-m
ai
l: 
co
nt
ac
t.c
en
tr
e@

re
dd
itc
hb
c.
go
v.
uk
 

 M
al
ve
rn
 D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

C
ou
nc
il 
H
ou
se
 

A
ve
nu
e 
R
oa
d 

M
al
ve
rn
 

W
R
14
 3
A
F
 

 T
el
ep
ho
ne
: 0
16
84
 8
62
15
1 

F
ax
: 0
16
84
 5
74
90
6 

E
-m
ai
l: 
w
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
hu
b@

m
al
ve
rn
hi
lls
.g
ov
.u
k 

     W
or
ce
st
er
 C
ity
 C
ou
nc
il 

Page 128



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

O
rc
ha
rd
 H
ou
se
 C
om
pl
ex
 

F
ar
rie
r 
S
tr
ee
t  

W
or
ce
st
er
  

W
R
1 
 3
B
B
  

 T
el
ep
ho
ne
: 0
19
05
 7
22
23
3 
 

E
-m
ai
l: 
cu
st
om
er
se
rv
ic
ec
en
tr
e@

w
or
ce
st
er
.g
ov
.u
k 

 W
yc
ha
vo
n 
D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

C
iv
ic
 C
en
tr
e 

Q
ue
en
 E
liz
ab
et
h 
D
riv
e 

P
er
sh
or
e 

W
R
10
 1
P
T
 

 T
el
ep
ho
ne
: 0
13
86
 5
65
00
0 

E
-m
ai
l: 
se
rv
ic
e@

w
yc
ha
vo
n.
go
v.
uk
 

 W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 

V
ic
ar
 S
tr
ee
t 

K
id
de
rm
in
st
er
 

D
Y
10
 1
D
B
 

 T
el
ep
ho
ne
: 0
15
62
 7
32
92
8 

F
ax
: 0
15
62
 6
76
73
 

E
-m
ai
l: 
w
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
hu
b@

w
yr
ef
or
es
td
c.
go
v.
uk
 

 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ou
nt
y 
C
ou
nc
il 

S
up
po
rt
in
g 
P
eo
pl
e 
T
ea
m
 

C
ou
nt
y 
H
al
l 

W
ild
w
oo
d 
W
ay
 

W
oo
rc
es
te
r 

W
R
5 
2N
P
 

T
el
ep
ho
ne
: 0
19
05
 7
63
76
3 

  S
U
M
M
A
R
Y
 

Page 129



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

                            T
he
 D
is
tr
ic
t, 
B
or
ou
gh
 a
nd
 C
ou
nt
y 
au
th
or
iti
es
 o
f W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 h
av
e 
fo
rm
ed
 a
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 to
 s
ub
m
it 
a 
jo
in
t p
ro
po
sa
l b
id
 fo
r 
th
e 

im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 “
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
” 
se
rv
ic
es
 th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
th
at
 is
 to
 b
e 
m
an
ag
ed
 b
y 
F
es
tiv
al
 

H
ou
si
ng
 fr
om
 A
pr
il 
20
10
. 

 W
hi
ls
t e
ac
h 
au
th
or
ity
 e
xp
er
ie
nc
es
 a
 b
ro
ad
 r
an
ge
 o
f i
ss
ue
s 
re
la
te
d 
to
 p
riv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 h
ou
si
ng
, t
he
 b
as
ic
 n
ee
d 
ex
is
ts
 fo
r 
a 
co
-

or
di
na
te
d 
an
d 
pr
ac
tic
al
 s
ys
te
m
 to
 fa
ci
lit
at
e 
th
e 
pr
ov
is
io
n 
of
 fa
ir 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
e 
lo
an
s 
ba
se
d 
sy
st
em
s 
to
 s
up
po
rt
 im
pr
ov
em
en
t i
n 

th
e 
pr
iv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 h
ou
si
ng
 s
to
ck
 o
f  
th
e 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
in
vo
lv
ed
 a
cc
ro
ss
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
. T
he
 p
ro
po
se
d 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
w
ill
 

ad
dr
es
s 
an
d 
pr
ov
id
e 
so
lu
tio
ns
 fo
r 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 a
nd
 lo
w
 in
co
m
e 
ho
us
eh
ol
ds
 in
 th
e 
pr
iv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 to
 e
ffe
ct
iv
el
y 
im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 

co
nd
iti
on
 o
f t
he
ir 
ho
m
es
. 

 T
he
 s
ch
em
e 
is
 a
nt
ic
ip
at
ed
 to
 r
eq
ui
re
 s
up
po
rt
 o
f a
 c
ap
ita
l r
es
ou
rc
e 
of
 £
1,
62
9,
58
8 
ov
er
 th
e 
th
re
e 
ye
ar
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
w
ith
 

co
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t t
ar
ge
te
d 
to
 c
oi
nc
id
e 
w
ith
 th
e 
im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
ne
w
 C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
om
e 
Im
op
ro
ve
m
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
fr
om
 A
pr
il 
20
10
. 

‘T
he
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
’ e
nv
is
ag
es
 th
at
 b
as
ed
 u
po
n 
th
e 
pr
oj
ec
te
d 
av
ai
la
bl
e 
fu
nd
in
g,
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
w
ill
 b
e 
ab
le
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 3
0 
no
n 
eq
ui
ty
 

an
d 
36
 E
qu
ity
 L
oa
ns
 in
 Y
ea
r 
1 
bu
ild
in
g 
up
 to
  4
8 
E
qu
ity
 L
oa
ns
 a
nd
 5
0 
N
on
 E
qu
ity
 lo
an
s 
by
 y
ea
r 
ov
er
 th
e 
th
re
e 
ye
ar
 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e.
 

 

Page 130



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

IN
T
R
O
D
U
C
T
IO
N
 

 T
hi
s 
do
cu
m
en
t s
et
s 
ou
t t
he
 L
oc
al
 D
el
iv
er
y 
P
la
n 
fo
r W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
nd
 e
xp
la
in
s 
ho
w
 T
he
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 in
te
nd
s 
to
 im
pl
em
en
t t
he
 

K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e,
 fo
llo
w
in
g 
ap
pr
ov
al
 b
as
ed
 o
n 
th
e 
an
tic
ip
at
ed
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
of
 3
0 
no
n 
eq
ui
ty
 a
nd
 3
6 
E
qu
ity
 L
oa
ns
 in
 Y
ea
r 
1 

bu
ild
in
g 
up
 to
  4
8 
E
qu
ity
 L
oa
ns
 a
nd
 5
0 
N
on
 E
qu
ity
 lo
an
s 
by
 y
ea
r 
ov
er
 th
e 
th
re
e 
ye
ar
 w
ith
 a
 c
um
ul
at
iv
e 
va
lu
e 
of
 £
1,
34
0,
00
0 
ov
er
 

th
e 
th
re
e 
ye
ar
 p
er
io
d.
 

 T
he
 b
as
is
 fo
r 
th
is
 s
ub
m
is
si
on
 r
el
at
es
 to
 th
e 
le
tte
r 
re
ce
iv
ed
 fr
om
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 a
nd
 a
ss
oc
ia
te
d 
co
rr
es
po
nd
en
ce
 fr
om
 

th
e 
G
ov
er
nm
en
t O
ffi
ce
 o
f t
he
 W
es
t M
id
la
nd
s 
(G
O
W
M
) 
of
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
08
 a
nd
 6
th
 N
ov
em
be
r 
20
09
 o
ut
lin
in
g 
th
e 
pr
op
os
ed
 c
ap
ita
l 

fu
nd
in
g 
ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 in
 th
e 
fu
tu
re
 fo
r 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
w
ith
in
 th
e 
G
O
W
M
 a
re
a.
 

 T
he
 a
im
 o
f t
hi
s 
pr
op
os
al
 is
 to
 e
na
bl
e 
T
he
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 a
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 b
as
ed
 s
ch
em
e 
to
 s
er
ve
 th
e 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 

eq
ua
lly
 a
nd
 a
llo
w
 th
e 
lo
ca
l r
es
id
en
ts
 o
f t
he
 a
re
as
 in
vo
lv
ed
 to
 h
av
e 
th
e 
op
po
rt
un
ity
 to
 r
ec
ei
ve
 a
ss
is
ta
nc
e.
 T
he
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 

ap
pr
oa
ch
 is
 p
ro
po
se
d 
in
 p
re
fe
re
nc
e 
to
 a
 lo
ca
l b
as
ed
 s
ch
em
e 
fo
r 
ea
ch
 d
is
tr
ic
t, 
th
us
 e
lim
in
at
in
g 
di
ffe
re
nc
es
 w
hi
ch
 m
ay
 o
cc
ur
 w
ith
 

si
x 
di
ffe
re
nt
 s
ch
em
es
 a
nd
 a
dd
in
g 
th
e 
be
ne
fit
 o
f t
he
 ‘e
co
no
m
ie
s 
of
 s
ca
le
’ t
ha
t a
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 a
pp
ro
ac
h 
w
ou
ld
 in
tr
od
uc
e 
to
ge
th
er
 

w
ith
 th
e 
co
ns
is
ta
nc
y 
an
d 
fa
irn
es
s 
of
 a
pp
lic
at
io
n 
w
hi
ch
 w
ou
ld
 b
e 
di
ffi
cu
lt 
to
 a
ch
ie
ve
 w
ith
 s
ep
ar
at
e 
sc
he
m
es
. 

 A
t p
re
se
nt
, t
hr
ee
 o
f t
he
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
(in
 th
e 
N
or
th
 o
f t
he
 C
ou
nt
y)
 a
ss
oc
ia
te
d 
w
ith
 th
is
 p
ro
po
sa
l c
on
tr
ac
t w
ith
 th
e 
N
or
th
 

W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ar
e 
&
 R
ep
ai
r 
S
er
vi
ce
 a
s 
th
ei
r 
H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
pa
rt
ne
r.
 T
w
o 
of
 th
e 
re
m
ai
ni
ng
 th
re
e 
au
th
or
iti
es
 (
in
 

th
e 
S
ou
th
 o
f t
he
 C
ou
nt
y)
 s
ha
re
 S
ou
th
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ar
e 
&
 R
ep
ai
r 
w
ith
 th
e 
re
m
ai
ni
ng
 a
ut
ho
rit
y 
on
ly
 r
ec
en
tly
 s
ig
ne
d 
up
 to
 jo
in
 

th
e 
S
ou
th
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ar
e 
&
 R
ep
ai
r.
 A
ll 
si
x 
D
is
tr
ic
ts
 a
re
 in
 th
e 
pr
oc
es
s 
of
 n
eg
ot
ia
tin
g 
a 
ne
w
 c
on
tr
ac
t f
or
 th
e 
pr
ov
is
on
 o
f o
ne
 

co
un
ty
w
id
e 
H
IA
 w
ith
 F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
.  

 T
hi
s 
pr
op
os
al
 a
im
s 
to
 in
tr
od
uc
e 
th
e 
co
nc
ep
ts
 o
f t
he
 K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 s
ch
em
e 
to
 a
ll 
si
x 
di
st
ric
ts
 a
nd
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 lo
ca
l r
es
id
en
ts
 in
 e
ac
h 
of
 

th
e 
ar
ea
s 
in
vo
lv
ed
 c
an
 s
ou
rc
e 
sa
fe
 a
nd
 e
ffe
ct
iv
e 
fu
nd
in
g 
an
d 
re
so
ur
ce
s 
to
 a
llo
w
 th
ei
r 
ho
m
es
 to
 b
e 
br
ou
gh
t u
p 
to
 th
e 
D
ec
en
t 

H
om
es
 a
nd
 c
ur
re
nt
 H
ou
si
ng
 A
ct
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 b
y 
m
ea
ns
 o
f l
oa
n 
ba
se
d 
su
pp
or
t. 

 T
he
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
w
ill
, w
hi
ls
t f
un
di
ng
 r
em
ai
ns
 a
va
ila
bl
e,
 m
ai
nt
ai
n 
a 
lim
ite
d 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
of
 lo
w
 v
al
ue
(u
nd
er
 £
5,
00
0)
 

di
sc
re
tio
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
 s
ch
em
es
 fo
r 
sp
ec
ifi
c 
si
tu
at
io
ns
 w
he
re
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e 
is
 n
ot
 a
pr
op
ria
te
 –
 fo
r 
ex
am
pl
e 
w
he
re
 th
e 
ow
ne
r 

do
es
 n
ot
 h
av
e 
su
ffi
ci
en
t c
ol
la
te
ra
l i
n 
th
e 
pr
op
er
ty
 to
 a
llo
w
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 s
ch
em
e 
to
 o
pe
ra
te
 o
r 
w
he
re
 th
e 
ur
ge
nc
y 
of
 th
e 
w
or
ks
 is
 

su
ch
 th
at
 th
e 
tim
es
ca
le
 fo
r 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 E
qu
ity
 R
el
ea
se
 lo
an
s 
w
ou
ld
 n
ot
 b
e 
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 e
ve
n 
th
ou
gh
 o
w
ne
rs
 m
ee
t r
el
ev
an
t c
rit
er
ia
 

fo
r 
as
si
st
an
ce
 H
ow
ev
er
, i
t i
s 
re
co
gn
is
ed
 th
at
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 
bu
dg
et
s 
fo
r 
th
e 
pr
ov
is
io
n 
of
 d
is
cr
et
io
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s 
ar
e 
lim
ite
d 
an
d 
in
 

tim
e 
ar
e 
lik
el
y 
to
 b
e 
ph
as
ed
 o
ut
. K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 n
on
 e
qu
ity
 lo
an
s 
ar
e 
th
er
ef
or
e 
se
en
 to
 b
e 
a 
va
lu
ab
le
 o
pt
io
n 
fo
r 
cu
st
om
er
s 
to
 c
on
si
de
r 

in
 s
up
pl
em
en
tin
g 
th
e 
lim
ite
d 
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y 
of
 d
is
cr
et
io
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s 
an
d 
th
at
 in
 ti
m
e,
 a
re
 li
ke
ly
 to
 r
ep
la
ce
 th
em
.  

Page 131



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 A
 N
E
W
 H
O
M
E
 IM
P
R
O
V
E
M
E
N
T
 A
G
E
N
C
Y
 F
O
R
 W
O
R
C
E
S
T
E
R
S
H
IR
E
 

 F
ro
m
 A
pr
il 
20
10
, t
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
er
vi
ce
 is
 to
 b
e 
pr
ov
id
ed
 a
nd
 m
an
ag
ed
 b
y 
F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 a
s 
pa
rt
 o
f t
he
 H
om
e 

Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
se
rv
ic
e 
th
ey
 a
re
 b
ei
ng
 c
on
tr
ac
te
d 
to
 p
ro
vi
de
 o
n 
be
ha
lf 
of
 a
nd
 a
cc
ro
ss
 th
e 
si
x 
di
st
ric
ts
 in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
. 

 R
ed
di
tc
h 
B
or
ou
gh
 C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s 
be
en
 o
pe
ra
tin
g 
th
e 
N
or
th
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
IA
 c
ov
er
in
g 
R
ed
di
tc
h,
 B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 a
nd
 W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t 

si
nc
e 
th
e 
be
gi
nn
in
g 
of
 2
00
5 
(a
lth
ou
gh
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
op
er
at
ed
 it
s 
ow
n 
H
IA
 fo
r 
m
an
y 
ye
ar
s 
pr
io
r 
to
 th
at
).
  F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 G
ro
up
 h
as
 

be
en
 o
pe
ra
tin
g 
th
e 
S
ou
th
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
IA
 c
ov
er
in
g 
W
yc
ha
vo
n 
an
d 
W
or
ce
st
er
 s
in
ce
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
00
6.
   

W
hi
ls
t t
he
re
 h
av
e 
be
en
 s
om
e 
ve
ry
 p
os
iti
ve
 o
ut
co
m
es
 fr
om
 th
e 
H
IA
s 
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
, a
 c
om
pr
eh
en
si
ve
 c
ha
ng
e 
in
 th
e 
op
er
at
io
n 

of
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
w
as
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 b
ei
ng
 r
eq
ui
re
d 
be
ca
us
e 
op
er
at
io
na
l p
ra
ct
ic
es
 w
er
e 
no
t c
on
si
st
en
t a
cr
os
s 
th
e 
co
un
ty
 a
nd
 it
 w
as
 

id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 e
ss
en
tia
l t
ha
t W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 A
ge
nc
y 
ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 a
re
 fi
t f
or
 p
ur
po
se
 a
nd
 r
ea
dy
 fo
r 
ex
pa
nd
in
g 
th
ei
r 
ro
le
, i
n 
lin
e 

w
ith
 th
e 
G
ov
er
nm
en
t S
tr
at
eg
y 
fo
r 
ol
de
r 
pe
rs
on
s 
ho
us
in
g,
 L
ife
tim
e 
H
om
es
, L
ife
tim
e 
N
ei
gh
bo
ur
ho
od
s 
S
tr
at
eg
y.
 A
 m
or
e 
su
ita
bl
e 

de
liv
er
y 
op
tio
n 
to
 a
ch
ie
ve
 th
e 
co
ns
is
te
nc
y 
re
qu
ire
d 
fo
r 
cu
st
om
er
s,
 th
at
 w
ou
ld
 a
ls
o 
en
ab
le
 b
es
t p
ra
ct
ic
e 
to
 b
e 
ro
lle
d 
ou
t a
cr
os
s 

th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
is
 r
eq
ui
re
d.
 

T
he
 n
ew
 C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
w
ill
 d
el
iv
er
 a
 r
an
ge
 o
f o
pt
io
ns
, i
nc
lu
di
ng
 h
el
pi
ng
 p
eo
pl
e 
to
 r
ep
ai
r,
 im
pr
ov
e,
 

m
ai
nt
ai
n 
or
 a
da
pt
 th
ei
r 
ho
m
e.
  T
he
 p
ur
po
se
 o
f t
he
 s
er
vi
ce
 is
 to
 h
el
p 
pe
op
le
 li
ve
 in
de
pe
nd
en
tly
, i
n 
th
e 
ho
m
e 
of
 th
ei
r 
ch
oi
ce
, w
ar
m
, 

sa
fe
 a
nd
 s
ec
ur
e.
  T
he
 r
an
ge
 o
f s
er
vi
ce
s 
po
te
nt
ia
lly
 o
n 
of
fe
r,
 s
ub
je
ct
 to
 th
e 
le
ve
l o
f f
un
di
ng
 a
va
ila
bl
e,
 c
ou
ld
 in
cl
ud
e:
 

D
is
ab
le
d 
F
ac
ili
ty
 g
ra
nt
 a
nd
 o
th
er
 h
ou
si
ng
 g
ra
nt
 w
or
k 

F
itt
in
g 
ai
ds
 a
nd
 a
da
pt
at
io
ns
 

M
in
or
 w
or
ks
 a
nd
 h
an
dy
pe
rs
on
 s
er
vi
ce
s 

F
al
ls
 a
nd
 a
cc
id
en
t p
re
ve
nt
io
n 

H
os
pi
ta
l d
is
ch
ar
ge
 s
up
po
rt
 

H
om
e 
en
er
gy
, s
ec
ur
ity
 a
nd
 s
af
et
y 
ch
ec
ks
 

A
dv
oc
ac
y 
an
d 
su
pp
or
t o
n 
ho
us
in
g 
op
tio
ns
 

G
ar
de
ni
ng
 a
nd
 d
ec
or
at
in
g 

K
ic
k 
st
ar
t l
oa
ns
 

A
 c
op
y 
of
 th
e 
P
ro
je
ct
 P
la
n 
fo
r 
th
e 
im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 th
e 
ne
w
 C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
IA
 is
 a
tta
ch
ed
 a
t A
pp
en
di
x 
3.
 

Page 132



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

1.
 

B
A
S
E
L
IN
E
 A
N
D
 E
V
ID
E
N
C
E
 O
F
 N
E
E
D
 

 T
he
 p
riv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 h
ou
si
ng
 c
on
di
tio
ns
 o
f W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
re
 s
um
m
ar
is
ed
 b
el
ow
 fr
om
 d
at
a 
pr
ov
id
ed
 b
y 
th
e 
20
09
 B
ui
ld
in
g 
 

R
es
ea
rc
h 
E
st
ab
lis
hm
en
t (
B
R
E
) 
su
rv
ey
 o
f p
riv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 h
ou
si
ng
 th
at
 w
as
 r
ec
en
tly
 c
om
m
is
si
on
ed
 a
cr
os
s 
fiv
e 
of
 th
e 
6 
di
st
ric
ts
 in
  

W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
. 

  
 

  
N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
d
w
el
lin
g
s 

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
H
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

 v
u
ln
er
ab
le
 

h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

L
A
 

D
w
el
lin
g

s 
(p
ri
va
te
) 

h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

(p
ri
va
te
) 

N
o
n
 

d
ec
en
t 

In
ad
eq
u
at
e 

th
er
m
al
 

co
m
fo
rt
 

H
H
S
R
S
 

C
at
. 1
 

D
is
re
p
ai
r 

N
o
n
 

m
o
d
er
n
 

S
A
P
 

le
ss
 

th
an
 

35
 

F
u
el
 

p
o
ve
rt
y 

V
u
ln
er
ab
le
 

h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

V
u
ln
er
ab
l

e 
n
o
n
 

d
ec
en
t 

V
u
ln
er
ab
le
 

d
ec
en
t 

(P
S
A
7)
 

R
ed
d
it
ch
 

25
29
1 

24
46
6 

76
06
 

41
09
 

47
34
 

17
16
 

28
3 

25
98
 

27
29
 

52
46
 

16
82
 

35
64
 

B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 

32
21
6 

31
47
9 

11
66
2 

53
48
 

76
30
 

24
76
 

32
7 

55
84
 

37
62
 

46
05
 

16
86
 

29
19
 

W
o
rc
es
te
r 

33
96
2 

33
07
0 

12
70
7 

67
22
 

90
09
 

34
26
 

61
1 

43
38
 

42
12
 

73
05
 

25
84
 

47
22
 

M
al
ve
rn
 

H
ill
s 

27
05
5 

25
91
5 

13
45
3 

61
89
 

10
38
8 

28
24
 

42
8 

86
23
 

44
18
 

44
38
 

23
84
 

20
53
 

W
yc
h
av
o
n
 

41
10
8 

39
87
4 

16
71
0 

77
51
 

12
14
6 

35
29
 

51
4 

10
24
7 

58
84
 

62
97
 

28
13
 

34
84
 

W
yr
e 
F
o
re
st
 

35
28
8 

 
13
85
4 

84
52
 

96
94
 

44
95
 

42
9 

73
61
 

28
11
 

54
88
 

26
19
 

28
69
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
T
O
T
A
L
 

19
4,
92
0 

 
75
,9
92
 

38
,5
71
 

53
,6
01
 

18
,4
66
 

2,
59
2 

 
22
,8
16
 

33
,3
79
 

13
,7
68
 

19
61
1 

  P
R
O
F
IL
E
 O
F
 T
H
E
 P
R
IV
A
T
E
 H
O
U
S
IN
G
 S
T
O
C
K
 IN
 W
O
R
C
E
S
T
E
R
S
H
IR
E
 

 T
en
u
re
 P
ro
fi
le
 f
o
r 
W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
– 
75
.1
%
 O
w
ne
r 
O
cc
up
an
cy
 (
N
at
io
na
l A
ve
ra
ge
 7
1%

 fo
r 
E
ng
la
nd
.)
  

 T
o
ta
l N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
P
ri
va
te
 D
w
el
lin
g
s 
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 –
19
4,
92
0 

 T
h
e 
d
w
el
lin
g
 t
yp
e 
p
ro
fi
le
 in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 d
iff
er
s 
fr
om
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l p
at
te
rn
 w
ith
 a
 h
ig
he
r 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 d
et
ac
he
d 
pr
op
er
tie
s.
 

       

Page 133



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

   
 

  
%
 o
f 
d
w
el
lin
g
s 

%
 o
f 
h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

%
 o
f 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 

h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

L
A
 

D
w
el
lin
g
s 

(p
ri
va
te
) 

H
o
u
se
h
o
l

d
s 
(p
ri
va
te
) 

N
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 

In
ad
eq
u
at
e 

th
er
m
al
 

co
m
fo
rt
 

H
H
S
R
S
 

C
at
. 1
 

D
is
re
p
ai
r 

N
o
n
 

m
o
d
er
n
 

S
A
P
 

le
ss
 

th
an
 3
5 

F
u
el
 

p
o
ve
rt
y 

V
u
ln
er
ab
le
 

h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

V
u
ln
er
ab
le
 

n
o
n
 

d
ec
en
t 

V
u
ln
er
ab
le
 

d
ec
en
t 
(P
S
A
7)
 

R
ed
d
it
ch
 

25
29
1 

24
46
6 

30
%
 

16
%
 

19
%
 

7%
 

1%
 

10
%
 

11
%
 

21
%
 

7%
 

68
%
 

B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 
32
21
6 

31
47
9 

36
%
 

17
%
 

24
%
 

8%
 

1%
 

17
%
 

12
%
 

15
%
 

5%
 

63
%
 

W
o
rc
es
te
r 

33
96
2 

33
07
0 

37
%
 

20
%
 

27
%
 

10
%
 

2%
 

13
%
 

13
%
 

22
%
 

8%
 

65
%
 

M
al
ve
rn
 

H
ill
s 

27
05
5 

25
91
5 

50
%
 

23
%
 

38
%
 

10
%
 

2%
 

32
%
 

17
%
 

17
%
 

9%
 

46
%
 

W
yc
h
av
o
n
 

41
10
8 

39
87
4 

41
%
 

19
%
 

30
%
 

9%
 

1%
 

25
%
 

15
%
 

16
%
 

7%
 

55
%
 

W
yr
e 
F
o
re
st
 
35
28
8 

 
39
%
 

24
%
 

27
%
 

13
%
 

1%
 

21
%
 

8%
 

16
%
 

7%
 

52
%
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 

A
V
E
R
A
G
E
 

19
4,
92
0 

 
39
%
 

20
%
 

28
%
 

10
%
 

1.
3%

 
21
%
 

14
%
 

18
%
 

7%
 

59
%
 

   D
E
C
E
N
T
 H
O
M
E
S
 

 A
pp
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
39
%
 o
f t
he
 h
om
es
 w
ith
in
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
ar
e 
de
em
ed
 n
on
-d
ec
en
t. 

 T
he
 h
ig
he
st
 p
ro
po
rt
io
n 
of
 n
on
 d
ec
en
t 
ho
m
es
 b
ei
ng
 i
n 
M
al
ve
rn
 H
ill
s,
 w
he
re
 5
0%

 (
13
,4
53
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s)
 o
f 
th
e 
ho
us
in
g 
st
oc
k 
is
 

de
em
ed
 n
on
-d
ec
en
t. 
  

 T
he
 h
ig
he
st
 n
um
be
r  
of
 n
on
 d
ec
en
t 
ho
m
es
 i
n 
an
y 
on
e 
di
st
ric
t 
ar
e 
fo
un
d 
w
ith
in
 W
yc
ha
vo
n 
(1
6,
71
0 
– 
41
%
) 
w
he
re
 i
t 
ha
s 
be
en
 

as
se
ss
ed
 th
at
 in
 o
rd
er
 to
 ta
ck
le
 n
on
 d
ec
en
cy
 a
pp
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
£1
39
,6
98
,6
93
 is
 r
eq
ui
re
d.
  

 T
he
 lo
w
es
t l
ev
el
s 
of
 n
on
 d
ec
en
cy
 fo
un
d 
w
ith
in
 th
e 
co
un
ty
 c
an
 b
e 
fo
un
d 
w
ith
in
 R
ed
di
tc
h,
 w
ith
 3
0%

 o
f t
he
 s
to
ck
 b
ei
ng
 d
ee
m
ed
 n
on
 

de
ce
nt
.  
 

 T
h
e 
av
er
ag
e 
co
st
 o
f 
b
ri
n
g
in
g
 a
 n
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 
p
ro
p
er
ty
 b
ac
k 
in
to
 d
ec
en
cy
 a
cr
o
ss
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
is
 £
8,
36
0 
p
er
 d
w
el
lin
g
. 

    

Page 134



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

T
h
er
ef
o
re
 t
h
e 
to
ta
l i
n
ve
st
m
en
t 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 a
cr
o
ss
 t
h
e 
w
h
o
le
 c
o
u
n
ty
 is
 £
63
5,
29
4,
63
9 

  H
H
S
R
S
 

N
at
io
na
lly
 t
he
 m
aj
or
 c
au
se
 o
f 
fa
ilu
re
 u
nd
er
 D
ec
en
t 
H
om
es
 h
as
 b
ee
n 
as
 a
 r
es
ul
t 
of
 in
ad
eq
ua
te
 t
he
rm
al
 c
om
fo
rt
, 
ho
w
ev
er
 t
he
re
 

ha
s 
be
en
 a
 s
ig
ni
fic
an
t s
hi
ft 
to
 fa
ilu
re
s 
un
de
r 
th
e 
H
ou
si
ng
 H
ea
lth
 &
 S
af
et
y 
R
at
in
g 
S
ys
te
m
 in
cr
ea
si
ng
 fr
om
 1
8%
 in
 2
00
1 
to
 2
4%
 in
 

20
08
.  
 

 W
ith
in
 t
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ou
nt
y 
th
er
e 
is
 a
n 
ab
ov
e 
av
er
ag
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
fa
ili
ng
 H
H
S
R
S
 (
28
%
) 
w
ith
 M
al
ve
rn
 H
ill
s 

ha
vi
ng
 t
he
 g
re
at
es
t 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
(3
8%
) 
of
 t
he
 h
om
es
 in
 t
he
 C
ou
nt
y 
fa
ili
ng
 u
nd
er
 H
H
S
R
S
 a
nd
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
to
 t
he
 n
or
th
 o
f 
th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 

w
ith
 th
e 
lo
w
es
t p
ro
po
rt
io
n 
19
%
. 

  T
h
e 
av
er
ag
e 
co
st
 o
f 
re
p
ai
rs
 f
o
r 
o
w
n
er
 o
cc
u
p
ie
d
 p
ro
p
er
ti
es
 w
it
h
 a
 c
at
eg
o
ry
 1
 h
az
ar
d
 in
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
is
 £
8,
81
1.
 

  T
he
rm
al
 c
om
fo
rt
 

T
he
 n
at
io
na
l D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 r
at
e 
of
 fa
ilu
re
 o
n 
th
er
m
al
 c
om
fo
rt
 is
 1
7%
.  

 T
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
ve
ra
ge
 is
 2
0%
 (
38
,5
71
) 
of
 d
w
el
lin
gs
 f
ai
lin
g 
th
e 
D
ec
en
t 
H
om
es
 S
ta
nd
ar
d 
as
 a
 r
es
ul
t 
of
 in
ad
eq
ua
te
 t
he
rm
al
 

co
m
fo
rt
. 
T
he
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
w
ith
 t
he
 h
ig
he
st
 f
ai
lu
re
 r
at
e 
is
 W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t 
w
ith
 a
t 
24
%
 w
hi
ch
 r
es
ul
ts
 i
n 
ap
pr
ox
im
at
el
y 
£5
9,
31
4,
23
0 
of
 

in
ve
st
m
en
t 
ne
ed
in
g 
to
 b
e 
sp
en
t 
to
 r
em
ov
e 
th
is
 r
is
k 
an
d 
R
ed
di
tc
h 
ha
vi
ng
 t
he
 lo
w
es
t 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 h
om
es
 t
ha
t 
fa
il 
un
de
r 
th
er
m
al
 

co
m
fo
rt
 a
t 1
6%
.  
 

T
h
e 
W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
av
er
ag
e 
co
st
 o
f 
re
m
ed
yi
n
g
 a
n
 o
w
n
er
 o
cc
u
p
ie
d
 p
ro
p
er
ty
 w
it
h
 a
n
 i
n
ad
eq
u
at
e 
th
er
m
al
 e
n
ve
lo
p
e 
is
 

ap
p
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
£7
,0
17
. 

  M
od
er
ni
sa
tio
n  

T
he
 r
ec
en
t 
B
R
E
 (
B
ui
ld
in
g 
R
es
ea
rc
h 
E
st
ab
lis
hm
en
t)
 r
ep
or
t 
fo
r 
W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 id
en
tif
ie
s 
th
at
 t
he
 c
os
t 
of
 w
or
ks
 a
re
 c
on
si
de
ra
bl
e 

w
he
n 
m
od
er
ni
si
ng
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
th
ro
ug
ho
ut
 th
e 
co
un
ty
.  
 

 T
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
ve
ra
ge
 is
 1
.3
%
 o
f d
w
el
lin
gs
 fa
ili
ng
 D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 S
ta
nd
ar
d 
as
 a
 r
es
ul
t o
f m
od
er
ni
sa
tio
n 
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
.  

   

Page 135



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

T
he
 n
or
th
 p
ar
t o
f W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 is
 m
or
e 
in
 li
ne
 w
ith
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 o
f 1
%
 w
ith
 B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 r
ec
or
di
ng
 1
%
 a
nd
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
1%
 

of
 d
w
el
lin
gs
 fa
ili
ng
 u
nd
er
 m
od
er
ni
sa
tio
n.
  W

or
ce
st
er
 C
ity
 (
2%

) 
an
d 
M
al
ve
rn
 H
ill
s 
(2
%
) 
ar
e 
fu
rt
he
r 
ab
ov
e 
na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 o
f s
to
ck
 

no
t m
ee
tin
g 
m
od
er
ni
sa
tio
n 
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
 o
f t
he
 D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 S
ta
nd
ar
d.
   

 T
h
e 
W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
av
er
ag
e 
co
st
 o
f 
re
p
ai
rs
 n
ec
es
sa
ry
 f
o
r 
o
w
n
er
 o
cc
u
p
ie
rs
 t
o
 u
n
d
er
ta
ke
 i
n
 o
rd
er
 t
o
 p
ro
vi
d
e 
ad
eq
u
at
e 

m
o
d
er
n
 f
ac
ili
ti
es
 w
it
h
in
 a
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
h
o
m
e 
is
 a
p
p
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
£2
2,
46
2 
p
er
 p
ro
p
er
ty
. 

  D
is
re
pa
ir 

T
he
 N
at
io
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 fo
r 
pr
op
er
tie
s 
fa
ili
ng
 D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 S
ta
nd
ar
d 
fo
r 
re
as
on
s 
of
 D
is
re
pa
ir 
is
 8
%
 

 T
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
ve
ra
ge
 i
s 
10
%
 w
ith
 W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t 
ha
vi
ng
 t
he
 g
re
at
es
t 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 h
ou
si
ng
 (
13
%
) 
th
at
 f
ai
ls
 u
nd
er
 t
he
 

di
sr
ep
ai
r 
as
pe
ct
 o
f t
he
 D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 S
ta
nd
ar
d,
 a
m
ou
nt
in
g 
to
 a
pp
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
£7
9,
84
1,
44
8 
of
 r
eq
ui
re
d 
in
ve
st
m
en
t t
o 
ad
dr
es
s 
th
e 

is
su
e.
  T
hi
s 
is
 s
ig
ni
fic
an
tly
 a
bo
ve
 R
ed
di
tc
h’
s 
le
ve
l (
7%

) 
w
hi
ch
 is
 b
el
ow
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 o
f 8
%
.  
 

 In
 o
rd
er
 t
o
 r
em

o
ve
 d
is
re
p
ai
r 
is
su
es
 f
ro
m
 p
ro
p
er
ti
es
 w
it
h
in
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
it
 h
as
 b
ee
n
 d
ee
m
ed
 t
h
at
 i
t 
w
o
u
ld
 c
o
st
 

ap
p
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
£1
7,
76
2.
28
 p
er
 p
ro
p
er
ty
. 

  V
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
H
ou
se
ho
ld
s  

N
at
io
na
lly
 th
e 
av
er
ag
e 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 a
ll 
pr
op
er
tie
s 
th
at
 a
re
 o
cc
up
ie
d 
by
 v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
pe
op
le
 w
ho
 li
ve
 in
 n
on
 d
ec
en
t h
om
es
 is
 8
%
 

 W
ith
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 t
hi
s 
av
er
ag
e 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 a
ll 
dw
el
lin
gs
 t
ha
t 
ar
e 
oc
cu
pi
ed
 b
y 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 p
eo
pl
e 
th
at
 l
iv
e 
in
 n
on
 d
ec
en
t 

ac
co
m
m
od
at
io
n 
is
 7
%
 w
ith
 M
al
ve
rn
 H
ill
s 
ha
vi
ng
 t
he
 la
rg
es
t 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
oc
cu
pi
ed
 b
y 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 p
eo
pl
e 
liv
in
g 
in
 n
on
 

de
ce
nt
 h
om
es
 b
ei
ng
 9
%
 a
nd
 B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 b
ei
ng
 th
e 
lo
w
es
t w
ith
 5
 %
.  
 

 T
he
re
 a
re
 3
3,
37
9 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 h
ou
se
ho
ld
s 
th
at
 a
re
 c
la
ss
ifi
ed
 a
s 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 o
r 
on
 a
 lo
w
 in
co
m
e.
  
O
f 
th
es
e 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 h
ou
se
ho
ld
s 

an
 e
st
im
at
ed
 1
3,
76
8 
ar
e 
cl
as
si
fie
d 
as
 li
vi
ng
 in
 n
on
-d
ec
en
t 
ho
m
es
 w
hi
ch
 r
ep
re
se
nt
s 
41
%
 o
f 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 h
ou
se
ho
ld
.  
C
on
ve
rs
el
y 

th
is
 m
ea
ns
 th
at
 5
9%

 o
f v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
ho
us
eh
ol
ds
 a
re
 li
vi
ng
 w
ith
in
 d
ec
en
t a
cc
om
m
od
at
io
n.
  

     

Page 136



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

F
ue
l P
ov
er
ty
  

F
ue
l p
ov
er
ty
 is
 d
ef
in
ed
 a
s 
ho
us
eh
ol
de
rs
 s
pe
nd
in
g 
m
or
e 
th
an
 1
0%

 o
f t
he
ir 
in
co
m
e 
on
 h
ea
tin
g 
an
d 
fu
el
 p
ro
vi
si
on
s 
w
ith
in
 th
ei
r 

pr
op
er
ty
. 

 O
n 
av
er
ag
e 
14
%
 o
f 
ho
us
eh
ol
ds
 i
n 
W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 e
xp
er
ie
nc
e 
fu
el
 p
ov
er
ty
 a
nd
 t
he
 p
ro
bl
em
 p
os
es
 t
he
 g
re
at
es
t 
th
re
at
 t
o 

ho
us
eh
ol
ds
 in
 M
al
ve
rn
 w
ith
 1
7%

 o
f t
he
 p
op
ul
at
io
n 
be
in
g 
in
 fu
el
 p
ov
er
ty
 w
hi
ch
 is
 5
%
 h
ig
he
r 
th
an
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 (
12
%
) 
an
d 

W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t a
t 8
%
.  

  P
R
O
F
IL
E
 O
F
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 

 T
he
 a
ge
 p
ro
fil
e 
of
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
(C
en
su
s 
20
01
) 
ge
ne
ra
lly
 fo
llo
w
s 
th
e 
na
tio
na
l p
ro
fil
e,
 h
ow
ev
er
 th
er
e 
is
 a
 s
ig
ni
fic
an
t d
iff
er
en
ce
 in
 th
e 

nu
m
be
r 
of
 h
ou
se
ho
ld
s 
ag
ed
 b
et
w
ee
n 
45
 a
nd
 5
9.
  (
21
.3
%
 in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 c
om
pa
re
d 
to
 1
8.
9%

 in
 E
ng
la
nd
) 
an
d 
pe
op
le
 o
ve
r 
th
e 

ag
e 
of
 6
5 
16
.4
%
 fo
r W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 c
om
pa
re
d 
to
 1
5.
9%

 fo
r 
E
ng
la
nd
) 

 T
he
 n
um
be
r 
of
 r
es
id
en
ts
 w
ith
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 t
ha
t 
ar
e 
ec
on
om
ic
al
ly
 a
ct
iv
e 
al
so
 d
iff
er
s 
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
 f
ro
m
 n
ot
 o
nl
y 
th
e 
na
tio
na
l 

av
er
ag
e 
bu
t 
al
so
 w
ith
in
 t
he
 C
ou
nt
y.
  
T
he
 n
um
be
r 
of
 r
et
ire
d 
re
si
de
nt
s 
w
ith
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 (
14
.1
%
) 
is
 b
ro
ad
ly
 i
n 
lin
e 
w
ith
 t
he
 

na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 (
13
.5
%
),
 h
ow
ev
er
 t
he
re
 is
 a
 s
ig
ni
fic
an
t 
ris
e 
fr
om
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 t
o 
th
e 
no
rt
h 
of
 th
e 
di
st
ric
t i
n 
B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 

(1
5.
6%

).
 

 T
he
 a
ve
ra
ge
 y
ea
rly
 i
nc
om
e 
(C
en
su
s 
20
01
) 
of
 o
w
ne
r 
oc
cu
pi
ed
 h
ou
se
ho
ld
s 
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 (
£3
5,
65
6)
 i
s 
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
 h
ig
he
r 

th
an
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l a
ve
ra
ge
 (
£2
8,
75
0)
, h
ow
ev
er
 th
er
e 
ar
e 
va
ria
tio
ns
 b
et
w
ee
n 
th
e 
ag
e 
pr
of
ile
s 
an
d 
lo
ca
tio
ns
 w
ith
in
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
y.
  T
he
 

N
or
th
 o
f 
th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
ha
s 
an
 a
pp
ro
xi
m
at
el
y 
£3
,0
00
 h
ig
he
r 
m
ea
n 
ho
us
eh
ol
d 
in
co
m
e 
in
 c
om
pa
ris
on
 t
o 
th
e 
S
ou
th
 o
f 
th
e 
C
ou
nt
y.
 

 T
he
re
 h
as
, 
ho
w
ev
er
 b
ee
n 
a 
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
 r
is
e 
in
 t
he
 n
um
be
r 
of
 p
eo
pl
e 
be
co
m
in
g 
el
ig
ib
le
 f
or
 M
ea
ns
 T
es
te
d 
B
en
ef
its
 w
ith
in
 t
he
 

C
ou
nt
y 
w
hi
ch
 h
as
 r
es
ul
te
d 
in
 a
n 
in
cr
ea
se
 in
 th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
ho
us
eh
ol
ds
.  
 

  D
IS
A
B
IL
IT
IE
S
 A
N
D
 A
D
A
P
T
A
T
IO
N
S
 

 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 d
is
tr
ic
ts
 h
av
e 
an
 a
bo
ve
 a
ve
ra
ge
 p
op
ul
at
io
n 
of
 r
es
id
en
ts
 o
ve
r 
th
e 
ag
e 
of
 6
5 
an
d 
ab
ov
e 
75
. T
he
re
 is
 a
n 
id
en
tif
ie
d 

ne
ed
 to
 s
up
po
rt
 o
ld
er
 p
eo
pl
e 
to
 m
ai
nt
ai
n 
an
d 
to
 a
ss
is
t t
he
m
 to
 r
em
ai
n 
in
 th
ei
r 
ho
m
es
 th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
pr
ov
is
io
n 
of
 D
is
ab
le
d 
F
ac
ili
tie
s 

G
ra
nt
 a
nd
 o
th
er
 g
ra
nt
s.
  S
tr
on
g,
 a
nd
 in
 m
an
y 
ca
se
s 
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
 in
cr
ea
si
ng
, d
em
an
d 
fo
r 
D
is
ab
le
d 
F
ac
ili
tie
s 
G
ra
nt
s 
(D
F
G
) 
is
 

ev
id
en
t. 
 G
iv
en
 th
e 
ag
ei
ng
 p
op
ul
at
io
n 
w
ith
in
 th
e 
ar
ea
 th
is
 d
em
an
d 
w
ill
 a
lm
os
t c
er
ta
in
ly
 c
on
tin
ue
.  

 

Page 137



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

D
ue
 to
 c
on
st
ra
in
ts
 o
n 
ca
pi
ta
l b
ud
ge
ts
 th
e 
lo
ca
l h
ou
si
ng
 a
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
ar
e 
un
ab
le
 to
 s
at
is
fy
 d
em
an
d 
fo
r 
di
sc
re
tio
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s 
to
 

im
pr
ov
e 
pr
iv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 d
w
el
lin
gs
 o
r 
ev
en
 to
 m
ee
t r
eq
ui
re
m
en
ts
 fo
r 
m
an
da
to
ry
 D
F
G
’s
. T
he
 d
em
og
ra
ph
ic
s 
of
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
su
pp
or
t 

th
e 
ne
ed
 fo
r 
th
e 
on
go
in
g 
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t o
f H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
se
rv
ic
es
 to
 h
el
p 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 r
es
id
en
ts
 im
pr
ov
e 
th
ei
r 
liv
in
g 

co
nd
iti
on
s.
 

  V
A
L
U
E
 O
F
 D
W
E
L
L
IN
G
S
  

 A
cr
os
s 
th
e 
co
un
tr
y,
 h
ou
se
 p
ric
es
 h
av
e 
fa
lle
n 
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
 a
s 
m
or
tg
ag
es
 h
av
e 
be
co
m
e 
m
or
e 
di
ffi
cu
lt 
to
 o
bt
ai
n 
an
d 
ex
pe
ns
iv
e 
to
 

se
rv
ic
e.
 A
cc
or
di
ng
 to
 th
e 
La
nd
 R
eg
is
tr
y 
H
ou
se
 P
ric
e 
In
de
x,
 th
er
e 
w
as
 a
 fa
ll 
of
 1
1.
8%
 b
et
w
ee
n 
S
ep
te
m
be
r 
20
08
 a
nd
 S
ep
te
m
be
r 

20
09
 in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
, w
hi
ch
 is
 m
or
e 
th
an
 th
e 
7.
3%

 fa
ll 
fo
r 
th
e 
W
es
t M
id
la
nd
s 
re
gi
on
 a
nd
 5
.6
%
 in
 E
ng
la
nd
 a
nd
 W
al
es
 a
s 
a 

w
ho
le
. I
n 
Q
3 
20
09
, t
he
 m
ea
n 
ho
us
e 
pr
ic
e 
in
 th
e 
co
un
ty
 w
as
 £
20
5,
96
2,
 4
.0
%
 lo
w
er
 th
an
 th
e 
£2
14
,5
15
 s
ee
n 
in
 Q
3 
20
08
, b
ut
 7
.9
%
 

hi
gh
er
 th
an
 in
 Q
2 
20
09
. B
et
w
ee
n 
Q
3 
20
08
 a
nd
 Q
3 
20
09
, p
ric
es
 fe
ll 
m
os
t i
n 
B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 (
11
.7
%
) 
an
d 
le
as
t i
n 
W
or
ce
st
er
 C
ity
 

(0
.7
%
).
 In
 te
rm
s 
of
 p
ro
pe
rt
y 
ty
pe
, t
he
 la
rg
es
t d
ec
re
as
e 
in
 a
ve
ra
ge
 p
ric
e 
w
as
 fo
r 
de
ta
ch
ed
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
(9
.8
%
) 
an
d 
th
e 
sm
al
le
st
 w
as
 

fo
r 
te
rr
ac
ed
 h
ou
se
s 
(0
.7
%
)1
4.
 

   P
R
IV
A
T
E
L
Y
 L
E
T
 A
C
C
O
M
M
O
D
A
T
IO
N
 

 In
 m
os
t o
f t
he
 d
is
tr
ic
ts
 th
er
e 
ar
e 
fe
w
 p
riv
at
e 
la
nd
lo
rd
s 
an
d 
a 
re
la
tiv
el
y 
lo
w
 s
up
pl
y 
of
 p
riv
at
el
y 
le
t f
la
ts
 a
nd
 s
m
al
le
r 
si
ze
d 
dw
el
lin
gs
.  

S
om
e 
in
cr
ea
se
s 
in
 p
ur
ch
as
e 
by
 in
ve
st
or
s 
of
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
to
 le
t a
re
 in
 e
vi
de
nc
e 
bu
t t
he
 m
aj
or
ity
 o
f t
he
se
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
ar
e 
of
fe
re
d 
at
 

ve
ry
 h
ig
h 
m
ar
ke
t r
en
ts
 th
at
 a
re
 n
ot
 a
cc
es
si
bl
e 
by
 th
os
e 
in
 h
ou
si
ng
 n
ee
d.
 T
he
 C
ity
 o
f W

or
ce
st
er
 h
as
 a
 g
re
at
er
 s
up
pl
y 
of
 h
ou
se
s 
in
 

m
ul
tip
le
 o
cc
up
at
io
n 
th
an
 o
th
er
 d
is
tr
ic
ts
 b
ut
 th
e 
po
or
 c
on
di
tio
n 
of
 s
om
e 
is
 n
ot
 c
on
du
ci
ve
 to
 m
ak
in
g 
th
em
 a
ttr
ac
tiv
e 
le
ts
.  
 

          

Page 138



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

S
U
M
M
A
R
Y
 

 W
h
ils
t 
th
e 
C
o
u
n
ty
 o
b
je
ct
iv
e 
is
 r
ed
u
ce
 t
h
e 
o
ve
ra
ll 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
d
w
el
lin
g
s 
fa
ili
n
g
 u
n
d
er
 D
ec
en
t 
H
o
m
es
 S
ta
n
d
ar
d
s 
ac
cr
o
ss
 

th
e 
C
o
u
n
ty
, t
h
e 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 is
 t
o
 f
o
cu
s 
re
so
u
rc
es
 u
p
o
n
 r
ed
u
ci
n
g
 t
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
n
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 
h
o
m
es
 o
cc
u
p
ie
d
 b
y 

vu
ln
er
ar
ab
le
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s.
 

  T
h
er
e 
ar
e 
fo
u
r 
ke
y 
P
I’s
 t
h
at
 r
el
at
e 
to
 v
u
ln
er
ab
le
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 
liv
in
g
 in
 n
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 
h
o
m
es
. 

 
• 

A
cr
o
ss
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
th
e 
av
er
ag
e 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
al
l d
w
el
lin
g
s 
th
at
 a
re
 n
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 
an
d
 o
cc
u
p
ie
d
 b
y 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 

p
eo
p
le
 is
 7
%
.  

 
• 

A
cr
o
ss
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
th
e 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
n
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 
d
w
el
lin
g
s 
th
at
 a
re
 o
cc
u
p
ie
d
 b
y 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 
is
 

18
.1
 %
 (
13
,7
68
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s)
.  

  
• 

A
cr
o
ss
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
th
e 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
al
l 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 
th
at
 a
re
 c
la
ss
if
ie
d
 a
s 
liv
in
g
 i
n
 n
o
n
 d
ec
en
t 

h
o
m
es
 is
 4
1%
 (
13
,7
68
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s)
 

  
• 

A
cr
o
ss
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
th
e 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
al
l 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s  
th
at
 a
re
 c
la
ss
if
ie
d
 a
s 
liv
in
g
 i
n
 d
ec
en
t 
h
o
m
es
 

is
 m
ea
n
s 
 5
9%
 (
19
,6
11
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s)
  

  W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
as
p
ir
es
 t
o
 in
cr
ea
si
n
g
 t
h
e 
p
ro
p
rt
io
n
 o
f 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 
th
at
 li
ve
 in
 d
ec
en
t 
h
o
m
es
 t
o
 7
0%
 b
y 
20
15
. 

B
as
ed
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e 
av
er
ag
e 
co
st
 o
f 
to
ta
lly
 e
lim

in
at
in
g
 f
ai
lu
re
 u
n
d
er
 D
ec
en
t 
H
o
m
es
 s
ta
n
d
ar
d
s 
b
ei
n
g
 £
8,
36
0 
p
er
 p
ro
p
er
ty
, 

th
e 
to
ta
l c
o
st
 o
f 
ac
h
ie
vi
n
g
 t
h
is
 t
ar
g
et
 e
q
u
at
es
 t
o
 £
12
,6
57
,0
70
. (
ca
lc
 –
 1
1%
 in
cr
ea
se
 =
 1
,5
14
 p
ro
p
er
ti
es
 x
 £
8,
36
0 
= 

£1
2,
65
7,
04
0)
  

      

Page 139



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 T
h
is
 e
q
u
at
es
 t
o
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
al
 in
ve
st
m
en
t 
re
q
u
ir
em

en
t 
o
f 
£2
,5
31
,4
08
p
a.
 H
o
w
ev
er
 it
 m
u
st
 b
e 
re
co
g
n
is
ed
 t
h
at
 s
ig
n
io
fi
ca
n
t 

im
p
ro
ve
m
en
ts
 in
 r
ed
u
ci
n
g
 C
at
eg
o
ry
 1
 H
az
ar
d
s 
ca
n
 b
e 
ac
h
ie
ve
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 lo
w
er
 le
ve
ls
 o
f 
in
ve
st
m
en
t.
 

 W
h
ils
t 
w
e 
re
al
is
e 
th
at
 t
h
is
 le
ve
l o
f 
in
ve
st
m
en
t 
m
ay
 b
e 
d
if
fi
cu
lt
 t
o
 a
ch
ie
ve
 o
u
r 
b
id
 is
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e 
b
as
is
 o
f 
th
e 

in
d
ic
at
ed
 le
ve
l o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 li
ke
ly
 t
o
 b
e 
av
ai
la
b
le
 t
h
ro
u
ig
h
 t
h
e 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e.
 

  K
E
Y
 P
R
IV
A
T
E
 S
E
C
T
O
R
 H
O
U
S
IN
G
 P
R
IO
R
IT
IE
S
 

 
• 

T
o 
in
cr
ea
se
 th
e 
pr
op
or
tio
n 
of
 v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
an
d 
lo
w
 in
co
m
e 
ho
us
eh
ol
ds
 li
vi
ng
 in
 a
 d
ec
en
t h
om
es
 fr
ee
 fr
om
 h
az
ar
ds
. 

 
• 

T
o 
in
cr
ea
se
 th
er
m
al
 e
ffi
ci
en
cy
 a
nd
 a
ffo
rd
ab
le
 w
ar
m
th
. 

 
• 

T
o 
in
te
gr
at
e 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 L
oa
n 
pr
od
uc
ts
 w
ith
in
 th
e 
ra
ng
e 
of
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
of
fe
re
d 
by
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
IA
. 

 
• 

T
o 
of
fe
r 
ho
m
e 
ow
ne
rs
 a
 r
an
ge
 o
f o
pt
io
ns
 to
 e
na
bl
e 
th
em
 to
 c
ar
ry
 o
ut
 r
ep
ai
r 
w
or
ks
 w
he
re
 th
e 
co
st
 e
xc
ee
ds
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 

di
sc
re
tio
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
 m
ax
im
um
 o
r 
w
he
re
 th
ey
 a
re
 n
o 
lo
ng
er
 a
va
ila
bl
e 
or
 a
re
 o
ve
r 
su
bs
cr
ib
ed
. 

 
• 

T
o 
of
fe
r 
a 
w
ay
 o
f e
na
bl
in
g 
ho
m
e 
ow
ne
rs
 to
 fi
na
nc
e 
D
F
G
 a
da
pt
at
io
ns
 w
he
re
 th
e 
to
ta
l c
os
t e
xc
ee
ds
 th
e 
gr
an
t m
ax
im
um
.  
 

  2.
 

L
O
C
A
L
 P
O
L
IC
Y
 O
B
JE
C
T
IV
E
S
 

  C
o
u
n
ty
 S
tr
at
eg
ic
 V
is
io
n
 

 ‘C
re
at
in
g
 t
h
e 
ri
g
h
t 
p
la
ce
s 
to
 li
ve
 w
it
h
in
 o
u
r 
lo
ca
l c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s,
 

m
ee
ti
n
g
 n
ee
d
s 
b
y 
m
ak
in
g
 t
h
e 
b
es
t 
u
se
 o
f 
ex
is
ti
n
g
 r
es
o
u
rc
es
’ 

     

Page 140



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

T
he
 p
ur
po
se
 o
f t
hi
s 
sc
he
m
e 
is
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 a
 s
ol
ut
io
n 
fo
r 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 a
nd
 lo
w
 in
co
m
e 
ho
m
e 
ow
ne
rs
 in
 th
e 
pr
iv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 to
 im
pr
ov
e 

th
ei
r 
ho
us
in
g 
co
nd
iti
on
s 
by
 b
ei
ng
 a
bl
e 
to
 e
as
ily
 a
cc
es
s 
fu
nd
in
g.
 T
hi
s 
sc
he
m
e 
is
  b
ei
ng
 m
ad
e 
av
ai
la
bl
e 
to
 g
ro
up
s 
in
 n
ee
d 

th
ro
ug
ho
ut
 th
e 
si
x 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s’
 a
re
as
 in
 th
e 
w
ho
le
 o
f W

or
ce
st
es
hi
re
. 

 W
hi
ls
t e
ac
h 
of
 th
e 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
in
vo
lv
ed
 o
pe
ra
te
 s
lig
ht
ly
 d
iff
er
en
lty
 in
 th
e 
pr
ov
is
io
n 
of
 a
ss
is
ta
nc
e 
to
 p
riv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 o
w
ne
rs
, a
ll 

ha
ve
 th
e 
co
m
m
on
 b
as
e 
of
 b
rin
gi
ng
 p
ro
pe
rt
y 
to
w
ar
ds
 th
e 
D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 S
ta
nd
ar
ds
 a
nd
 th
e 
ex
pe
ct
at
io
ns
 s
et
 o
ut
 in
 th
e 
H
ou
si
ng
 

A
ct
 2
00
4.
 T
he
 n
ee
ds
 o
f t
he
 d
iff
er
en
t a
re
as
 w
ill
 v
ar
y 
an
d 
th
is
 s
ch
em
e 
is
 fl
ex
ib
le
 e
no
ug
h 
to
 r
ec
og
ni
se
 th
os
e 
di
ffe
re
nc
es
. 

  C
o
u
n
ty
 P
ri
va
te
 S
ec
to
r 
P
o
lic
y 
O
b
je
ct
iv
es
 

 T
he
 s
pe
ci
fic
 a
im
s 
an
d 
ob
je
ct
iv
es
 o
f t
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 S
ch
em
e 
ar
e:
 

 
• 

T
o 
he
lp
 s
up
po
rt
 e
xi
st
in
g 
ne
ig
hb
ou
rh
oo
ds
 a
nd
 e
nc
ou
ra
ge
 s
us
ta
in
ab
ili
ty
  

• 
T
o 
im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 
en
vi
ro
nm
en
t f
or
 th
e 
be
ne
fit
 o
f t
he
 p
op
ul
at
io
n 

• 
T
o 
en
co
ur
ag
e 
th
e 
us
e 
of
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
w
hi
ch
 a
re
 in
 p
oo
r 
re
pa
ir 
or
 e
m
pt
y 

• 
T
o 
ra
is
e 
th
e 
st
an
da
rd
 o
f h
ou
si
ng
 w
he
re
ve
r 
po
ss
ib
le
 

• 
T
o 
en
ab
le
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
to
 o
ffe
r 
an
 a
dd
iti
on
al
 to
ol
 to
 a
ss
is
t r
es
id
en
ts
 a
t a
 ti
m
e 
of
 r
ed
uc
ed
 fu
nd
in
g 
re
so
ur
ce
s 

• 
T
o 
as
si
st
 r
es
id
en
ts
 to
 in
ve
st
 in
 th
ei
r 
ho
m
es
 fo
r 
fu
tu
re
 g
en
er
at
io
ns
 a
nd
 le
ng
th
en
 th
e 
lif
e 
of
 th
e 
ex
is
tin
g 
ho
us
in
g 
st
oc
k 

• 
T
o 
pr
ov
id
e 
qu
al
ity
 h
ou
si
ng
 s
to
ck
 a
nd
 in
cr
ea
se
 th
e 
nu
m
be
rs
 o
f h
ea
lth
y 
ho
m
es
 

• 
T
o 
su
pp
or
t d
is
ab
le
d 
pe
op
le
 w
he
re
 th
e 
co
st
 o
f t
he
 w
or
ks
 e
xc
ee
ds
 th
e 
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y 
of
 D
is
ab
le
d 
F
ac
ili
tie
s 
ra
nt
 a
ss
is
ta
nc
e.
   

• 
T
o 
en
ab
le
 in
de
pe
nd
en
t l
iv
in
g 
w
he
re
 a
t a
ll 
po
ss
ib
le
 

• 
T
o 
im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 
qu
al
ity
 o
f p
riv
at
e 
re
nt
ed
 a
cc
om
m
od
at
io
n 

 O
ve
ra
ll 
th
e 
sc
he
m
e 
se
ek
s 
to
 s
up
po
rt
 a
nd
 d
em
on
st
ra
te
 a
pp
ro
ac
he
s 
on
 a
 jo
in
t w
or
ki
ng
 b
as
is
 w
ith
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
an
d 
H
IA
’s
 

w
or
ki
ng
 to
ge
th
er
 to
 a
dd
re
ss
 th
e 
G
ov
er
nm
en
t’s
 lo
ng
 te
rm
 k
ey
 p
rio
rit
y 
of
 d
ec
en
t a
ffo
rd
ab
le
 h
ou
si
ng
 fo
r 
al
l. 

        

Page 141



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

S
co
p
e 
o
f 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e 

 T
he
 p
ro
po
se
d 
sc
he
m
e 
w
ill
 s
er
ve
 th
e 
si
x 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
on
 a
 c
lie
nt
 b
as
e 
th
ro
ug
h 
a 
ne
w
 C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t 

A
ge
nc
y 
an
d 
w
ill
 a
dd
re
ss
 is
su
es
 r
el
at
in
g 
to
 D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 a
nd
 th
e 
H
ou
si
ng
 A
ct
 2
00
4 
(P
ar
t 1
) 
ac
ro
ss
 th
e 
ar
ea
s 

in
vo
lv
ed
 e
qu
al
ly
. 

 E
ac
h 
of
 th
e 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
ha
ve
 e
xi
st
in
g 
pr
og
ra
m
m
es
 o
f s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
lo
ca
l r
es
id
en
ts
 b
as
ed
 u
po
n 
di
sc
re
tio
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s.
 T
he
se
 

ar
e 
be
in
g 
un
ifi
ed
 a
cc
ro
ss
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
an
d 
w
ill
 b
e 
lim
ite
d 
to
 u
nd
er
 £
5,
00
0.
 It
 is
 e
nv
is
ag
ed
 th
at
 th
ey
 w
ill
 c
on
tin
ue
 to
 th
e 
ex
te
nt
 th
at
 

fu
nd
in
g 
fr
om
 e
ac
h 
lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 
w
ill
 p
er
m
it 
fo
r 
sp
ec
ifi
c 
si
tu
at
io
ns
 w
he
re
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e 
is
 n
ot
 a
pr
op
ria
te
 –
 fo
r 
ex
am
pl
e 

w
he
re
 th
e 
ow
ne
r 
do
es
 n
ot
 h
av
e 
su
ffi
ci
en
t c
ol
la
te
ra
l i
n 
th
e 
pr
op
er
ty
 to
 a
llo
w
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 s
ch
em
e 
to
 o
pe
ra
te
 o
r 
w
he
re
 th
e 
ur
ge
nc
y 

of
 th
e 
w
or
ks
 is
 s
uc
h 
th
at
 th
e 
tim
es
ca
le
 fo
r 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 E
qu
ity
 R
el
ea
se
 lo
an
s 
w
ou
ld
 n
ot
 b
e 
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 e
ve
n 
th
ou
gh
 o
w
ne
rs
 m
ee
t 

re
le
va
nt
 c
rit
er
ia
 fo
r 
as
si
st
an
ce
 H
ow
ev
er
, i
t i
s 
re
co
gn
is
ed
 th
at
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 
bu
dg
et
s 
fo
r 
th
e 
pr
ov
is
io
n 
of
 d
is
cr
et
io
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s 
ar
e 

lim
ite
d 
an
d 
in
 ti
m
e 
ar
e 
lik
el
y 
to
 b
e 
ph
as
ed
 o
ut
. K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 n
on
 e
qu
ity
 lo
an
s 
ar
e 
th
er
ef
or
e 
se
en
 to
 b
e 
a 
va
lu
ab
le
 o
pt
io
n 
fo
r 

cu
st
om
er
s 
to
 c
on
si
de
r 
in
 s
up
pl
em
en
tin
g 
th
e 
lim
ite
d 
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y 
of
 d
is
cr
et
io
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s 
an
d 
th
at
 in
 ti
m
e,
 a
re
 li
ke
ly
 to
 r
ep
la
ce
 th
em
.  

 T
he
 s
ch
em
e,
 b
as
ed
 o
n 
th
e 
ne
ed
 to
 im
pr
ov
e 
ho
us
in
g 
co
nd
iti
on
s,
 w
ill
 e
nc
om
pa
ss
 th
e 
D
ec
en
t H
om
es
 C
rit
er
ia
 a
nd
 th
er
m
al
 c
om
fo
rt
 

to
ge
th
er
 w
ith
 a
dd
re
ss
in
g 
se
rio
us
 h
az
ar
ds
 a
s 
de
fin
ed
 in
 th
e 
H
ou
si
ng
 A
ct
 2
00
4.
 V
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
ho
us
eh
ol
ds
 w
ill
 b
e 
as
si
st
ed
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 

th
ei
r 
pr
op
er
tie
s 
ar
e 
im
pr
ov
ed
 to
 m
od
er
n 
da
y 
ex
pe
ct
at
io
ns
 th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n 
of
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 P
ro
gr
am
m
e.
 

 T
he
 s
ch
em
e 
w
ill
 p
ro
m
ot
e 
th
e 
ad
di
tio
na
l o
pt
io
ns
 to
 c
lie
nt
s 
of
 lo
an
s 
an
d 
eq
ui
ty
 r
el
ea
se
 w
ith
 a
n 
ac
kn
ow
le
dg
em
en
t t
ha
t H
IA
’s
 c
ou
ld
 

pr
ov
id
e 
ad
vi
ce
 a
nd
 s
up
po
rt
 to
 h
el
p 
pe
op
le
 a
cc
es
s 
fu
nd
in
g 
op
tio
ns
. 

 A
s 
pa
rt
 o
f t
he
 s
ch
em
e 
it 
is
 p
ro
po
se
d 
th
at
 th
er
e 
w
ill
 b
e 
a 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 P
er
fo
rm
an
ce
 M
on
ito
rin
g 
an
d 
P
ro
gr
am
m
e 
B
oa
rd
 w
ith
 o
ffi
ce
r 

re
pr
es
en
ta
tio
n 
fr
om
 e
ac
h 
of
 th
e 
m
em
be
r 
au
th
or
iti
es
 in
 a
dd
iti
on
 to
 r
ep
re
se
nt
at
iv
es
 fr
om
 A
rt
 H
om
es
 L
td
, K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 a
nd
 th
e 
H
IA
 a
s 

sc
he
m
e 
m
an
ag
er
s.
 T
hi
s 
B
oa
rd
 w
ill
 r
ep
or
t t
o 
th
e 
W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
P
er
fo
rm
an
ce
 M
an
ag
em
en
t B
oa
rd
 a
t 

ea
ch
 o
f i
ts
 m
ee
tin
gs
. 

        

Page 142



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

    P
o
lic
y 
C
ri
te
ri
a 
an
d
 E
lig
ib
ili
ty
 

 W
hi
ls
t s
om
e 
Lo
ca
l A
uo
th
or
iti
es
 c
on
tin
ue
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 li
m
ite
d 
pr
iv
at
e 
se
ct
or
 d
is
cr
es
tio
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s,
 it
 is
 r
ec
go
ni
se
d 
th
at
 c
ap
ita
l 

fu
nd
in
g 
co
ul
d 
po
te
nt
ia
lly
 d
im
in
is
h 
in
 th
e 
fu
tu
re
, t
he
re
fo
re
 th
e 
im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 s
ch
em
e 
is
 s
ee
n 
as
 a
 v
al
ua
bl
e 

ad
di
tio
n 
to
 g
ra
du
al
ly
 s
up
pl
em
en
t a
nd
 in
 ti
m
e 
re
pl
ac
e 
di
sc
re
tio
na
ry
 g
ra
nt
s.
   
In
 th
e 
m
ea
nt
im
e,
 it
 is
 p
ro
po
se
d 
th
at
 th
os
e 

W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
th
at
 a
re
 a
bl
e 
to
 o
pe
ra
te
 th
ei
r 
in
di
vi
du
al
 g
ra
nt
s 
sc
he
m
es
 w
ill
 c
on
tin
ue
 to
 d
o 
so
 u
p 
to
 a
 lo
ca
lly
 a
gr
ee
d 

am
ou
nt
 (
£5
,0
00
) 
an
d 
pr
om
ot
e 
th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 s
ch
em
e 
as
 a
 v
ia
bl
e 
op
tio
n 
fo
r 
w
or
ks
 in
 e
xc
es
s 
of
 £
30
00
. K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 N
on
 E
qu
ity
 L
oa
ns
 

w
ill
 b
e 
pr
ov
id
ed
 to
 s
up
pl
em
en
t a
nd
 a
s 
an
 a
lte
rn
at
iv
e 
op
tio
n 
to
 th
es
e 
gr
an
ts
 fo
r 
ca
se
s 
be
lo
w
 £
2,
00
0.
 

 T
he
 c
rit
er
ia
 is
 d
es
ig
ne
d 
to
 c
at
ch
 th
os
e 
gr
ou
ps
 m
os
t s
us
ce
pt
ib
le
 to
 h
ea
lth
 r
is
ks
 a
s 
a 
re
su
lt 
of
 p
oo
r 
ho
us
in
g 
co
nd
iti
on
s 
(t
he
 e
ld
er
ly
, 

lo
ng
-t
er
m
 s
ic
k,
 d
is
ab
le
d,
 fa
m
ili
es
 w
ith
 s
m
al
l c
hi
ld
re
n)
 w
ho
 d
o 
no
t h
av
e 
th
e 
re
so
ur
ce
s 
ne
ce
ss
ar
y 
to
 m
ak
e 
re
pa
irs
 a
nd
 

im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
 to
 th
ei
r 
ho
m
es
. 

 F
or
 a
pp
lic
an
ts
 to
 b
e 
el
ig
ib
le
 fo
r 
co
ns
id
er
at
io
n 
un
de
r 
th
e 
sc
he
m
e,
 th
ey
 m
us
t:-
 

 
• 

B
e 
a 
ho
m
e 
ow
ne
r 

• 
H
av
e 
ha
d 
th
ei
r 
pr
op
er
ty
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 b
ei
ng
 n
on
 d
ec
en
t o
r 
pr
es
en
tin
g 
a 
se
rio
us
 h
az
ar
d 
as
 d
ef
in
ed
 b
y 
T
he
 H
ou
si
ng
 A
ct
 

20
04
 (
pa
rt
 1
) 

• 
H
av
e 
be
en
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
(a
s 
de
fin
ed
 in
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l g
ui
da
nc
e)
 o
r 
be
 o
n 
a 
lo
w
 in
co
m
e 
w
ith
 in
su
ffi
ci
en
t s
av
in
gs
 

(lo
ca
l c
rit
er
ia
 to
 b
e 
se
t w
ith
 d
is
cr
et
io
n 
to
 a
ut
ho
ris
e 
ou
ts
id
e 
cr
ite
ria
 b
y 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 P
er
fo
rm
an
ce
 &
 M
on
ito
rin
g 
B
oa
rd
 o
n 
a 
ca
se
 

by
 c
as
e 
ba
si
s)
  

• 
H
av
e 
un
de
rg
on
e 
in
iti
al
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t b
y 
a 
ca
se
w
or
ke
r 
th
at
 h
as
 e
lim
in
at
ed
 a
ll 
 o
th
er
 s
ou
rc
es
 o
f f
un
di
ng
 o
r 
as
si
st
an
ce
 

 A
pp
lic
at
io
ns
 th
at
 q
ua
lif
y 
fo
r 
fu
rt
he
r 
co
ns
id
er
at
io
n 
w
ill
 th
en
 b
e 
su
bj
ec
t t
o 
fu
rt
he
r 
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t b
y 
A
rt
 H
om
es
 u
nd
er
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 

S
ch
em
e.
 

     

Page 143



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

    In
d
ic
at
o
rs
 o
f 
O
u
tc
o
m
es
 a
n
d
 S
u
cc
es
s.
 

 T
he
 m
ai
n 
ou
tc
om
e 
of
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
S
tr
at
eg
y 
in
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 w
ith
 th
e 
H
IA
 a
nd
 th
e 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e 
w
ill
 b
e 
to
 a
ch
ie
ve
 a
 r
ed
uc
tio
n 
in
 

th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 n
on
 d
ec
en
t h
om
es
 o
cc
up
ie
d 
by
 n
on
 v
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
pe
op
le
. W

e 
ai
m
 to
 m
ak
e 
30
0 
m
or
e 
pr
iv
at
e 
ho
m
es
 th
at
 a
re
 

oc
cu
pi
ed
 b
y 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 p
eo
pl
e 
de
ce
nt
 b
y 
20
15
. 

 A
 r
an
ge
 o
f s
uc
ce
ss
 in
di
ca
to
rs
 a
re
 b
ei
ng
 d
ev
el
op
ed
 in
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 w
ith
 th
e 
ne
w
 H
IA
 to
 tr
ac
k 
th
e 
im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 th
e 
st
ra
te
gy
. 

                    

Page 144



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

   3.
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 F
IT
 W
IT
H
 K
IC
K
 S
T
A
R
T
 

K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 
B
u
si
n
es
s 

P
la
n
 

L
o
ca
l D
el
iv
er
y 
P
la
n
 L
in
ks
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 1
 

E
n
su
ri
n
g
 h
o
m
eo
w
n
er
s 

ar
e 
tr
ea
te
d
 f
ai
rl
y 
an
d
 

eq
u
al
ly
 w
h
en
 u
si
n
g
 

p
u
b
lic
ly
 s
u
b
si
d
is
ed
 h
o
m
e 

im
p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
 s
er
vi
ce
s 

§ 
A
ll 
H
IA
 a
pp
lic
an
ts
 w
ill
 r
ec
ei
ve
 a
n 
ad
vi
so
ry
 v
is
it 
fr
om
 a
 c
as
ew
or
ke
r 
w
ho
 w
ill
 c
ar
ry
 o
ut
 a
n 
op
tio
ns
 

ap
pr
ai
sa
l t
o 
id
en
tif
y 
th
e 
m
os
t a
pp
ro
pr
ia
te
 m
et
ho
d 
of
 a
ch
ie
vi
ng
 th
e 
re
qu
ire
d 
ou
tc
om
e.
 C
lie
nt
s 

fo
r 
w
ho
m
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 lo
an
s 
ar
e 
an
 a
pp
ro
pr
ia
te
 o
pt
io
n 
w
ill
 b
e 
re
fe
rr
ed
 fo
r 
a 
fo
llo
w
 u
p 
vi
si
t b
y 
th
e 

H
IA
’s
 a
pp
oi
nt
ed
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t C
as
e 
W
or
ke
r 
to
 p
ro
vi
de
 a
 h
ig
he
r 
le
ve
l o
f s
up
po
rt
in
g 

ad
vi
ce
 a
nd
 in
fo
rm
at
io
n 
pr
io
r 
to
 a
 r
ef
er
ra
l b
ei
ng
 m
ad
e 
to
 A
rt
 H
om
es
.  

§ 
P
riv
at
e 
S
ec
to
r 
H
ou
si
ng
 P
ol
ic
y 
an
d 
P
ro
ce
du
re
 is
 b
ei
ng
 d
ev
el
op
ed
 th
ro
ug
h 
a 
Le
an
 M
an
ag
em
en
t 

A
na
ly
si
s 
w
hi
ch
 w
ill
 th
en
 b
e 
su
bj
ec
t t
o 
an
 E
qu
al
iti
es
 Im
pa
ct
 A
ss
es
sm
en
t. 

§ 
A
 d
ed
ic
at
ed
 H
IA
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t C
as
ew
or
ke
r 
is
 p
ro
po
se
d 
be
in
g 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 n
ec
es
sa
ry
 to
 

bu
ild
 u
p 
cl
ie
nt
 c
on
fid
en
ce
 in
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
du
ct
s 
an
d 
to
 d
ev
el
op
 a
 c
on
si
st
en
t u
nd
er
st
an
di
ng
 

am
on
gs
t H
IA
 g
en
er
ic
 c
as
ew
or
ke
rs
 o
f t
he
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
du
ct
s 
an
d 
th
ei
r 
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n.
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 2
 

E
n
su
ri
n
g
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
at
e 

se
rv
ic
e 
st
an
d
ar
d
s 
an
d
 

q
u
al
it
ie
s 
ar
e 
p
ro
vi
d
ed
 t
o
 

h
o
m
eo
w
n
er
s 
an
d
 m
ad
e 

av
ai
la
b
le
 w
it
h
in
 

re
as
o
n
ab
le
 t
im
es
ca
le
s 

§ 
F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 ta
rg
et
s 
to
 a
ch
ie
ve
 F
ou
nd
at
io
ns
 S
ta
tu
s 
by
 2
01
2 
 

§ 
S
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 a
re
 to
 b
e 
av
ai
la
bl
e 
w
ith
in
 a
 w
el
co
m
e 
pa
ck
 to
 b
e 
pr
ov
id
ed
 to
 e
ve
ry
 c
lie
nt
. 

§ 
T
im
es
ca
le
s 
fo
r 
se
rv
ic
e 
de
liv
er
y 
ar
e 
to
 b
e 
m
on
ito
re
d,
 m
an
ag
ed
 a
nd
 r
ep
or
te
d 
th
ro
ug
h 
a 
K
ic
k 

S
ta
rt
 O
ffi
ce
r 
G
ro
up
 to
 th
e 
H
IA
 P
er
fo
rm
an
ce
 a
nd
 M
an
ag
em
en
t B
oa
rd
 o
n 
a 
qu
ar
te
rly
 b
as
is
. 

§ 
C
us
to
m
er
 s
er
vi
ce
 q
ue
st
io
nn
ai
re
s 
ar
e 
to
 b
e 
an
al
ys
ed
 a
nd
 r
ep
or
te
d 
fo
r 
th
e 
pu
rp
os
es
 o
f 

id
en
tif
yi
ng
 le
ve
ls
 o
f c
us
to
m
er
 s
at
is
fa
ct
io
n 
w
ith
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e.
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 3
 

A
n
 im

p
ro
ve
d
 

u
n
d
er
st
an
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e 

co
st
s 
o
f 
d
el
iv
er
y 
to
 

m
ax
im
is
e 
th
e 
u
se
 o
f 

p
u
b
lic
 f
u
n
d
s 
an
d
 b
al
an
ce
 

§ 
S
ta
tis
tic
al
 a
na
ly
si
s 
of
 th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 e
nq
ui
rie
s 
th
at
 h
av
e 
ge
ne
ra
te
d 
th
e 
ne
ed
 fo
r 
a 
vi
si
t b
y 
th
e 

H
IA
’s
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t C
as
ew
or
ke
r,
 in
di
ca
tin
g 
th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 h
ou
rs
 d
ed
ic
at
ed
 to
 in
iti
al
 

ad
vi
ce
 a
nd
 a
ss
is
ta
nc
e 
an
d 
th
e 
nu
m
be
r 
of
 s
uc
ce
ss
fu
l K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 a
pp
lic
at
io
ns
 it
 h
as
 a
ch
ie
ve
d.
   

Page 145



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

th
e 
o
p
er
at
io
n
al
 c
o
st
s 

ag
ai
n
st
 t
h
e 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
es
 o
f 

se
rv
ic
e 
u
se
rs
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 4
 

M
ax
im
is
in
g
 t
h
e 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s 
o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

to
g
et
h
er
, f
o
r 
ex
am
p
le
, t
o
 

m
ak
e 
m
an
ag
em
en
t 

o
ve
rh
ea
d
s 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
al
 

to
 t
h
e 
o
p
er
at
io
n
al
 s
ca
le
 

o
f 
se
rv
ic
e 
u
se
rs
. 

§ 
D
el
iv
er
y 
of
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
du
ct
s 
is
 a
n 
in
te
gr
al
 p
ar
t o
f t
he
 H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 
S
er
vi
ce
 

ac
ro
ss
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
. 

§ 
Jo
in
t p
ro
m
ot
io
n 
of
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 w
ith
in
 th
e 
ge
ne
ra
l p
ro
m
ot
io
n 
of
 th
e 
H
IA
. 

§ 
M
ax
im
is
at
io
n 
of
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s 
fo
r 
lo
w
 c
os
t /
 fr
ee
 p
ro
m
ot
io
n 
th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 
an
d 

pa
rt
ne
r 
ag
en
cy
 n
ew
sl
et
te
rs
 a
nd
 C
us
to
m
er
 In
fo
rm
at
io
n 
C
en
tr
es
. 

§ 
A
nn
ua
l r
ev
ie
w
 o
f t
he
 n
ee
d 
fo
r 
a 
de
di
ca
te
d 
H
IA
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t. 
In
iti
al
ly
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 

ne
ce
ss
ar
y 
to
 b
ui
ld
 u
p 
cl
ie
nt
 c
on
fid
en
ce
 in
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
du
ct
s 
an
d 
a 
co
ns
is
te
nt
 u
nd
er
st
an
di
ng
 

am
on
gs
t H
IA
 c
as
ew
or
ke
rs
. T
hi
s 
m
ay
 b
ec
om
e 
le
ss
 n
ec
es
sa
ry
 in
 fo
llo
w
in
g 
ye
ar
s 
an
d 
m
ay
 

en
ab
le
 th
e 
ro
le
 to
 b
e 
m
er
ge
d 
fu
lly
 in
to
 H
IA
 C
as
e 
w
or
ke
r 
po
st
s.
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 5
 

Im
p
ro
vi
n
g
 o
u
r 

u
n
d
er
st
an
d
in
g
 o
f 
lo
an
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e 
p
er
fo
rm
an
ce
 

d
ri
ve
rs
, i
m
p
ro
vi
n
g
 a
b
ili
ty
 

to
 d
es
ig
n
 a
n
d
 m
an
ag
e 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
es
 t
h
at
 a
re
 

ca
p
ab
le
 o
f 
m
ak
in
g
 a
n
 

im
p
ac
t 
an
d
 b
ei
n
g
 

d
el
iv
er
ed
 o
n
 t
im
e 
/ i
n
 

b
u
d
g
et
 

§ 
C
lie
nt
 e
nq
ui
re
s 
an
d 
re
fe
rr
al
s 
w
ill
 b
e 
tr
ac
ed
 a
ga
in
st
 fo
rm
s 
of
 m
ar
ke
tin
g 
ac
tiv
ity
 to
 a
ss
es
s 
V
F
M
 

an
d 
su
cc
es
s 
of
 a
dv
er
tis
em
en
t. 

§ 
P
ro
po
se
d 
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t o
f a
 m
ec
ha
ni
sm
 to
 r
ec
or
d 
su
cc
es
sf
ul
 c
om
pl
et
io
ns
 d
em
og
ra
ph
ic
 a
nd
 

de
pr
iv
at
io
n 
da
ta
. 

§ 
A
na
ly
si
s 
of
 q
ua
rt
er
ly
 s
pe
nd
. 

§ 
A
na
ly
si
s 
of
 r
ef
er
ra
l t
o 
co
m
pl
et
io
n 
(a
nd
 s
ta
ge
d)
 p
er
fo
rm
an
ce
. 

          

Page 146



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

    4.
 

O
U
T
P
U
T
S
 P
R
O
F
IL
E
 (
L
D
P
1)
 

K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 C
o
re
 O
u
tp
u
ts
 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
 

1 
Q
u
ar
te
r 
 

2 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

3 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

4 

10
/1
1 

T
o
ta
l 

P
ro
je
ct
ed
 

11
/1
2 

T
o
ta
l 

P
ro
je
ct
ed
 

12
/1
3 

T
o
ta
l 

P
ro
je
ct
ed
 
A
ll 
ye
ar
s 
 

P
ro
je
ct
ed
 

K
P
I 1
 –
 T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
el
ig
ib
le
 

h
o
m
eo
w
n
er
 r
ec
ei
vi
n
g
 a
n
 a
d
vi
so
ry
 

h
o
m
e 
vi
si
t 
re
su
lt
in
g
 in
 a
 r
ec
o
rd
 o
f 

ad
vi
ce
 g
iv
en
 

50
 

10
0 

20
0 

25
0 

60
0 
 

65
0 

70
0 

1.
95
0 

K
P
I 2
 –
 T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
lo
w
 in
co
m
e 

h
o
m
eo
w
n
er
s 
w
h
o
 a
d
d
re
ss
ed
 

el
ig
ib
le
 w
o
rk
s 
(e
.g
. r
ep
ai
r,
 

re
lo
ca
ti
o
n
 o
r 
ad
ap
ta
ti
o
n
s)
 u
si
n
g
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 o
th
er
 t
h
an
 t
h
e 
af
fo
rd
ab
le
 

E
q
u
it
y 
S
h
ar
e 
L
o
an
s 
(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

U
n
se
cu
re
d
 L
o
an
s)
. 

 
 

 
 

In
cl
ud
ed
 

in
 K
P
I 3
 

be
lo
w
. 

In
cl
ud
ed
 

in
 K
P
I 3
 

be
lo
w
. 

In
cl
ud
ed
 in
 

K
P
I 3
 

be
lo
w
. 

 

K
P
I 3
 –
 T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 

h
o
m
eo
w
n
er
s 
w
h
o
 a
d
d
re
ss
ed
 

el
ig
ib
le
 w
o
rk
s 
(e
.g
. r
ep
ai
r,
 

re
lo
ca
ti
o
n
 o
r 
ad
ap
ta
ti
o
n
s)
 u
si
n
g
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 o
th
er
 t
h
an
 t
h
e 
af
fo
rd
ab
le
 

E
q
u
it
y 
S
h
ar
e 
L
o
an
s 
(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

U
n
se
cu
re
d
 L
o
an
s)
 

0 
0 

5 
25
 

30
 (i
nc
 2
 5
 

th
ro
ug
h 
K
S
 

N
on
 E
qu
ity
 

Lo
an
s 
an
d 
5 

D
F
G
 to
p 

up
s)
 

40
 (i
nc
 3
5 

th
ro
ug
h 
K
S
 

N
on
 E
qu
ity
 

Lo
an
s 
an
d 
5 

D
F
G
 to
p 

up
s)
 

40
 (i
nc
 3
5 

th
ro
ug
h 
K
S
 N
on
 

E
qu
ity
 L
oa
ns
 

an
d 
5 
D
F
G
 to
p 

up
s)
 

11
0 

K
P
I4
 –
 T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
h
o
m
eo
w
n
er
s 

re
fe
rr
ed
 f
o
r 
fi
n
an
ci
al
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t 

to
 id
en
ti
fy
 t
h
e 
m
o
st
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
at
e 

lo
an
 p
ro
d
u
ct
 r
eq
u
ir
ed
 t
o
 m
ee
t 
th
ei
r 

n
ee
d
s 

0 
10
 

30
 

40
 

80
 

10
0 

10
0 

28
0 

K
P
I 5
 –
 T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
E
q
u
it
y 

0 
0 

6 
30
 

36
 

48
 

48
 

13
2 

Page 147



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

S
h
ar
e 
L
o
an
s 
re
ac
h
in
g
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

to
 f
u
n
d
 im

p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
o
r 
re
lo
ca
ti
o
n
 

w
o
rk
s 

 O
th
er
 N
on
-C
or
e 
O
ut
pu
ts
 

Q
u
ar
te
r 

1 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

2 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

3 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

4 
10
/1
1 

T
o
ta
l 

11
/1
2 

T
o
ta
l 

12
/1
3 

T
o
ta
l 

A
ll 

ye
ar
s 

T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
U
n
se
cu
re
d
 L
o
an
s 
re
ac
h
in
g
 

co
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 im
p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
w
o
rk
s*
 

0 
0 

5 
20
 

25
 

45
 

45
 

13
5 

T
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
D
is
ab
le
d
 F
ac
ili
ti
es
 G
ra
n
t 

ap
p
lic
at
io
n
s 
ap
p
ro
ve
d
, w
h
er
e 
th
e 
co
st
 o
f 

w
o
rk
s 
ex
ce
ed
s 
£3
0,
00
0 

0 
0 

2 
3 

5 
(b
as
ed
 

up
on
 

as
su
m
pt
io
n 

th
at
 

ch
ar
ita
bl
e 

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns
 

w
ill
 s
til
l b
e 

so
ug
ht
) 

5 
 

(b
as
ed
 u
po
n 

as
su
m
pt
io
n 

th
at
 

ch
ar
ita
bl
e 

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns
 

w
ill
 s
til
l b
e 

so
ug
ht
) 

5 
(b
as
ed
 

up
on
 

as
su
m
pt
io
n 

th
at
 

ch
ar
ita
bl
e 

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns
 

w
ill
 s
til
l b
e 

so
ug
ht
) 

15
 

Page 148



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 • 
P
ro
je
ct
ed
 o
ut
pu
ts
 a
re
 b
as
ed
 u
po
n 
an
 a
ss
um

pt
io
n 
th
at
 th
er
e 
w
ill
 b
e 
hi
gh
er
 d
em

an
d 
in
 th
e 
ea
rly
 s
ta
ge
s 
of
 

th
e 
W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 S
ch
em

e 
fo
r 
no
n 
se
cu
re
d 
lo
an
s.
 T
hi
s 
is
 b
as
ed
 u
po
n 
an
 a
ss
um

ed
 n
ee
d 
to
 b
ui
ld
 u
p 

co
nf
id
en
ce
 in
 e
qu
ity
 r
el
ea
se
, t
he
 c
ur
re
nt
 im

pa
ct
 o
f t
he
 e
co
no
m
ic
 c
lim

at
e 
up
on
 le
ve
ls
 o
f n

eg
at
iv
e 
eq
ui
ty
 

an
d 
th
e 
tim

e 
th
at
 it
 w
ill
 li
ke
ly
 ta
ke
 fo
r 
cl
ie
nt
s 
to
 a
cc
ep
t t
ha
t t
he
 a
va
ila
bi
lit
y 
of
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 
di
sc
re
tio
na
ry
 

gr
an
ts
 is
 d
im
in
is
hi
ng
. 

 
• 

W
hi
ls
t i
t i
s 
ap
pr
ec
ia
te
d 
th
at
 th
e 
pr
oj
ec
te
d 
ou
tp
ut
s 
fo
r 
ye
ar
 o
ne
 a
re
 q
ui
te
 a
m
bi
tio
us
 fo
r 
a 
ne
w
ly
 fo
rm
in
g 
se
rv
ic
e,
 c
ar
ef
ul
 

co
ns
id
er
at
io
n 
ha
s 
be
en
 g
iv
en
 b
y 
th
e 
P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 a
nd
 th
e 
ta
rg
et
s 
ha
ve
 b
ee
n 
se
t i
n 
th
e 
kn
ow
le
dg
e 
th
at
: 

 
§ 

F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 a
s 
m
an
ag
er
s 
of
 th
e 
ne
w
 C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
IA
 a
re
 to
 r
ec
ru
it 
th
e 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t C
as
ew
or
ke
r 

in
 a
dv
an
ce
 o
f t
he
 A
pr
il 
1s
t c
om
m
en
ce
m
en
t. 

§ 
W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t (
£2
00
k)
 a
nd
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
cu
rr
en
tly
 o
ffe
r 
re
pa
ya
bl
e 
lo
an
 o
pt
io
ns
 w
ith
 c
on
si
de
ra
bl
e 
ta
ke
 u
p 
an
d 

in
te
re
st
.  
 

     5.
 

F
IN
A
N
C
IA
L
 P
R
O
F
IL
E
 (
L
D
P
2)
 

L
D
P
2 
F
in
an
ci
al
 P
ro
fi
le
 2
01
0/
13
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

20
10
/1
1 

F
u
tu
re
 Y
ea
rs
 

 
P
R
O
JE
C
T
S
 

Q
u
ar
te
r 

1 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

2 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

3 
Q
u
ar
te
r 

4 
20
10
/1
1 
T
o
ta
l 

20
11
/1
2 

20
12
/1
3 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m

e 
T
o
ta
l 

L
O
A
N
 F
U
N
D
S
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

E
qu
ity
 S
ha
re
 L
oa
ns
 

N
il 
 

N
il 
 

50
k 
 

25
0k
  

30
0,
00
0 

40
0,
00
0 
 

40
0,
00
0 
 

1,
10
0,
00
0 

O
th
er
 lo
an
s 
(U
ns
ec
ur
ed
 

&
 R
ep
ay
m
en
t)
 

N
il 
 

 N
il 

 2
0k
 

40
k 
 

60
,0
00
 

 8
0,
00
0 

10
0,
00
0 
 

24
0,
00
0 

T
o
ta
l L
o
an
 f
u
n
d
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

36
0,
00
0 

48
0,
00
0 
 

50
0,
00
0 
 

1,
34
0,
00
0 

D
E
L
IV
E
R
Y
 F
U
N
D
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Page 149



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

S
ta
ff
 C
o
st
s 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

M
an
ag
em
en
t 

  
  

  
  

5,
00
0 

5,
05
0 
 

5,
10
0 
 

15
,1
50
 

A
dm
in
is
tr
at
io
n 

  
  

  
  

11
,0
00
 

11
,1
10
  

11
,2
20
  

33
,3
30
 

T
ec
hn
ic
al
 s
ta
ff 

  
  

  
  

16
,0
00
 

16
,1
60
  

16
,3
20
  

48
,4
80
 

C
as
ew
or
ke
rs
 

  
  

  
  

60
,4
67
 

52
,7
45
  

44
,4
16
 

15
7,
62
8 

O
th
er
 C
o
st
s 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

M
ar
ke
tin
g 

  
  

  
  

10
,0
00
 

5,
00
0 
 

5,
00
0 
 

20
,0
00
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n 

  
  

  
  

3,
00
0 

1,
00
0 
 

1.
00
0 
 

5,
00
0 

T
ra
in
in
g 

  
  

  
  

5,
00
0 

2,
50
0 
 

 2
,5
00
 

10
,0
00
 

O
th
er
 

  
  

  
  

0 
 0
 

0 
 

0 

T
o
ta
l D
el
iv
er
y 
F
u
n
d
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

11
0,
46
7 

(2
3.
5%

) 
 

93
,5
65
 

(1
6.
3%

) 
85
,5
56
 

(1
4.
6%

) 
28
9,
58
8 

T
o
ta
l –
 A
ll 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 

(l
o
an
 &
 D
el
iv
er
y 
F
u
n
d
) 

0 
0 

0 
0 

47
0,
46
7 

57
3,
56
5 

58
5,
55
6 

1,
62
9,
58
8 

  

Page 150



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

V
al
u
e 
fo
r 
M
o
n
ey
 

 T
he
 fi
na
nc
ia
l p
ro
fil
e 
is
 b
as
ed
 u
po
n 
th
e 
ca
pa
ci
ty
 o
f 1
 F
/T
 H
IA
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t C
as
ew
or
ke
r 
an
d 
an
 e
qu
iv
al
en
t o
f 2
0%

 o
f 6
 H
IA
 

G
en
er
ic
 C
as
ew
or
ke
rs
 in
 y
ea
r 
1.
 T
he
 p
ro
po
rt
io
n 
of
 G
en
er
ic
 C
as
ew
or
ke
rs
 ti
m
e 
ch
ar
ge
d 
to
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 is
 p
ro
je
ct
ed
 to
 r
ed
uc
e 
to
 1
5%
 

in
 y
ea
r 
2 
an
d 
12
.5
%
 in
 y
ea
r 
3.
  

T
he
 c
ap
ac
ity
 o
f a
 c
as
ew
or
ke
r 
to
 d
el
iv
er
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 r
el
at
ed
 w
or
k 
is
 d
et
ai
le
d 
in
 th
e 
ta
bl
e 
be
lo
w
.  

 

K
S
 
S
p
ec
ia
lis
t 

C
as
ew
o
rk
er
 

A
ct
iv
it
y 

N
o
 o
f 

C
as
es
 

T
im
e 

S
p
en
t 

T
o
ta
l 

H
o
u
rs
 

P
re
lim

in
ar
y 
en
q
u
ir
ie
s 
&
 in
it
ia
l v
is
it
 

25
0 

5 
ho
ur
s 

1,
25
0 

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
s 
w
it
h
 A
R
T
 a
n
d
 f
u
rt
h
er
 

su
p
p
o
rt
 / 
vi
si
ts
 

12
5 

5 
ho
ur
s 

62
5 

P
ro
ce
ss
in
g
 a
n
 E
q
u
it
y 
S
h
ar
e 
L
o
an
 

50
 

25
 h
ou
rs
 

1,
25
0 

P
ro
ce
ss
in
g
 a
n
 U
n
se
cu
re
d
 L
o
an
 

54
 

9 
ho
ur
s 

48
6 

T
O
T
A
L
 H
O
U
R
S
  (
37
 x
 4
5w
ks
 x
 2
.2
 =
 3
66
3 
h
rs
) 

3,
61
1 

 In
 a
dd
iti
on
 w
e 
es
tim
at
e 
0.
5 
F
T
E
 T
ec
hn
ic
al
 O
ffi
ce
r 
an
d 
0.
5 
F
T
E
 A
dm
in
 O
ffi
ce
r.
 

      

Page 151



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

D
el
iv
er
y 
C
o
st
s 

F
T
E
 

R
at
e 

T
o
ta
l C
o
st
 

H
IA
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 

S
p
ec
ia
lis
t 

C
as
ew
o
rk
er
 

1.
00
 

£2
7,
48
5 

£2
7,
48
5 

20
%
 o
f 
6 
G
en
er
ic
 H
IA
 

ca
se
w
o
rk
er
s 
Y
r 
1 

(1
5%
 Y
r 
2 
&
 1
2.
5%
 Y
r 

3)
 

1.
2 
 

0.
9 

0.
6 

£2
7,
48
5 

£3
2,
98
2 
(Y
r 
1)
 

£2
4,
73

7 
(Y
r2
) 

£1
6,
49

1 
(Y
r3
) 

T
ec
h
n
ic
al
 O
ff
ic
er
 

0.
50
 

£3
2,
00
0 

£1
6,
00
0 

A
d
m
in
is
tr
at
io
n
 

0.
50
 

£2
2,
00
0 

£1
1,
00
0 

M
an
ag
em

en
t 
 

 
 

   
   
   
£5
,0
00
 

T
o
ta
l S
ta
ff
 C
o
st
s 

£9
2,
46
7 

T
o
ta
l C
ap
it
al
 E
xp
en
d
it
u
re
 

£5
37
,0
00
 

S
ta
ff
 C
o
st
s 
as
 a
 p
er
ce
n
ta
g
e 
o
f 
C
ap
it
al
 E
xp
en
d
it
u
re
 

Y
r 
1-
 1
9.
9%

  

Y
r 
2 
– 
14
.8
%
 

Y
r 
3 
– 
13
.1
%
 

T
o
ta
l D
el
iv
er
y 
C
o
st
s 
as
 a
 p
er
ce
n
ta
g
e 
o
f 
C
ap
it
al
 

E
xp
en
d
it
u
re
 

Y
r 
1-
  2
3.
5%

 

Y
r 
2 
- 
16
.3
%
 

Y
r 
3 
- 
14
.6
%
 

 A
ll 
m
an
ag
em
en
t a
nd
 o
n 
co
st
s 
no
t d
et
ai
le
d 
in
 L
P
T
2 
w
ill
 b
e 
m
et
 b
y 
th
e 
H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y.
 

    

Page 152



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

A
  R
ol
e 
P
ro
fil
e 
fo
r 
th
e 
C
ou
nt
y 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t C
as
ew
or
ke
r 
is
 a
tta
ch
ed
 a
t A
pp
en
di
x 
2.
 

6.
 

M
ile
st
o
n
e 
P
ro
fi
le
 (
L
D
P
3)
 

 M
ile
st
o
n
es
 2
01
0/
11
 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
1 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
2 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
3 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
4 

 
1.
 R
ec
ru
it
m
en
t 

E
xi
st
in
g 
S
ta
ff 
fr
om
 N
or
th
 a
nd
 

S
ou
th
 H
IA
s 
T
U
P
E
 in
to
 n
ew
 

or
ga
ni
sa
tio
n.
 

 A
pp
oi
nt
 K
S
 S
pe
ci
al
is
t 

C
as
ew
or
ke
r 
by
 e
nd
 o
f q
ua
rt
er
 

 
 

 

2.
 T
ra
in
in
g
 o
f 
st
af
f 

. T
ra
in
in
g 
of
 a
ll 
ne
w
 te
ch
ni
ca
l 

st
af
f t
o 
H
H
S
R
S
 

2.
  T
ra
in
in
g 
fo
r 
al
l s
ta
ff 
an
d 

pa
rt
ne
rs
 o
n 
ag
re
ed
 

pr
oc
ed
ur
es
 

3.
  O
pe
ra
tio
na
l s
ta
ff 
tr
ai
ne
d 

(A
R
T
) 

4.
  L
ea
d 
au
th
or
ity
 to
 p
ro
vi
de
 

di
re
ct
io
n 
fo
r 
tr
ai
ni
ng
 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
to
 m
ee
t 

ex
pe
ct
at
io
n 
of
 p
ar
tn
er
s 

 5.
 R
eg
ul
ar
 fe
ed
ba
ck
 s
es
si
on
s 

to
 e
ns
ur
e 
st
af
f a
re
 c
le
ar
 a
bo
ut
 

th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
st
an
da
rd
s 
an
d 

ha
ve
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s 
to
 a
dd
 

va
lu
e 
to
 th
e 
pr
oc
es
s.
 

 
  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f. 

 R
eg
ul
ar
 fe
ed
ba
ck
 s
es
si
on
s 
to
 

en
su
re
 s
ta
ff 
ar
e 
cl
ea
r 
ab
ou
t 

th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
st
an
da
rd
s 
an
d 

ha
ve
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s 
to
 a
dd
 

va
lu
e 
to
 th
e 
pr
oc
es
s.
 

 

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f. 

  R
eg
ul
ar
 fe
ed
ba
ck
 s
es
si
on
s 

to
 e
ns
ur
e 
st
af
f a
re
 c
le
ar
 

ab
ou
t t
he
 s
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 

an
d 
ha
ve
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s 
to
 

ad
d 
va
lu
e 
to
 th
e 
pr
oc
es
s.
 

 

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f. 

  R
eg
ul
ar
 fe
ed
ba
ck
 s
es
si
on
s 

to
 e
ns
ur
e 
st
af
f a
re
 c
le
ar
 

ab
ou
t t
he
 s
er
vi
ce
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
 

an
d 
ha
ve
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s 
to
 

ad
d 
va
lu
e 
to
 th
e 
pr
oc
es
s.
 

 

3.
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

M
ar
ke
ti
n
g
  

1.
 A
gr
ee
 H
IA
 c
om
m
un
ic
at
io
n 

pr
oc
es
s 
w
ith
 le
ad
 L
A
 

2.
 A
gr
ee
 s
ch
em
e 
br
an
di
ng
 

w
ith
 a
ll 
pa
rt
ne
rs
 

 1.
 M
ar
ke
tin
g 
m
at
er
ia
ls
 

pr
od
uc
ed
 

2.
 C
am
pa
ig
n 
co
m
m
en
ce
s-
 

M
aj
or
 s
ch
em
e 
m
ar
ke
tin
g 

 
 M
aj
or
 s
ch
em
e 
m
ar
ke
tin
g 

 
M
aj
or
 s
ch
em
e 
m
ar
ke
tin
g 

       

Page 153



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

m
aj
or
 s
ch
em
e 
m
ar
ke
tin
g.
 

 3.
 In
fo
rm
 b
ui
ld
in
g 
co
nt
ra
ct
or
s 

ab
ou
t t
he
 p
rin
ci
pl
es
 o
f t
he
 

K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e,
 th
at
 

ho
m
eo
w
ne
rs
 a
re
 p
ay
in
g 
fo
r 

th
ei
r 
w
or
k,
 h
ig
hl
ig
ht
in
g 
th
e 

ad
de
d 
va
lu
e 
th
at
 c
on
tr
ac
to
rs
 

ca
n 
br
in
g 
to
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 

 

 4.
 L
ea
d
  L
A
 r
es
p
o
n
si
b
ili
te
s 
 
 A
gr
ee
 b
et
w
ee
n 
pa
rt
ne
r 
LA
’s
 

re
po
rt
in
g 
an
d 
su
pp
or
t 

pr
oc
es
se
ss
 

 1.
 A
gr
ee
 p
ro
ce
du
re
s 
w
ith
 a
ll 

pa
rt
ne
rs
 

2.
 R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
re
er
in
g 
gr
ou
p 

 3
. L
ea
d 
au
th
or
ity
 to
 a
gr
ee
 w
ith
 

pa
rt
ne
rs
 a
nd
 c
on
ce
pt
s 
of
 

ex
pe
ct
ed
 s
ta
nd
ar
ds
. 

 4.
 P
ro
ce
du
re
 d
oc
um
en
t 

pr
od
uc
ed
 a
nd
 

im
pl
em
en
te
d 
 

5.
  R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
ee
rin
g 
gr
ou
p 

 

   
 

5.
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n
 

A
da
pt
 F
E
M
IS
 d
at
ab
as
e 
(H
IA
) 

to
 e
na
bl
e 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
re
po
rt
s 

to
 b
e 
pr
od
uc
ed
. 

 S
te
er
in
g 
gr
ou
p 
se
t u
p 
. 

 R
ev
ie
w
  h
om
eo
w
ne
r 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n 
to
 c
he
ck
 c
la
rit
y 

an
d 
th
at
 it
 r
em
ai
ns
 u
p 
to
 d
at
e 

to
 h
el
p 
ho
m
eo
w
ne
r 

un
de
rs
ta
nd
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
an
d 

ca
n 
m
ak
e 
in
fo
rm
ed
 c
ho
ic
es
 

 
P
ro
du
ce
 c
us
to
m
er
 

sa
tis
fa
ct
io
n 
su
rv
ey
s 
in
 

as
so
ci
at
io
n 
w
ith
 le
ad
 L
A
 

 R
ev
ie
w
  h
om
eo
w
ne
r 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n 
to
 c
he
ck
 c
la
rit
y 

an
d 
th
at
 it
 r
em
ai
ns
 u
p 
to
 

da
te
 to
 h
el
p 
ho
m
eo
w
ne
r 

un
de
rs
ta
nd
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 
an
d 

ca
n 
m
ak
e 
in
fo
rm
ed
 c
ho
ic
es
 

E
va
lu
at
e 
in
iti
al
 p
ro
m
ot
io
n 

ca
m
pa
ig
n 
in
 a
so
ci
at
io
n 
w
ith
 

st
re
er
in
g 
gr
ou
p 
 

     

Page 154



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

M
ile
st
o
n
es
 2
01
1/
12
 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
1 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
2 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
3 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
4 

 
1.
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

M
ar
ke
ti
n
g
  

F
ol
lo
w
 o
n 
ad
ve
rt
is
in
g 
 

F
ol
lo
w
 o
n 
ad
ve
rt
is
in
g 
 

A
do
pt
 a
ny
 c
ha
ng
es
  

F
ol
lo
w
 o
n 
ad
ve
rt
is
in
g 
 

F
ol
lo
w
 o
n 
ad
ve
rt
is
in
g 

2.
 T
ra
in
in
g
 o
f 
st
af
f 
 

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f 

3 
L
ea
d
 L
A
 r
es
p
o
n
si
b
ili
ti
es
  

1.
Im
pl
em
en
t a
ny
 a
lte
ra
tio
ns
 

to
 s
ch
em
e 
fo
llo
w
in
g 
re
vi
ew
. 

2.
 R
ev
ie
w
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 

w
or
ki
ng
 a
nd
 e
xp
ec
ta
tio
ns
 

R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
ee
rin
g 
gr
ou
p 
 

R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
ee
rin
g 
gr
ou
p 
 

C
o-
or
di
na
te
 e
nd
 o
f y
ea
r 

re
po
rt
, r
ev
ie
w
 o
f o
ut
co
m
es
 

an
d 
re
la
tio
ns
hi
ps
 

4.
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n
  

R
ev
ie
w
 m
ar
ke
tin
g 
st
ra
te
gy
 

an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 
of
 s
ch
em
e 

w
ith
 s
te
er
in
g 
gr
ou
p 

 
 

E
va
lu
at
e 
cl
ie
nt
 s
at
is
fa
ct
io
n 

su
rv
ey
s 
w
ith
 s
te
er
in
g 

gr
ou
p 
an
d 
pa
rt
ne
rs
  

 M
ile
st
o
n
es
 2
01
2/
13
 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
1 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
2 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
3 

Q
u
ar
te
r 
4 

 
1.
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

M
ar
ke
ti
n
g
  

R
ev
ie
w
 m
ar
ke
tin
g 
st
ra
te
gy
 

an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 

F
ol
lo
w
 o
n 
ad
ve
rt
is
in
g 
 

F
ol
lo
w
 o
n 
ad
ve
rt
is
in
g 

 

2.
 T
ra
in
in
g
 o
f 
st
af
f 
 

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

C
on
tin
ui
ng
 s
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
st
af
f  

3 
L
ea
d
 L
A
 r
es
p
o
n
si
b
ili
ti
es
  

Im
pl
em
en
t a
ny
 a
lte
ra
tio
ns
 to
 

sc
he
m
e 
fo
llo
w
in
g 
re
vi
ew
 

R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
ee
rin
g 
gr
ou
p 
 

R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
ee
rin
g 
gr
ou
p 
 

R
ep
or
ts
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 to
 

st
ee
rin
g 
gr
ou
p 

R
ev
ie
w
 w
ith
 a
ll 
pa
rt
ne
rs
 

th
e 
sc
he
m
e 
an
d 
m
ov
e 
to
 

ne
xt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
 

4.
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n
  

R
ev
ie
w
 m
ar
ke
tin
g 
st
ra
te
gy
 

an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 
of
 s
ch
em
e 

w
ith
 s
te
er
in
g 
gr
ou
p 
 

 
 

E
va
lu
at
e 
cl
ie
nt
 s
at
is
fa
ct
io
n 

su
rv
ey
s 
w
ith
 s
te
er
in
g 

gr
ou
p 
an
d 
pa
rt
ne
s 
 

 R
ev
ie
w
 s
ch
em
e 
w
ith
 a
l 

pa
rt
ne
rs
  

         

Page 155



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

7.
 P
ro
je
ct
 D
el
iv
er
y 

T
h
e 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e 

 R
o
le
s 
an
d
 R
es
p
o
n
si
b
ili
ti
es
 

 T
he
 k
ey
 d
el
iv
er
y 
pa
rt
ne
rs
 a
re
: 

 
• 

T
he
 s
ix
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
w
or
ki
ng
 jo
in
tly
 –
 B
ro
m
sg
ro
ve
 D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il,
 R
ed
di
tc
h 
B
or
ou
gh
 C
ou
nc
il,
 M
al
ve
rn
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
ou
nc
il,
 W
or
ce
st
er
 C
ity
 C
ou
nc
il,
 W
yc
ha
vo
n 
D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il,
 W
yr
e 
F
or
es
t D
is
tr
ic
t C
ou
nc
il 
 

 
• 

W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 C
ou
nt
y 
C
ou
nc
il 
– 
S
up
po
rt
in
g 
P
eo
pl
e 

 
• 

H
IA
 

 
• 

K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 (
A
R
T
 H
om
es
) 

  L
o
ca
l A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 r
o
le
 

 G
en
er
al
  

 
• 

E
ac
h 
of
 th
e 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
as
so
ci
at
ed
 w
ith
 th
e 
pr
ov
is
io
n 
of
 th
is
 K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
en
su
re
s,
 th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
le
ad
 

au
th
or
ity
 th
at
 th
ei
r 
st
ra
te
gi
es
, p
ol
ic
ie
s 
an
d 
pr
oc
es
se
s 
re
fle
ct
 th
e 
us
e 
of
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
an
d 
th
e 
as
so
ci
at
ed
 

re
la
tio
ns
hi
ps
 w
ith
 th
e 
H
IA
 in
vo
lv
ed
. 

 • 
E
ac
h 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
y 
en
su
re
s 
th
at
 in
fo
rm
at
io
n 
ab
ou
t t
he
 m
ak
eu
p,
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t a
nd
 c
ha
ng
es
 to
 th
ei
r 
ar
ea
s 
ar
e 
re
fle
ct
ed
 in
 

up
da
te
d 
st
at
eg
ie
s 
an
d 
po
lic
ie
s 
to
 e
na
bl
e 
an
 a
cc
ur
at
e 
as
se
ss
m
en
t t
o 
be
 m
ad
e 
th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
sc
he
m
e 
as
 a
 w
ho
le
 a
s 
to
 n
ee
ds
 

an
d 
ex
pe
ct
at
io
ns
 fo
r 
th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e.
 

   

Page 156



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

  
• 

T
o 
lia
is
e 
on
 a
 m
on
th
y 
ba
si
s 
in
 th
e 
fir
st
 y
ea
r 
m
ov
in
g 
to
 a
 q
ua
rt
er
ly
 b
as
is
 th
er
ea
fte
r 
th
ro
ug
h 
th
e 
le
ad
 a
ut
ho
rit
y 
w
ith
 th
e 

pa
rt
ne
rs
 in
vo
lv
ed
 w
ith
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
an
d 
en
su
re
 th
at
 r
el
ev
an
t a
nd
 ti
m
el
y 
in
fo
rm
at
io
n 
is
 a
va
ila
bl
e 
fo
r 
th
at
 

pu
rp
os
e.
 

 
• 

E
ac
h 
au
th
or
ity
 w
ill
 e
nc
ou
ra
ge
 th
e 
us
e 
of
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
in
 th
ei
r 
ar
ea
s,
 li
ai
si
ng
 w
ith
 th
e 
H
IA
. 

  L
ea
d
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 –
 W
o
rc
es
te
rs
h
ir
e 
C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l –
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
eo
p
le
 T
ea
m
 a
s 
le
ad
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 c
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
in
g
 t
h
e 
H
o
m
e 

Im
p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
A
g
en
cy
.  
 

 
• 

A
ll 
of
 th
e 
ge
ne
ra
l r
eq
ui
re
m
en
ts
 in
 r
es
pe
ct
 to
 th
ei
r 
ar
ea
, t
og
et
he
r 
w
ith
 th
e 
re
po
rt
in
g 
an
d 
co
ns
ol
id
at
io
n 
ro
le
 fo
r 
th
e 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
as
 a
 w
ho
le
. 

 
• 

E
ns
ur
in
g 
th
at
 th
e 
pr
oc
es
se
s,
 p
ro
ce
du
re
s 
an
d 
st
ra
te
gi
es
 a
re
 in
 p
la
ce
 fo
r 
th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
as
 a
 w
ho
le
 a
nd
 th
at
 th
ey
 a
re
 u
p 
to
 

da
te
. 

 
• 

Li
ai
so
n 
w
ith
 th
e 
gr
ou
p 
of
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ite
s 
on
 a
 r
eg
ul
ar
 b
as
is
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
e 
 s
ch
em
e 
is
 o
pe
ra
tin
g 
in
 li
ne
 w
ith
 th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 

bu
si
ne
ss
 p
la
n 
an
d 
ex
pe
ct
at
io
ns
 o
f t
ho
se
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s.
 

 
• 

Li
ai
so
n 
w
ith
 th
e 
H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
ie
s 
in
vo
lv
ed
 w
ith
 th
e 
sc
he
m
e 
on
 a
 m
on
th
ly
 b
as
is
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
is
 

ru
nn
in
g 
in
 a
cc
or
da
nc
e 
w
ith
 e
xp
ec
ta
tio
ns
. 

 
• 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th
e 
st
af
f i
nv
ol
ve
d 
w
ith
 th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
ar
e 
pr
op
er
ly
 tr
ai
ne
d 
an
d 
as
se
ss
ed
 to
 m
ee
t t
he
 c
rit
er
ia
 o
f t
he
 a
ct
iv
ity
 

an
d 
th
e 
H
ou
si
ng
 A
ct
 2
00
4 
(H
H
S
R
S
).
 

 
• 

A
pp
ro
pr
ia
te
 li
ai
so
n 
ta
ke
s 
pl
ac
e 
w
ith
 A
rt
 H
om
es
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
e 
su
cc
es
sf
ul
 im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e.
  

     

Page 157



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 H
o
m
e 
Im
p
ro
ve
m
en
t 
A
g
en
cy
  

 R
ol
es
 a
nd
 R
es
po
ns
ib
ili
tie
s 
of
  W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t A
ge
nc
y 

 T
he
 s
ix
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
w
ill
 e
nt
er
 i
nt
o 
an
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
t 
w
ith
 F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
IA
 t
o 
de
liv
er
 t
he
 K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
in
 a
ll 
si
x 
ar
ea
s.
  
T
he
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 a
im
s 
to
 a
ss
is
t 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 a
nd
 lo
w
 in
co
m
e 
ho
m
eo
w
ne
rs
 r
et
ai
n 
th
ei
r 
in
de
pe
nd
en
ce
 

an
d 
re
m
ai
n 
in
 th
ei
r 
ow
n 
ho
m
e 
th
ro
ug
h 
a 
ra
ng
e 
of
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
in
cl
ud
in
g:
 

 
• 

P
A
Ls
 (
A
rt
 H
om
es
) 

 
• 

H
ou
se
pr
ou
d 
(H
om
e 
Im
pr
ov
em
en
t T
ru
st
) 
??
? 

 
• 

M
in
or
 W
or
ks
 G
ra
nt
s 
(D
is
re
tio
na
ry
 G
ra
nt
s)
 

 
• 

W
ar
m
fr
on
t 

 
• 

D
is
ab
le
d 
F
ac
ili
tie
s 
G
ra
nt
s 

 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
IA
 w
ill
 b
e 
re
sp
on
si
bl
e 
fo
r 
m
an
ag
in
g 
th
e 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
 e
nq
ui
ry
 li
st
s,
 a
ss
es
si
ng
 a
ll 
cl
ie
nt
s,
 u
nd
er
ta
ki
ng
 in
iti
al
 

fin
an
ci
al
 a
ss
es
sm
en
ts
, t
ec
hn
ic
al
 s
ur
ve
ys
 a
nd
 d
el
iv
er
in
g 
th
e 
w
or
ks
 o
n 
si
te
. W

or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
IA
 w
ill
 w
or
k 
to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
e 
co
ns
is
te
nt
 

de
liv
er
y 
of
 t
he
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
ac
ro
ss
 t
he
 s
ix
 a
re
as
, 
w
ith
 a
 ‘
no
 b
ou
nd
ar
y’
 p
ol
ic
y 
in
 p
la
ce
 i
n 
or
de
r 
to
 s
m
oo
th
 o
ut
 a
ny
 p
ea
ks
 a
nd
 

tr
ou
gh
s 
in
 n
ee
d.
  

 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 H
IA
 w
ill
 a
pp
oi
nt
 a
 c
oo
rd
in
at
or
 t
o 
be
 r
es
po
ns
ib
le
 f
or
 t
he
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t 
an
d 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 a
n 
ef
fe
ct
iv
e 
m
ar
ke
tin
g 

st
ra
te
gy
 w
ith
 a
ll 
of
 t
he
 s
ix
 p
ar
tn
er
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s,
 t
he
 s
tr
at
eg
ic
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t 
of
 t
he
 s
er
vi
ce
, 
m
on
ito
r 
an
d 
en
su
re
 P
er
fo
rm
an
ce
 

In
di
ca
to
rs
 a
re
 m
et
 a
nd
 p
ro
du
ce
 m
on
ito
rin
g 
re
po
rt
s 
to
 th
e 
le
ad
 A
ut
ho
rit
y 
an
d 
th
e 
pa
rt
ne
rin
g 
Lo
ca
l A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s.
 

       

Page 158



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 A
R
T
 H
o
m
es
 L
td
   
 

 T
he
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
ie
s 
w
ill
 e
nt
er
 in
to
  c
on
tr
ac
tu
ra
l  
ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 fo
r 
th
e 
pr
ov
is
oi
n 
of
 th
e 
lo
an
s 
se
rv
ic
e 
on
 te
rm
s 
to
 b
e 
ag
re
ed
.  
T
he
 

fo
llo
w
in
g 
se
rv
ic
es
 w
ill
 b
e 
pr
ov
id
ed
 b
y 
A
R
T
 H
om
es
: 

 In
d
iv
id
u
al
 L
o
an
 a
d
m
in
si
tr
at
io
n
 w
hi
ch
 in
cl
ud
e 
lo
gg
in
g 
ca
se
s,
 in
iti
al
 a
ss
es
sm
en
ts
 a
nd
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 
lia
is
on
; t
el
ep
ho
ne
 c
on
ta
ce
 

w
ith
 c
lie
nt
s;
 li
ai
so
n 
w
ith
 v
al
ue
rs
; o
bt
ai
ni
ng
 c
re
di
t r
ef
er
en
ce
s;
 m
ak
in
g 
lo
an
 o
ffe
rs
; l
ia
is
on
 w
ith
 c
lie
nt
s’
 S
ol
ic
ito
rs
 a
nd
 is
su
in
g 

co
m
pl
et
io
n 
ch
eq
ue
s.
  

 A
n
n
u
al
 f
u
n
d
 m
an
ag
em

en
t 
w
hi
ch
 in
cl
ud
es
 b
ac
k 
of
fic
e 
ch
ar
ge
s 
fr
om
 A
R
T
 H
om
es
; m
on
ito
rin
g 
an
d 
re
po
rt
in
g;
 r
es
po
nd
in
g 
to
 

qu
er
ie
s 
fr
om
 b
or
ro
w
er
s 
an
d 
la
w
ye
rs
; r
eg
ul
ar
 c
on
ta
ct
 w
ith
 b
or
ro
w
er
s;
 le
ga
l a
nd
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t i
ss
ue
s;
 a
dm
in
is
tr
at
oi
n 
of
 lo
an
 

re
de
m
pt
io
ns
; s
ys
te
m
 r
ev
ie
w
 a
nd
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t. 

 S
ch
em

e 
d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t/
co
n
su
lt
an
cy
 w
hi
ch
 in
cl
ud
es
 p
ro
du
ct
io
n 
of
 s
ta
nd
ar
d 
le
ga
l a
gr
ee
m
en
t i
n 
as
so
ci
at
io
n 
w
ith
 B
irm
in
gh
am
 C
ity
 

C
ou
nc
il 
an
d 
K
ic
ks
ta
rt
 r
eg
ul
at
or
y 
an
d 
fin
an
ce
 c
om
pl
ia
nc
e;
 s
up
po
rt
 a
nd
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 fo
r 
of
fic
er
s;
 s
up
po
rt
 a
nd
 s
et
 u
p 
of
 “
fr
on
t e
nd
” 

de
liv
er
y 
m
ec
ha
ni
sm
s;
 p
ol
ic
y 
ad
vi
ce
; d
ev
el
op
m
en
t o
f p
ro
ce
ss
es
; m
ar
ke
tin
g 
an
d 
pu
bl
ic
ity
. 

 T
he
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 S
ch
em
e 
m
an
ag
ed
 b
y 
F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 H
IA
 w
ill
 d
ev
el
op
 w
or
ki
ng
 p
ra
ct
ic
es
 b
as
ed
 u
po
n:
 

• 
A
n 
un
de
rs
ta
nd
in
g 
of
 th
e 
C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
re
si
de
nt
s 
an
d 
th
e 
ho
us
in
g 
st
oc
k;
 

• 
A
 p
la
nn
ed
 m
ar
ke
tin
g 
ca
m
pa
ig
n 
an
d 
su
bs
eq
ue
nt
 r
ev
ie
w
; 

• 
D
ev
el
op
in
g 
a 
go
od
 w
or
ki
ng
 r
el
at
io
ns
hi
p 
w
ith
 A
R
T
 H
om
es
; 

• 
W
or
ki
ng
 w
ith
 a
pp
ro
ve
d 
co
nt
ra
ct
or
s 
w
ho
 p
ro
vi
de
 a
n 
in
su
ra
nc
e 
ba
ck
ed
 w
ar
ra
nt
y;
 

• 
A
 s
pe
ci
al
is
t c
as
ew
or
ke
r 
to
 a
ch
ie
ve
 a
 fu
ll 
un
de
rs
ta
nd
in
g 
of
 c
lie
nt
’s
 c
irc
um
st
an
ce
s 
an
d 
op
tio
ns
; 

• 
B
oo
ki
ng
 a
n 
ap
po
in
tm
en
t w
ith
 a
 fi
na
nc
ia
l a
dv
is
or
 d
ur
in
g 
a 
vi
si
t; 

• 
U
si
ng
 a
n 
ou
tli
ne
 s
pe
ci
fic
at
io
n 
w
hi
ch
 a
llo
w
s 
th
e 
cl
ie
nt
 a
nd
 c
on
tr
ac
to
rs
 to
 d
is
cu
ss
 a
nd
 a
gr
ee
 th
e 
de
ta
ile
d 
sp
ec
ifi
ca
tio
n;
 

• 
H
ol
di
ng
 p
re
-s
ta
rt
 m
ee
tin
gs
 w
ith
 c
lie
nt
s 
an
d 
of
fe
rin
g 
a 
gu
id
an
ce
;  

   

Page 159



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

8.
 Q
u
al
it
y 
S
ta
n
d
ar
d
s 

F
es
tiv
al
 
H
ou
si
ng
 
as
 
pr
ov
id
er
 
of
 
th
e 

W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 
H
om

e 
Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 
A
ge
nc
y 

ta
rg
et
s 

to
 
ac
hi
ev
e 

F
ou
nd
at
io
ns
 Q
ua
lit
y 
M
ar
k 

st
an
da
rd
 b
y 
A
pr
il 
20
11
.  

C
u
st
o
m
er
 S
at
is
fa
ct
io
n
 

A
ll 
H
IA
 c
us
to
m
er
s 
w
ill
 b
e 
su
rv
ey
ed
 b
y 
th
e 
us
e 
of
 c
us
to
m
er
 q
ue
st
io
nn
ai
re
 a
nd
 r
es
ul
ts
 w
ill
 b
e 
re
po
rt
ed
 t
o 
th
e 

qu
ar
te
rly
 m
ee
tin
gs
 o
f 

 th
e 
H
IA
 P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 M
an
ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd
. 

 T
he
 le
ad
 a
ut
ho
rit
y 
w
ill
 m
on
ito
r 
th
e 
pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 o
f t
he
 a
ge
nc
y 
ag
ai
ns
t t
he
 b
as
el
in
e 
in
di
ca
to
rs
 w
ith
 r
eg
ul
ar
 r
ep
or
ts
 m
ad
e 
av
ai
la
bl
e 

to
 th
e 
W
es
t M
id
la
nd
s 
S
ub
 R
eg
io
na
l G
ro
up
. 

 C
on
tr
ac
t c
om
pl
ia
nc
e 
an
d 
fin
an
ci
al
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 w
ill
 b
e 
cl
os
el
y 
m
on
ito
re
d.
   
C
om
m
itm
en
ts
 a
ga
in
st
 th
e 
lo
an
 fu
nd
 w
ill
 b
e 
re
po
rt
ed
 

m
on
th
ly
 b
y 
A
R
T
 H
om
es
.  
W
e 
w
ill
 b
e 
re
sp
on
si
bl
e 
fo
r 
re
po
rr
tin
g 
to
 th
e 
W
es
t M
id
la
nd
s 
S
ub
 R
eg
io
n 
G
ro
up
.  
T
hi
s 
pr
oc
es
s 
w
ill
 a
ls
o 

in
fo
rm
 th
e 
dr
aw
 d
ow
n,
 s
ch
ed
ul
in
g 
pa
ym
en
ts
 to
 A
R
T
 H
om
es
.  
C
on
tr
ac
t m
on
ito
rin
g 
w
ill
 in
cl
ud
e:
 

  A
rt
 H
om
es
 

 
• 

T
im
es
ca
le
s 
fo
r 
th
e 
pr
oc
es
si
ng
 o
f a
pp
lic
at
io
ns
 fo
r 
P
A
Ls
 a
nd
 o
th
er
 lo
an
 p
ro
du
ct
s 

• 
C
os
ts
 o
f s
er
vi
ce
 p
ro
vi
si
on
 –
 m
ea
su
re
d 
on
 o
pe
n 
bo
ok
 p
rin
ci
pl
es
 

• 
Q
ua
lit
y 
of
 d
oc
um
en
ta
tio
n 
an
d 
ad
vi
ce
 p
ro
vi
si
on
. 

• 
T
el
ep
ho
ne
 S
up
po
rt
 

• 
Lo
an
 d
ef
au
lts
 a
nd
 a
bo
rt
iv
e.
 

      

Page 160



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

 H
IA
 

 
• 

C
os
ts
 o
f s
er
vi
ce
 p
ro
vi
si
on
-m
ea
su
re
d 
on
 o
pe
n 
bo
ok
 p
rin
ci
pl
es
 

• 
S
at
is
fa
ct
io
n 
of
 c
lie
nt
s 
w
ith
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 

• 
Q
ua
lit
y 
of
 d
oc
um
en
ta
tin
 a
nd
 s
up
po
rt
 s
er
vi
ce
s 

• 
C
om
pl
et
io
n 
of
 w
or
ks
 to
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
ag
ai
ns
t b
ud
ge
ts
 

• 
T
im
es
ca
le
s 
to
 a
pp
oi
nt
 c
on
tr
ac
to
rs
 a
nd
 c
om
pl
et
e 
w
or
ks
 

• 
Q
ua
lit
y 
of
 w
or
k 
to
 p
ro
pe
rt
ie
s 
 

  M
ar
ke
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 

A
 M
ar
ke
tin
g 
st
ra
te
gy
 w
ill
 b
e 
su
bm
itt
ed
 b
y 
F
es
tiv
al
 H
ou
si
ng
 b
y 
31

st
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
0.
  

T
he
 S
tr
at
eg
y 
w
ill
 b
e 
m
on
ito
re
d 
an
d 
re
gu
la
rly
 r
ep
or
te
d 
up
on
 to
 a
na
ly
se
 it
s 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 
an
d 
to
 in
fo
rm
 fu
tu
re
 m
ar
ke
tin
g 
ac
tiv
ity
 

an
d 
bu
dg
et
 r
eq
ui
re
m
en
t. 

  R
ev
ie
w
 a
n
d
 E
va
lu
at
io
n
 

 R
ev
ie
w
 a
nd
 E
va
lu
at
io
n 
of
 th
e 
pr
oj
ec
t w
ill
 fo
rm
 a
 k
ey
 p
ar
t o
f t
hi
s 
pr
oj
ec
t, 
an
d 
 w
ill
 c
ov
er
 th
e 
fo
llo
w
in
g:
 

 T
he
 e
va
lu
at
io
n 
pr
oc
es
s 
w
ill
 d
et
er
m
in
e 
if 
th
e 
pl
an
ne
d 
go
al
s 
an
d 
ob
je
ct
iv
es
 w
er
e 
ac
tu
al
ly
 a
ch
ie
ve
d.
  W

e 
w
ill
 d
oc
um
en
t t
he
 

ac
co
m
pl
is
hm
en
ts
 o
f t
he
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
an
d 
id
en
tif
y 
th
e 
fa
ct
or
s 
th
at
 h
av
e 
in
flu
en
ce
d 
th
e 
im
pl
em
en
ta
tio
n 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 
of
 th
e 

sc
he
m
e,
  W

e 
w
ill
 th
en
 u
se
 th
es
e 
re
su
lts
 to
 s
tr
en
gt
he
n 
th
e 
fu
tu
re
 d
es
ig
n 
of
 th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e.
  T
hi
s 
w
ill
 b
e 
co
m
pl
et
ed
 a
nn
ua
lly
. 

 F
or
m
al
 a
nd
 in
fo
rm
al
 fe
ed
ba
ck
 fr
om
 c
lie
nt
s,
 s
ta
ff,
 c
on
tr
ac
to
rs
 a
nd
 o
th
er
 s
ta
ke
ho
ld
er
s 
w
ill
 b
e 
co
lle
ct
ed
, c
ol
la
te
d 
an
d 
us
ed
 to
 

po
si
tiv
el
y 
im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e.
 A
 lo
g 
w
il 
be
 k
ep
t o
f l
es
so
ns
 le
ar
ne
d 
du
rin
g 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e.
  R
eg
ul
ar
 r
ev
ie
w
s 
w
ill
 

be
 h
el
d 
to
 c
on
si
de
r 
po
te
nt
ia
l i
m
pr
ov
em
en
ts
. 

  

Page 161



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

9.
 R
is
k 
A
ss
es
sm

en
t 
(L
D
P
4)
 

R
is
k 
L
o
g
 

T
he
 R
is
k 
Lo
g 
hi
gh
lig
ht
s 
ris
ks
 th
at
 m
ig
ht
 im
pa
ct
 u
po
n 
th
e 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 th
e 
K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
in
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
. T
he
 lo
g 
w
ill
 b
e 

 k
ep
t u
nd
er
 r
ev
ie
w
 a
nd
 a
ny
 a
ct
io
ns
 r
ep
or
te
d 
to
 th
e 
pr
oj
ec
t b
oa
rd
. 

L
ik
el
ih
o
o
d
 

Im
p
ac
t 

R
is
k 
F
ac
to
rs
 

H
 

M
 

L 
H
 

M
 

L 
T
o
ta
l 

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

S
tr
at
eg
ic
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

S
up
po
rt
 fo
r 
th
e 
pa
rt
ne
rs
hi
p 
be
in
g 

in
co
ns
is
te
nt
 a
cr
os
s 
pa
rt
ne
rs
hi
p.
 

 
 

1 
3 

 
 

3 
(L
ow
) 

C
on
tin
ue
 to
 w
or
k 
w
ith
 o
th
er
 p
ar
tn
er
s,
 

th
e 
pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
te
am
 a
nd
 lo
ca
l 

m
em
be
rs
 

O
p
er
at
io
n
al
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
el
ay
 in
 c
om
m
en
ce
m
en
t o
f N
ew
 

C
ou
nt
yw
id
e 
H
IA
 

 
 

1 
3 

 
 

4 
(M
ed
) 
M
ar
ke
tin
g 
co
ul
d 
co
m
m
en
ce
 in
 a
dv
an
ce
 

of
 H
IA
 c
ha
ng
e 
ov
er
. 

T
U
P
E
 Is
su
es
 d
el
ay
in
g 
pr
og
re
ss
 w
ith
 

ne
w
 H
IA
. 

 
 

1 
3 

 
 

4 
(M
ed
) 
E
ar
ly
 c
on
su
lta
tio
n 
ha
s 
co
m
m
en
ce
d 
w
ith
 

st
af
f w
el
l a
he
ad
 o
f s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

re
qu
ire
m
en
t. 
A
ga
in
 th
e 
m
ar
ke
tin
g 
of
 

K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
du
ct
s 
co
ul
d 
co
m
m
en
ce
 in
 

ad
va
nc
e 
of
 th
e 
H
IA
.  

R
ed
uc
ed
 fu
nd
in
g 
fo
r 
H
IA
 

 
 

3 
3 

 
 

6 
(H
ig
h)
 
R
ev
ie
w
 c
on
fig
ur
at
io
n 
of
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
an
d 

se
ek
 fu
rt
he
r 
fu
nd
in
g 

R
ed
uc
ed
 K
ic
k 
S
ta
rt
 F
un
di
ng
 

3 
 

 
3 

 
 

6 
(H
ig
h)
 
R
ev
ie
w
 a
lte
rn
at
iv
e 
E
qu
ity
 R
el
ea
se
 

pr
od
uc
ts
 a
nd
 s
ou
rc
es
.  

S
lo
w
 ta
ke
-u
p 
of
 lo
an
 fu
nd
in
g 

 
2 

 
 

2 
 

4 
(M
ed
) 
U
se
 c
om
m
un
ic
at
io
ns
 s
tr
at
eg
y.
 P
ro
-

ac
tiv
e 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
of
 in
pu
ts
 a
nd
 o
ut
pu
ts
 

D
el
iv
er
y 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
ap
ac
ity
 to
 d
el
iv
er
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 

 
 

1 
3 

 
 

4 
(m
ed
) 
R
ed
ep
lo
y 
st
af
f f
ro
m
 o
th
er
 H
ou
si
ng
 

Page 162



 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
10th March 2010 

  

 
 

 
 

 D
:\m
od
er
ng
ov
\D
at
a\
A
ge
nd
aI
te
m
D
oc
s\
8\
4\
7\
A
I0
00
03
74
8\
R
eC
om
m
is
si
on
in
go
fH
IA
re
po
rt
A
pp
en
di
x2
0.
do
c/
24
.0
2.
10
/L
W
 

L
ik
el
ih
o
o
d
 

Im
p
ac
t 

R
is
k 
F
ac
to
rs
 

H
 

M
 

L 
H
 

M
 

L 
T
o
ta
l 

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

fu
nc
tio
ns
 

A
va
ila
bi
lit
y 
of
 s
ui
ta
bl
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
or
s 
to
 

de
liv
er
 im
pr
ov
em
en
t w
or
ks
 

 
 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
(lo
w
) 

D
ev
el
op
 e
xi
st
in
g 
co
nt
ra
ct
or
s.
 

P
ro
ac
tiv
el
y 
re
cr
ui
t a
nd
 a
pp
ro
ve
 n
ew
 

co
nt
ra
ct
or
s 

 
  
 

Page 163



Page 164



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No specific Ward relevance  

10th March 2010 
 

 

HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING ADVICE REVIEW, ENHANCED 
HOUSING OPTIONS STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN   
 
 
(Report of the Head of Housing) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

The Committee is asked to note the contents of the Redditch 
Homelessness and Housing Advice Review and approve the 
implementation of the Redditch Enhanced Housing Options 
Strategy. 
 
The recent review takes account of current services in the borough; 
identifies progress made since the Redditch Homelessness Strategy 
published in 2003 and highlights lessons learned during the first 
nine months of the two year ‘Trailblazer Initiative’ which saw the 
Council being awarded £180,000 in grant by Communities and Local 
Government. 
 
The Enhanced Housing Options Strategy was developed in 
partnership with all key stakeholders and will provide a framework 
for improving services for homeless households or those in housing 
need in Redditch. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 

 
subject to community consultation and Members’ comments, 
the Enhanced Housing Options Strategy be approved and 
implemented. 
 

3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  
Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 There are currently no financial implications in adopting the Strategy.  
The implementation of the action plan could highlight areas for 
further consideration by Elected Members.  
 
Legal 
 

3.2 In line with the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 
Homelessness Act 2002) the Local Authority has a statutory duty to 
carry out a review of homelessness and homelessness services in 

Agenda Item 10Page 165



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\9\0\AI00004090\HomelessnessandHousingAdviceReviewEnhancedOptionsStategyandActionPlan
Draft0102100.doc/lms/amended 190210rb 

their area and to formulate and publish a homelessness strategy 
based on this review.  The Council has already met its legal 
obligations by working with the other districts to produce the County 
Homelessness Strategy ‘Working together to change lives’.  There 
are no legal implications regarding the development of a Redditch 
Enhanced Housing Options Strategy. 
 
Policy 
 

3.3 The Enhanced Housing Options Strategy was developed in 
partnership with all key stakeholders and will provide the framework 
for improving services for homeless households or those in housing 
need in Redditch.  If approved it will enable the Council to take a 
more strategic approach in tackling Homelessness and encourage 
the Council and its partners to work together in a more joined up way 
so that customers are able to make informed decisions regarding 
housing, education and employment.   
 
Risk 
 

3.4 Failure to approve the strategy will make it difficult for the Council to 
achieve national, regional, county and local strategic aims. 
 

 Climate Change / Carbon Management  
 

3.5 No implications. 
 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 Redditch Borough Council published its first Homelessness Strategy 
in 2003 which outlined the vision to 2009.  The Council delivered all 
the key objectives outlined within that document. 
 

4.2 The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee undertook a review 
of the Homelessness Service which concluded on 6th May 2006.  
The review recommended that greater resources were focused 
towards the prevention of homelessness and led to a restructure and 
the development of the Housing Options Service. 

 
4.3 Officers from Redditch Borough Council worked as part of a County 

Wide Project Team to develop the Countywide Strategy ‘Working 
Together to Change Lives’ which was approved by Full Council in 
January 2009.   

 
4.4 The overall number of Statutory Homeless Acceptances has 

drastically reduced since 2003, despite the amount of people 

Page 166



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\9\0\AI00004090\HomelessnessandHousingAdviceReviewEnhancedOptionsStategyandActionPlan
Draft0102100.doc/lms/amended 190210rb 

approaching the Council for assistance increasing by approximately 
35%. 

 
4.5 In August 2008 the Council had the second highest Statutory 

Homeless Acceptance rate in the West Midlands, averaging at 6.0 
acceptances per one thousand in the population.  They were ranked 
13th highest of all 354 Local Authorities in England. 

 
4.6 By the end of the year in 2008/09, the Council had improved its 

position considerably with the average number of Homeless 
Acceptances dropping to 2.4 per thousand households.  The Council 
was then ranked 100th highest out of 326 Local Authorities in 
England (some areas became unitary, which is why the number has 
changed). 

 
4.7 The Council has continued to improve its performance in 2009/10 

and early predictions suggest that they are likely to do even better in 
the national rankings at the end of this year. 

 
4.8 In 2009 the Council was awarded £180,000 in grant as part of the 

Communities and Local Government Trailblazer initiative to improve 
services for those in housing need, reduce overcrowding and 
provide more joined up advice regarding housing, education and 
employment.  
 

5. Key Issues 
 

5.1 A review of housing advice and homelessness services for all client 
groups has been undertaken which involved questionnaires and 
telephone interviews being undertaken with individuals from 
statutory agencies, voluntary sector partners and customers.    
 

5.2 The review takes account of the lessons learned during the first nine 
months of the two year ‘Trailblazer Initiative’ which saw the Council 
being awarded £180,000 in grant by Communities and Local 
Government. 

 
5.3 A number of partner and customer events have been held over the 

last twelve months which have been used to identify customer 
priorities for service improvements.  

 
5.4 The findings from the Local Homelessness and Housing Advice 

Review have been used to develop the Enhanced Housing Options 
Strategy which sets out our local objectives for the next three years. 

 
5.5 The development and publication of a Redditch Enhanced Housing 

Options Strategy will highlight the Council’s commitment to keeping 

Page 167



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\9\0\AI00004090\HomelessnessandHousingAdviceReviewEnhancedOptionsStategyandActionPlan
Draft0102100.doc/lms/amended 190210rb 

the needs and opinions of local people at the forefront of service 
development. 

 
5.6 Key priorities from the Redditch Homelessness and Housing Advice 

Strategy will be fed into the Worcestershire Homelessness Strategy - 
‘Working Together to Change Lives’ when that is reviewed in 2010. 
 

6. Other Implications 
 

 Asset Management - None. 
 
Community Safety - Initiatives in the strategy should improve 

services for individuals suffering 
Domestic Violence or Anti-social 
behaviour. 

 
Health - Initiatives in the strategy should improve 

services for those with Mental Health 
problems. 

 
Human Resources - None. 

 
Social Exclusion - Initiatives in the strategy should reduce 

Social Exclusion by encouraging 
individuals to access appropriate 
support or undertake education or 
employment opportunities. 

 
Environment /  - The initiatives in the Strategy provide 
Sustainability   customers with a greater number of  
  housing options and allow a larger  
  number of households to access  
  suitable good quality housing which can 
  be sustained. 
 

7. Lessons Learnt 
 

 The comments received during the consultation period will be taken 
into account prior to the implementation of the action plan.  The 
Council has already seen benefits as a result of the Trailblazer 
Initiative and it is hoped that the new strategy will ensure that future 
services are designed to take account of the lessons learned.   

 
8. Background Papers 

 
Redditch Borough Council Homelessness Strategy –- 2003.  
The Housing Act 1996 (as amended by homelessness Act 2002).  

Page 168



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\9\0\AI00004090\HomelessnessandHousingAdviceReviewEnhancedOptionsStategyandActionPlan
Draft0102100.doc/lms/amended 190210rb 

Worcestershire Homelessness Strategy ‘Working Together to 
Change Lives’ – 2009.  
Redditch Homelessness and Housing Options Review.  
Redditch Enhanced Housing Options Strategy and Action Plan.  
 

9. Consultation 
 
The Homelessness and Housing Advice Review and Enhanced 
Housing Options Strategy have been produced following 
consultation with relevant Council Officers, statutory and voluntary 
sector partners and former customers.     
 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Elise Hopkins (Housing Options 
Manager) who can be contacted on extension 3510 (e-mail: 
elise.hopkins@redditchbc.gov.uk) for more information. 
 

11. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 –- Redditch Homelessness and Housing Options 

Review.  
 
Appendix 2 – Redditch Enhanced Housing Options Strategy (the full 
action plan can be provided on request) 
 
 

Page 169



Page 170



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Direct Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS and MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 
POLICY 
 
 
(Report of the Head of Resources) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

To set the limits under the new Prudential Code for borrowing which 
the Council is required to agree before the start of the 2010/11 
financial year and to review the Prudential Indicators for the current 
financial year. 
 
To seek members approval to the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) Policy for 2010/11. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 

 
1) the Prudential Indicators as set out in the report  

be approved; and  
 

2) the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2010/11 as 
defined in option 3, be approved. 

 
3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  

Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 The financial implications are contained throughout the report. 
 

Legal 
 

3.2 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
(Prudential Code) was developed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy to provide a code of practice to underpin 
the new system of capital finance embodied in Part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  Local Authorities are no longer subject to 
government controlled borrowing approvals and are free to 
determine their own level of capital investment controlled by 
self-regulation. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 11Page 171



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

3.3 The setting and revising of prudential indicators should be 
undertaken by the body that that sets the budget, namely, full 
Council. 
 
Policy 
 

3.4 The Council’s policy regarding borrowing and investments is 
contained in its Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
3.5. This report will determine the Council’s policy on making a MRP for 

2010/11. 
 

Risk 
 

3.6. The Council would be failing in its legal obligations under the Local 
Government Act 2003 if it failed to agree a set of Prudential 
Indicators for the forthcoming financial year and in its legal 
obligations under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 if it failed to prepare an 
annual statement of policy on making a MRP. 

 
Climate Change / Carbon Management 
 

3.7 None have been identified. 
 
Report 

 
4. Background 
 
 Prudential Indicators 
 
4.1 The key objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a 

clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities 
are affordable, prudent and sustainable; also, that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice and in a manner that supports prudence, 
affordability and sustainability. 

 
4.2 To demonstrate that local authorities have fulfilled these objectives, 

the Prudential Code sets out the indicators that must be used, and 
the factors that must be taken into account.  The Code does not 
include indicative limits or ratios, these are for the local authority to 
set for itself subject to the controls under [clause 4] of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

Page 172



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

 Minimum Revenue Provision 
 
4.3. The requirement to make a MRP is contained within the Local 

Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008.  

 
4.4. Following the publication of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance 

and Accounting) Regulations issued on the 26th February 2008 local 
authorities are required to prepare an annual statement of policy for 
making a MRP.  The annual statement should be submitted to 
Council before the start of the financial year.   

 
4.5 MRP is the amount of revenue which an authority sets aside for the 

repayment of the principal element of any borrowing undertaken to 
finance capital expenditure.  The interest cost of borrowing continues 
to be a direct charge to revenue.  The new regulations that came 
into force on the 31st March 2008 impose a duty on the Council to 
make an amount of MRP which it considers to be a “prudent 
provision”. 

 
4.6 The broad aim of “prudent provision” is to ensure that debt is repaid 

over a period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over 
which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of 
borrowing supported by Government Revenue Support Grant, 
reasonably commensurate with the period implicit in the 
determination of the grant.  This authority does not have any 
borrowing supported by Revenue Support Grant. 

 
4.7 MRP is calculated in the financial year after the capital expenditure 

has been incurred and so the capital spend in 2009/10 informs the 
MRP set aside in the revenue account for 2010/11.  The new 
regulations have added an exception to this in that if expenditure has 
been incurred on an asset which has not become operational then 
MRP does not need to be set aside until the financial year after the 
asset becomes operational. In effect authorities are entitled to a 
“MRP holiday” until the new asset becomes operational. 

 
5. Key Issues 
 

Prudential Indicators 
 
5.1 The Council is required to publish the following indicators introduced 

by the Code for the next and following two financial years: 
 

a) Actual and estimated capital expenditure, 
b) Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream, 
c) Capital financing requirement, 
d) Actual limit for external debt, 
e) Operational boundary for external debt, 

Page 173



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

f) Council tax implications of the incremental effect of capital 
decisions, 

g) Treasury Management indicators. 
 

5.2 The prudential indicators for the forthcoming and following years 
must be set before the beginning of the financial year.  They may be 
revised at any time, and must be reviewed, and revised if 
appropriate, for the current year when the prudential indicators are 
set for the following year. 

 
 Capital Expenditure 

 
5.3 The estimates of capital expenditure for 2009/10 and future years 

included in the Council’s approved capital programme are: 
 

 
Approved 
Programme 

2009/10 
Estimate 
£’000 

2010/11 
Estimate 
£’000 

2011/12 
Estimate 
£’000 

2012/13 
Estimate 
£’000 

HRA 10,101.4 7,773.0 6,500.4 6,020.0 
General 
Fund 

 
5,653.0 

 
2,169.0 

 
1,670.0 

 
845.0 

Total 
Approved 
Programme 

 
15,754.4 

 
9,942.0 

 
8,170.4 

 
6,865.0 

 
 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
 

5.4 The financing costs include the amount of interest payable and 
receivable in respect of borrowing and investments.  The Net 
Revenue Stream for the HRA is the amount to be met from housing 
subsidy and rents and for the General Fund it is the "amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxation".  The estimates of 
the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for the current and 
future years are: 

 
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 
 

2009/10 
Estimate 
 

2010/11 
Estimate 
 

2011/12 
Estimate 
 

2012/13
Estimate 

HRA 1.46% 1.37% 1.22% 1.10% 
General Fund (1.08)% 1.85% 2.42% 2.60% 

 
5.5 The figures in the above table are shown as negatives where 

the interest received from temporary and long term investments is 
estimated to exceed the cost of temporary borrowing. 

Page 174



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

Net Revenue Streams for 2009/10 and 2010/11 
 
5.6 The Net Revenue Stream for the HRA is calculated as follows: 
 

 2009/10  
Estimate 

£ 

2010/11 
Initial 
£ 

Dwelling rents 19,280,170 19,827,780 
Non-dwelling rents 567,410 516,730 
Charges for services and 
facilities 

174,090 188,460 

Less   
Negative subsidy 6,167,830 6,037,140 
Net Revenue Stream 13,853,840 14,495,830 

 
5.7 The Net Revenue Stream for the General Fund is calculated as 

follows: 
 

 2009/10  
Estimate 

£ 

2010/11 
Estimate 

£ 
Revenue Support Grant 1,205,022 818,847 
Non-Domestic Rates 5,220,774 5,639,079 
Council Tax 5,573,345 5,754,643 
Collection Fund 13,782 10,200 
Net Revenue Stream 12,012,923 12,222,769 

 
 Capital Financing Requirement 
 
5.8 The capital financing requirement is a measure of the extent to 

which the Council needs to borrow to support capital expenditure.  It 
does not necessarily relate to the actual amount of borrowing at any 
one point in time.  The Council has an integrated treasury 
management strategy where there is no distinction between revenue 
and capital cash flows, and the day to day position of external 
borrowing and investments constantly changes. 

 

Capital Financing Requirement 
 
 

2009/10 
Estimate 
£’000 

2010/11 
Estimate 
£’000 

2011/12 
Estimate 
£’000 

2012/13 
Estimate 
£’000 

HRA 13,076 17,576 20,576 22,876 
General Fund 15,426 17,125 18,326 18,823 
Total 28,502 34,701 38,902 41,699 

 

Page 175



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

5.9 Calculation of Capital Financing Requirement from the Council’s 
Balance Sheet 

 
Extracts from Balance Sheet 2008/09 

£’000 
Fixed Assets 329,945 
Less  
Capital Adjustment Account 268,059 
Government Grant Deferred Account 967 
Revaluation Reserve 42,017 
  
Capital Financing Requirement 18,902 
  
 

5.10 CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance includes the following 
key indicator of prudence: 

 
5.11 “In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only 

be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that net 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of Capital Financing Requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional Capital Financial Requirement for the 
current and next two years.” 

 
5.12 As at the 31st March 2009 the Council’s borrowing exceeded its 

investments by £9.25 million.  
 
 External Debt 
 
5.13 In respect of any external debt, it is recommended that the Council 

approves the following Authorised Limits for its total external debt 
gross of investments for the next three financial years.  The 
Authorised Limit for external debt for the forthcoming year is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003: "A local authority shall determine and keep 
under review how much money it can afford to borrow." 
 

 
5.14 The Authorised Limits are consistent with the current capital 

programme and the proposals for capital expenditure included in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan and the Council’s Capital Strategy.  
The limits are based on the most likely financial circumstances but 
with an allowance made for unusual cash movements.  It is not 
anticipated that any borrowing will be undertaken except temporarily 
until further revenues are received.  

 
 

Page 176



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

 
Authorised Limit for External Debt 

 
 

2009/10 
Revised 
Estimate 
£’000 

2010/11 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2011/12 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2012/13 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

Borrowing 38,000 44,500 49,000 52,000 
Other long term 
liabilities 

0 0 0 0 

Total 38,000 44,500 49,000 52,000 
 
5.15 The Council is asked to approve the following Operational Limit for 

external debt for the same period.  The Operational Limit is based on 
the same estimates as for the Authorised Limit but differs in that it 
does not take into account the allowance for unusual cash 
movements. 
 

Operational Limit for External Debt 
 
 

2009/10 
Revised 
Estimate 
£’000 

2010/11 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2011/12 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2012/13 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

Borrowing 35,000 41,500 46,000 49,000 
Other long term 
liabilities 

0 0 0 0 

Total 35,000 41,500 46,000 49,000 
 
5.16 The Council’s actual external debt at the 31st March 2009 was 

£26,708 million (£21.195 million in short term borrowing,  £5.1 million 
long term borrowing and £0.383 million bank overdraft).  It should be 
noted that the actual external debt is not directly comparable to the 
authorised limit and the operational boundary, since the actual 
external debt reflects the position at one point in time. 

 
 Treasury Management 
 
5.17 The Council has previously adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for 

Treasury Management in the Public Services.  Interest rate risk 
management is a priority and therefore the Code identifies two 
indicators that will provide the Operational Boundaries to the 
exposure to interest rate risk.  

 
a) Upper limits for variable rate exposure and 
b) Upper limits to fixed rate exposure.    

Page 177



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

5.18 It is recommended that the Council sets an upper limit on its fixed 
interest rate exposures for 2010/11, 2011/12 and 2012/13 of 100% 
and on its variable interest rate exposures on 50%.  This limit on 
variable rates is consistent with the current approved limit. 
 

5.19 The medium term strategy is to undertake borrowing for capital 
expenditure.  The timing of any longer term borrowing will depend on 
the profile of capital spend.  

 
5.20 The Council’s investments are held in a relatively flexible form and 

therefore fixed interest rate exposure is not considered to be a 
significant risk. 
 

Maturity Structure of any Fixed Rate Borrowing (as a percentage 
of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate)  

 Upper Limit Lower Limit 
Under 12 months 100% 0% 
12 months and within 24 
months 

100% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 100% 0% 
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0% 
10 years and above 100% 0% 

 
5.21 The Council has recalled its externalised investments of £15 million, 

which originated in relation to the Council’s reserved capital receipts.  
This sum is now being invested by the in-house team. The Code 
requires that authorities set out the total principal of sums invested 
for periods longer than 364 days and set an upper limit for each 
forward financial year for the maturity of these investments.  The 
purpose of the indicator is to manage the investment portfolio within 
good treasury management practice guidelines and ensure there is a 
spread of investment maturities to reduce risks inherent in interest 
rate volatility.  The following limits are recommended. 

 
Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days 

 £ million 
31 March 2008 0.0 
31 March 2009 0.0 
31 March 2010 0.0 

 
 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
 
5.22 For all unsupported (prudential) borrowing the Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP) will be based on the estimated life of the assets 
financed by borrowing in accordance with the MRP guidance.  
 

Page 178



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

6. Other Implications 
 
 Asset Management - None identified. 

 
Community Safety - None identified. 
 
Health - None identified. 
 
Human Resources - None identified. 
 
Social Exclusion - None identified. 
 
Environment /  - None identified. 
Sustainability 

 
7. Lessons Learnt 
 
7.1 In order to comply with the requirement of the Local Government Act 

2003 the Council needs to approve a range of prudential indicators 
as detailed in the body of this report before the start of the 
forthcoming financial year.  At the same time the Council also needs 
to approve a Minimum Revenue Provision Policy. 

 
8. Background Papers 
 

Working papers held in Financial Services Team. 
 CIPFA’s Prudential Code – Fully revised 2nd edition 

Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2008 
 
Changes to the Capital Finance System – consultation [DCLG} 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision Guidance –  An informal commentary - 
Department for Communities and Local Government. 
 

9. Consultation 
 
Relevant Council Officers have been consulted in the preparation of 
this report. 
 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Teresa Kristunas (Head of Resources), 
who can be contacted on extension 3295 (e-mail 
teresa.kristunas@redditchbc.gov.uk) for more information. 
 

Page 179



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\1\2\AI00004215\PrudentialCode1011Report0.doc/19.02.10sc. 

11. Appendices 
 
None. 
 

 

Page 180



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Direct Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011Report0.doc/
19.02.10sc. 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2010/11 
 
(Report of the Head of Resources) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

Members are asked to approve the Treasury Management Strategy 
for 2010/11.  
 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 

 
the Treasury Management Strategy for 2010/11 be approved. 
 

3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  
Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 The financial implications are contained throughout the report 
 
Legal 
 

3.2 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, the authority has to 
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial 
affairs.  The Council has previously resolved to comply with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management.  Under the Code 
of Practice the Council is required to approve the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy before the 
start of the financial year. 

 
3.3 Guidance issued under Section 15 (1) (a) of the Local Government 

Act 2003 requires the Council to approve an Annual Investment 
Strategy before the start of the financial year. 

 
3.4. Local authorities have a specific requirement to adopt the CIPFA 

Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services 
under the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
which authorities are required to comply with under Part 1 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. 

 
3.5. The treasury management code of practice requires all organisations 

covered by it to have a treasury management strategy stating the 
policies and objectives of its treasury management function. 

Agenda Item 12Page 181



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011Report0.doc/
19.02.10sc. 

 
3.6. On the 16th November 2009 the Department for Communities and 

Local Government issued a consultation paper on various changes 
to the prudential Capital Finance system introduced by the Local 
Government Act 2003.  The revised guidance impacts on an 
authority’s investment strategy. 
 
Policy 
 

3.7 There are no direct policy implications. 
 
Risk 
 

3.8 The Council needs to ensure that the risks associated with the 
treasury function have been properly identified and evaluated.  The 
risks include interest rate exposure, counterparty or credit risk, 
liquidity (insufficient cash to meet liabilities) risk, funding (inability to 
repay or replace loans) risk, and the failure of internal controls. 
 

 Climate Change / Carbon Management  
 

3.9 There are no Climate Change / Carbon Management implications. 
 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 Treasury Management is:- 
 
 “the management of the local authority’s cash flows, its bankings, 

money market and capital market transactions and loan 
management; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of the optimum performance consistent 
with those risks”. 

 
4.2 The approved activities of the Treasury Management operation are 

as follows:- 
 

a) Cash flow (daily balances and long term forecasting). 
b) Investing surplus funds in Approved Investments. 
c) Borrowing to finance cash deficits. 
d) Funding of capital expenditure through borrowing, capital 

receipts, grants or leasing. 
e) Management of debt (including rescheduling and monitoring) 
f) Interest rate exposure management. 
g) Dealing procedures with brokers, banks, building societies 

and the Public Works Loans Board. 

Page 182



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011Report0.doc/
19.02.10sc. 

4.3 On the 1st April 2004 the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code was introduced to support 
the new system of capital finance embodied in part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  This introduced a number of prudential 
indicators that impact on treasury management activity. 

 
4.4 The revised guidance issued in draft on the 16th November 2009 

makes it clear that investment priorities should be security and 
liquidity, rather than yield and that authorities should not rely just on 
credit ratings, but consider other information on risk. 

 
4.5 The draft guidance requires investment strategies to comment on 

the use of treasury management consultants and on the investment 
of money borrowed in advance of spending needs. 

 
4.6 The investment strategy for periods commencing 1st April 2010 are 

to be approved by full council and published. 
 

5. Key Issues 
 

5.1 The turmoil within financial markets, in particular the failing of a 
number of Icelandic banks and the issue with Northern Rock has 
highlighted the risks associated with treasury management activities.  

 
5.2 The strategy adopted by many local authorities has been to protect 

capital sums with minimal returns on investments.  There are now 
only a handful of institutions with a F1+ credit rating.  

 
5.3 The bank base rate has remained at 0.5% since 5th March 2009. 
 
5.4 The Council currently has £15 million which it invests for periods up 

to one year.  These monies are currently invested with a number of 
banks and building societies at rates ranging from 0.37% and 2.25%.   

 
5.5 Despite other Authorities experiencing significant potential losses on 

investments, the Council’s investments have remained secure. 
 
 Capital Resources 
 
5.6 The Council’s capital programme for 2010/11 shows a requirement 

for capital resources of £7.5 million.  In order to fund the 2010/11 
capital programme the Council will need to undertake further 
prudential borrowing of £3.6 million.  The availability of capital 
receipts from asset disposals is limited because of market conditions. 

 
5.7 The Council currently has £5.0 million of long term borrowing.  The 

remainder of the Council’s borrowing is currently undertaken on a 

Page 183



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011Report0.doc/
19.02.10sc. 

short-term basis.  Further long term borrowing will be undertaken 
when market conditions are favourable.  

5.8 The decision on when borrowing will be taken up will depend on 
expenditure plans and market conditions.  The Council only has the 
power to borrow to fund capital expenditure.  
 

6. Other Implications 
 

 Asset Management - None identified. 
 
Community Safety - None identified. 
 
Health - None identified. 
 
Human Resources - None identified. 
 
Social Exclusion - None identified. 
 
Environment /  - None identified. 
Sustainability 

 
7. Lessons Learnt 

 
 None. 
 
8. Background Papers 

 
Changes to the capital finance system – Consultation [Department 
for Communities and Local Government 
 
Treasury Management Code - CIPFA 
 

9. Consultation 
 
Relevant Borough Council Officers have been consulted in the 
preparation of this report. 
 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Teresa Kristunas (Head of Resources) 
who can be contacted on extension 3295  
(e-mail:teresa.kristunas@redditchbc.gov.uk ) for more information. 
 

11. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Treasury Management Strategy 2010/11 
 
 

Page 184



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

Appendix A 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011AppendixA0.
doc/19.02.10sc. 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2010/11 
 

1. Objectives 
 
The main objectives of Treasury Management are:- 

 
a) Borrowing 

 
§ To effect funding in any one year at the cheapest rate 

commensurate with future risk. 
§ To forecast average future interest rates and borrowing 

accordingly. 
§ To monitor and review the level of variable interest rate 

loans in order to take greater advantage of interest rate 
movements. 

 
b) Investment 
 

§ To maximise the return on investments while maintaining 
capital security. 

 
c) Cash Flow 

 
§ To either borrow on a temporary basis to cover shortfalls 

in funds or make temporary investments in order to 
manage the Council’s cash flow in the most cost effective 
way. 

§ To maintain minimum balances with the Council’s 
bankers. 

 
2.0 Sources of Financing 

 
The following list specifies which borrowing instruments can be 
adopted:- 
 
§ Market – Long Term - Loans available through the London 

Money Market. 
§ Market – Temporary (up to 364 days) – Loans available through 

the London Money Markets. 
§ Public Works Loans Board – the low risk source of longer term 

borrowing for the Council. 
§ Overdraft - Redditch Borough Council has an overdraft limit of 

£1million with Lloyds TSB Bank plc. 
§ Internal (Capital receipts and revenue balances) - including “set 

aside” capital receipts earmarked to repay debt used as a 
substitute for new borrowing. 

§ Leasing. 
 

Page 185



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

Appendix A 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011AppendixA0.
doc/19.02.10sc. 

 
3.0 Borrowing Limits 
 
 The prudential indicator for the Authorised Limit for external debt for 

the current year is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) 
of the Local Government Act 2003: ”A local authority shall determine 
and keep under review how much money it can afford to borrow.” 

 
4.0 Interest Rate Exposure 
 
 The Council will set for the forthcoming financial year and following 

two financial years upper limits to its exposures to the effects of 
changes in interest rates.  These indicators will relate to both fixed 
interest rates and variable interest rates.  

 
 Annual Investment Strategy - 2010/11 
 
 Introduction 
 
5.0 Guidance issued under section 15 (1) (a) of the Local Government 

Act 2003 requires the Council to approve an Annual Investment 
Strategy before the start of the financial year. 

 
 Objective 
 
6.0 The objective of the Council’s Investment Strategy is to prudently 

invest all surplus funds held on behalf of the authority.  Priority will 
be given to security and liquidity but at the same time maximising 
yield. 

  
6.1 The Council will not borrow funds to invest. 
 
 Types of Investments 
 
7.0 The investments which the Council are able to use are categorised 

as `Specified Investments’ and `Non-Specified’ Investments. 
Specified Investments offer high security and high liquidity.  They 
must be in sterling and have a maturity of less than a year.  The 
Strategy is for the Council to restrict its investment activity to 
specified investments. 

 
7.1 Specified Investments 
 
 All short-term investments arising from the management of the 

Council’s cash flow shall be invested with: 
 

Page 186



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

Appendix A 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011AppendixA0.
doc/19.02.10sc. 

§ the major British clearing banks, National Westminster, Lloyds 
TSB, HSBC and Barclays, also Coutts and Company, the wholly 
owned subsidiary of National Westminster, 

§ building societies and building society conversions that are F1 or 
F1+ credit rated for short-term lending’ 

§ all other local authorities (non-capped) 
§ `AAA’ rated Money Market Funds. 
 
The maximum amount placed with any single institution will be £2.5 
million. 
 
Monies placed on call (on demand) or for less than 3 months may be 
placed with: 

 
§  the major British clearing banks, National Westminster, Lloyds 

TSB, HSBC and Barclays, also Coutts and Company, the wholly 
owned subsidiary of National Westminster, 

§ building societies and building society conversions that are F2 or 
F2+ credit rated for short-term lending’ 

§ all other local authorities (non-capped) 
 
 The maximum amount placed with any single institution will be £1.0 

million. 
 
 Credit ratings. 
 
8.0 The Council’s requirements in terms of credit ratings of lending 

parties are notified to the broker’s.  The Council principally relies on 
the credit ratings published by Fitch Ratings, to establish the credit 
quality of counterparties. Where a counterparty does not have a 
Fitch rating, the equivalent Moody’s rating will be used.  

 
8.1 Officers from within Financial Services have daily contact with 

money market brokers who are aware of emerging issues within the 
finance markets. 

 
 External Fund Management 
 

9.0 The Council has withdrawn from the use of external fund managers. 
Investments made or committed by the Council’s fund managers 
have been returned to the Council and are now invested in-house. 
No new investments will be placed by external fund managers. 

 
 Treasury Management Consultants 
 
10.0 The Council does not engage consultants for treasury management 

advice. 
 

Page 187



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

Appendix A 
 

 

10th March 2010 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\2\AI00004216\TREASURYMANAGEMENTSTRATEGY201011AppendixA0.
doc/19.02.10sc. 

 Training of the In-house Team 
 
11.0 The Council subscribes to CIPFA’s Financial Advisory Network  who 

provide access to relevant training events, technical information and 
a venue for knowledge sharing. Consideration is also being given to 
an officer undertaking CIPFA’s new Treasury Management 
qualification. 

 
12.0 Reporting Arrangements 
 

12.1 The Director of Corporate Resources and Finance will report on the 
prudential indicators as set out in CIPFA’s Prudential Code for the 
coming year to the Council, at or before the start of the financial year 
and on the Treasury Management Strategy (including the Annual 
Investment Strategy) it is proposed to adopt for the forthcoming year. 

 
12.2 The Director of Corporate Resources and Finance will produce an 

annual report for the Council by the 30th of September of the 
succeeding financial year. 

 

Page 188



  
 

Executive 
Committee 

 No Specific Ward Relevance 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

VOLUNTARY SECTOR GRANT APPLICATIONS 2010 - 2011 
 
(Report of the Head of Community Services) 
 
1. Summary of Proposals 
 

The committee is asked to consider the recommendations of the 
Grants Assessment Panel in awarding grants to voluntary sector 
organisations for 2010 - 2011.  The grants for this year include 
applications from the five organisations that were formerly “Core 
Funded” as it was not possible to implement the “shopping” element 
of the new Grants Policy within the available timescale.  The total 
budget available for grants is £244,800 and applications totalling 
£391,966 have been received. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE  that 

 
1) grants be awarded to voluntary sector organisations as 

detailed in paragraphs 5.4 of this report, subject to 
Council approval of the budget. 

 
2) £3,000 be donated to Redditch Arts Council for 2010/11 
 
3) The policy on funding the voluntary and community 

sector Organisations be reviewed  
 
3. Financial, Legal, Policy, Risk and Climate Change /  

Carbon Management Implications 
 
Financial 
 

3.1 The total budget for grants to voluntary organisations for 2010 – 
2011 is £244,800.   
 
Legal 
 

3.2 Under Section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council 
has the power to incur expenditure which in its opinion is in the 
interest of and will bring direct benefit to its area or any part of it or 
all or some of its inhabitants.  The direct benefit accruing must also 
be commensurate with the expenditure to be incurred. 

 

Agenda Item 13Page 189



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

3.3 There is a further power to make grants to voluntary organisations 
providing recreational facilities under Section 19 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.   
 
Policy 
 

3.4 The grants process is in accordance with the Policy for Award of 
Grants to Voluntary and Community Sector Organisations (Grants 
Policy) previously presented to the Executive Committee and 
Council.  
 
Risk 
 

3.5 There is a risk that allocated funds may not be used for the purposes 
for which they are allocated.  To mitigate this risk, the Grants Panel 
will ensure that appropriate monitoring and reporting procedures are 
followed and that amounts over £1,000 are paid in instalments, as 
detailed in the Grants Policy.   

 
3.6 There is a risk that the Council will be criticised for failing to support 

certain projects or organisations.  To mitigate this risk, the Grants 
Panel used an objective scoring mechanism to formulate their 
funding recommendations, as detailed in Appendix 1. 

 
 Climate Change / Carbon Management  

 
3.7 A number of grant applications have indicated that their projects will 

tackle the issue of climate change and impact on high levels of 
domestic energy consumption.  
 
Report 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1 The total grant funding available to voluntary organisations for 
2010/11 is £244,800.  

 
4.2 The Council has adopted the Shopping, Investing and Giving funding 

framework. 
 
4.3 “Shopping” refers to procurement and contractual arrangements with 

external providers to deliver services on behalf of the Council that 
the Council has a statutory duty to provide or priority areas the 
Council wishes to invest in. 

 
4.4 It has not been possible to implement the Shopping element for 

2010/11 in the short timescale since the Grants Policy was approved 
by Council.  Therefore, for 2010/11 the five organisations that were 

Page 190



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

previously core-funded have been asked to submit applications for 
funding for 2010/11 at a level not above their current funding. 

 
4.5 Applications for grant funding were required to have a strong link to 

at least one of the six themes set out in the Redditch Sustainable 
Community Strategy.  These are: 

 
a) Communities that are safe and feel safe 
b) A better environment for today and tomorrow 
c) Economic success that is shared by all 
d) Improving health and well being 
e) Meeting the needs of children and young people 
f) Stronger communities. 
 

4.6 The Grants Panel met on 15th February 2010 to consider the 
applications. 

 
5. Key Issues 

 
5.1 A total of 26 applications were received requesting a total of 

£392,686.  This was £147,886 more than the funds available for 
allocation. 

 
5.2 An annual donation of £3,000 had been made to the Redditch Arts 

Council for a number of years to support small projects.  Officers 
advised that they had not submitted a grant application as this had 
not been raised with them or with the Executive.  The Panel agreed 
that the donation should be given for 2010/11 but that in future the 
Redditch Arts Council should be required to make an application for 
a grant. 

 
5.3 Applications were screened to ensure that they met the criteria.  

Three applications were rejected without scoring as they did not 
meet the criteria. 

 
a) The Stop Partnership is a private company so did not meet 

the criteria for a grant.   
 

b) The Friends of Southcrest Woods had requested money for 
improvements to Council owned land.  The Head of 
Environmental Services had been consulted and had 
confirmed that they worked closely with this group who had 
been given a remit to seek external funding.  This did not 
include applying for a grant from the Council as any Council 
funding would come from the Capital Landscape budget.   

 
c) An application had been made on behalf of the Community 

Forum for £15,000 to be distributed to member organisations 

Page 191



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

via an application process in the same way that funding 
originally allocated to MECA/RICA had been redistributed in 
2009/10.  The application was rejected as it did not meet the 
criteria and Members felt that the Forum could apply for grant 
on specific projects via the current process. 

 
5.4 The grants panel considered each of the remaining applications and 

recommend that grants are awarded to the following organisations: 
 

Organisation Amount Details 

Where Next 
Association 

£19,000 Small social enterprise businesses in 
which clients with learning difficulties 
gain work experience and life skills 
training. 

Age Concern 
Redditch  District  

£7,500 Information and advice to older 
people in Redditch by telephone and 
to those visiting the office in 
Easemore Road.  Enquiries cover a 
wide range of subject’s e.g. 
affordable warmth, income 
maximisation, access to other 
services and services provided by 
Age Concern. 

Redditch 
Citizens' Advice 
Bureau  

£90,000 To provide free, independent, 
confidential and impartial advice for 
the people of Redditch. 

The Sandycroft 
Wellbeing Centre 

£20,000 Various programmes offering support 
to women, children, families, older 
persons and providing a designated 
'Hate Crime Centre'. 

Redditch Play 
Council 

£53,000 To help provide care and play for 
approximately 15,000 child places, 
inclusive of children with special 
needs and continued support to 
parents. 

Worcestershire 
Credit Union (T/A 
Black Pear) 

£10,500 Training, IT upgrades and marketing 
costs to implement Saving Gateway 
accounts in line with the Government 
scheme.  

Batchley Support 
Group 

£7,030 Domestic Violence Training & 
Signposting Service.  A project 
looking at domestic violence enabling 
women to become peer mentors. 

Page 192



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

Organisation Amount Details 

NewStarts £8,000 Assistance with furnishing properties, 
with recycled furniture, in RBC area 
for tenants on benefits or very low 
incomes - referrals received from 
RBC Housing Options, CAB, YMCA, 
Lifeways, Night Stop, Turning Point. 

Astwood Bank 
Scouts & Guides 

£6,732 Purchase of a new marquee to use 
for their own camps and events and 
that can be hired out to raise funds 
for the group  

Feckenham 
Community Shop 
Association 
Limited  

£5,000 To expand the not-for-profit village 
community shop which opened in 
January 2009 in order to provide 
more retail space and create a 
Coffee Shop area. 

Soldiers, Sailors, 
Airmen & 
Families 
Association 
Forces Help 

£1,600 Costs involved in cases, visit and 
written/IT and telephone exchanges 
with eligible clients and/or charities 
and statutory authorities.  

North 
Worcestershire 
Dial 

£12,500 To employ a part time Information 
Officer who will be based at the Age 
Concern Advice Centre in the former 
Market who will support both Dial 
and Age Concern volunteers.  Dial 
will also co-ordinate outreach 
activities in the town.  

 
5.5 The Panel were concerned with the number of applications for the 

funding of new employees and the lack of clarification on how these 
posts would be sustainable.  Members felt that the current policy 
should now be reviewed by officers.   

 
5.6 Members considered it is necessary to ensure the “shopping” 

element of the policy is implemented in good time for the 2011/12 
grants process and areas for shopping should be identified without 
delay. 

 
5.7 Members felt that there should be a limit set on the level of grant 

permitted under the “giving” element, for example £10,000. 
 
5.8 There is a need to look at a mechanism for funding projects such as 

those carried out by the Community Forum in 2009/10. 

Page 193



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

6. Other Implications 
 

 Asset Management - None. 
 
Community Safety - “Communities that are safe and feel 

safe” is one of the themes in 
determining grant allocations for 
2010/11. 

 
Health - “Improving health and well being” is 

one of the themes in determining grant 
allocations for 2010/11. 

 
Human Resources - None identified. 
 
Social Exclusion - Three of the themes in determining 

grant allocations for 2010/11 contribute 
to reducing social exclusion.  These 
are “economic success that is shared 
by all”, “meeting the needs of children 
and young people” and “stronger 
communities”. 

 
Environment /  - “A better environment for today and  
Sustainability  tomorrow” is one of the themes in 

determining grant allocations for 
2010/11. 

 
7. Lessons Learnt 

 
 The current policy promotes larger grant requests by allowing full 

cost recovery and it was felt that for the ‘Giving’ element this should 
not be included.  The ‘Shopping’ element must be introduced for 
2011/12 process to ensure Council resources are used in an 
effective manner.   

 
8. Background Papers 

 
Grant Application Forms 
Policy for Award of Grants by Redditch Borough Council to Voluntary 
and Community Sector Organisations. 

 
9. Consultation 

 
This report has been prepared in consultation with relevant Borough 
Council Officers. 
 
 

Page 194



   
 

Executive 
Committee 

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\2\AI00004273\VoluntarySectorGrantsApplications201020110.doc/LW 23.02.10 

 

10. Author of Report 
 
The author of this report is Matthew Bough, Housing Policy & LSP 
Manager, who can be contacted on extension 3120 (e-mail: 
matthew.bough@redditchbc.gov.uk) for more information. 

 
11. Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 - Scoring Mechanism 
 

12. Key 
 

 

Page 195



Page 196



   
 

EXECUTIVE 
Committee  

 

Appendix 1 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

 
 
Grants Assessment Scoring 2010/11 
 
 
Name of applicant: ________________________________________ 
 
Amount of funding requested: _________________ 
 
Stage One: 
This confirms that the application meets the basic application criteria: 
 
The applicant organisation has provided: 

o Clear evidence of operating within the VCS 
o Information that matches Companies House/Charity Commission records. 
o Annual accounts/bank statements (not required for start-up grant) 
o Confirmation of a bank/building society account in organisation’s name 
o Confirmation that at least two unrelated signatures are required for withdrawals 

 
The proposed project: 

o Is a new project not previously funded by RBC 
o Is not for the purpose of political or religious activity 
o Could not be funded out of organisational reserves or other resources 
o Will be delivered during 2010/11 
o Will operate in Redditch Borough on behalf of Borough residents 
o Has a strong link to one of the six application themes 
o Has clear objectives 

 
Stage Two  
 
Grant applications are scored on the evidence provided against each of ten predetermined criteria.  
The scoring is weighted to favour sustainable, well –structured projects that will have a lasting 
impact.   
 
The final score is reduced according to the total amount of money requested, to take account of the 
requirement for applications for larger sums of money to provide more detailed information as part of 
their application. 
 
The Assessment is undertaken as a group exercise involving no fewer than 3 Members.  Panel 
members make a judgement based on the 4 point scale which is:-  
 

A. No.  
B. Only brief details to support this. 
C. Yes but could be improved. 
D. Yes and is comprehensive. 

Page 197



 
 

Section 1: Background to the project 
The project  …………………… A(0) B(1) C(3) D(5) 

1.  has clearly set out its aims and aspirations. 
 

� � � � 

2.  supports local priorities (in addition to identified 
theme). 
 

� � � � 

3.  is low risk to the Council 
 

� � � � 

         Section Score (     /15) 
 

Section 2: Project Planning 
            The project  …………………… A(0) B(2) C(4) D(6) 

4.  has a clear and robust financial outline   
 

� � � � 

5.  addresses the needs of people suffering social or 
economic disadvantage 

� � � � 

6. gives clear details on how the project will be 
structured, co-ordinated and promoted. 

� � � � 

         Section Score (     /18) 
 

Section 3: Added Value of the Project 
            The project  …………………… A(0) B(3) C(5) D(7) 

7. has provided clear evidence of a local need that is not 
met by current or planned provision  

� � � � 

8. provides specific, measurable, and realistic targets that 
clearly address the chosen theme. 

� � � � 

9. provides a robust and realistic plan for sustaining the 
project after the period of grant aid. 

� � � � 

10. has clearly identified methods and structures to 
increase participation and/or increase the number of 
beneficiaries.  

� � � � 

         Section Score (     /28) 
Total Score (/61) :   ________ 
 ________ 
 
 
Final Score:    ________ 
 

 
Confirmed by Chair:  ……………..…………………………… 

 
 

Page 198



  

Executive 
Committee 

 No direct Ward relevance  

10th March 2010 
 

G:Exec 090826/advisory Panels, etc. Update  

 

ADVISORY PANELS, WORKING GROUPS, ETC -  UPDATE REPORT  
 
 
(Report of Chief Executive) 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
 To provide, for monitoring / management purposes, an update on 

the work of the Executive Committee’s Advisory Panels, and similar 
bodies which report via the Executive Committee.  

 
2. Recommendation 
 

The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that 
 
subject to Members’ comments, the report be noted. 
 

3. Updates 
 
A. ADVISORY PANELS 
 

 Meeting : Lead Members / 
Officers :   
 
(Executive 
Members shown 
underlined) 

Position : 

(Oral updates to  be provided at 
the meeting by Lead Members 
or Officers, if no written update 
is available.) 

1.  Climate 
Change 
Advisory Panel 
(formerly 
Environment 
Advisory Panel 

Chair Cllr B 
Clayton / 
 
Guy Revans. 

Next meeting - 9th March 2010. 

 

2.  Community 
Safety 
Advisory Panel 

 

Chair Cllr 
Brunner / 
Vice-Chair 
Cllr Banks 

Angie Heighway 

Date to be arranged. 

 

3.  Economic 
Advisory Panel 

Chair Cllr 
MacMillan 

John Staniland / 
Georgina Harris 

 

Last meeting – 8th February 
2010. 

 

Agenda Item 16Page 199



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

G:Exec 090826/advisory Panels, etc. Update  

4.  Housing 
Advisory Panel 

 

Chair Cllr B 
Clayton /  
Vice-Chair 
Cllr Pearce 

Jackie Smith 

Last meeting – 17th November 
2009. 
 
 

5.  Leisure 
Contracts 
Advisory Panel  
 

 

Chair Cllr 
Anderson /  
Vice-Chair 
Cllr MacMillan 

Ken Watkins / 
Kevin Cook 

Last meeting – 1st February 
2010. 

 

 

6.  Customer 
Services 
Advisory Panel 

Chair Cllr  Braley  

Jackie Smith /  
Jane Smith 

Last meeting – 10th December 
2009. 

 

7.  Planning 
Advisory Panel 

 

Chair Cllr  
MacMillan / Vice-
Chair  

Cllr Chalk 

John Staniland /  
Ruth Bamford 

Next meeting – 3rd March 2010 

 

 

 
B. OTHER MEETINGS 
 

8.  Constitutional 
Review 
Working Party 

Chair Cllr 
MacMillan / Vice 
Chair  
Cllr Braley 

Steve Skinner 

Last meeting - 24th February 
2010. 

9.  Grants Panel 

 

Chair Cllr Chance 
/ Vice Chair  

Cllr Braley  

Angie Heighway 

 

Next meeting – to be arranged. 
 

 

10.  Independent 
Remuneration 
Panel 

Independent 
Members / Chair 
Mr Andrew 
Powell 

 

Last meeting – 5th February 
2010. 

 

Page 200



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

G:Exec 090826/advisory Panels, etc. Update  

11.  Member 
Development 
Steering 
Group 

 

Chair Cllr 
MacMillan  / Vice-
Chair Cllr 
Brunner 

Steve Skinner / 
Trish Buckley 

Next meeting – 23rd March 
2010 

 

12.  Procurement 
Steering 
Group 

Chair Cllr Braley / 
Vice-Chair Cllr 
Hall 

Sue Hanley 

Last meeting – 18th January 
2010. 

 

13.  Church Hill 
District Centre 
– Members’ 
Panel 

Chair Cllr B 
Clayton  

Rob Kindon / Jim 
Prendergrast 

Last meeting – 25th November 
2009. 

 
4. Author of Report 

 
The author of this report is Ivor Westmore (Member and Committee 
Support Services Manager), who can be contacted on extension 
3269 (e-mail: ivor.westmore@redditchbc.gov.uk)  for more 
information. 
 

5. Appendices 
 
 None.  

Page 201



Page 202



  

Executive 
Committee 

 No direct Ward relevance  

10th March 2010 
 

G:Exec/action monitoring 081119/sms/5.11.8 

 

ACTION MONITORING  
 
  
(Report of the Chief Executive) 
 

Portfolio 
Holder(s) /         
Responsible 
 Officer  

Action requested Status 

13th January 
2009 
 

  

 
 
Cllr Gandy / 
Executive 
Committee 

Third Sector Task and Finish Group 
 
The Executive to consider the further work 
to be undertaken (detailed in 
recommendation 5) and come back with 
suggestions for further work in due course. 
 

 
 
Awaiting further 
consideration by 
relevant 
Members. 

22nd April 
2009 
 

  

Cllr 
MacMillan/ 
Ruth Bamford 

Action Monitoring – Economic Advisory 
Panel 
 
Economic Development Strategy - Visits to 
Redditch businesses being arranged. 
 

 

7th October 
2009 
 

  

Cllr C 
MacMillan / R 
Bamford / A 
Rutt 

Publication of Planning Applications – 
Consultation 
 
Officers were asked to consider a slight 
expansion of the circulation of notifications 
of planning applications should  these new 
measures come into effect. 
 

 

18th 
November 
2009 

  

Cllr M Braley 
/ D Riley 

Benefits Improvement Plan 
 
Officers were requested to highlight the 
Inspector’s comments regarding Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee’s involvement in 

 

Agenda Item 17Page 203



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

overseeing the management of 
performance. [Appendix 1 (R7a)] 
 

9th 
December 
2009 

  

Cllr 
Anderson / A 
Heighway 

Voluntary Sector Grant Applications 
 
Members were keen that photographs be 
included in Redditch Matters to publicise 
the grant funding that was being provided.  

 
 
Officers 
highlighted the 
publicity that was 
already being 
planned. 

27th January 
2010 
 

  

Cllr Gandy / 
A Heighway 

Single Equalities Scheme 
 
Members requested that a report/action 
plan be submitted to a future meeting of the 
Committee or Council detailing what the 
Council, as Community Leader, expected 
to receive in terms of education provision 
for the Borough and its children and young 
people. 
 

 

Cllr Gandy / 
K Dicks 

Worcestershire Enhanced Two Tier 
(WETT) Programme 
 
Officers highlighted the undertaking that 
had been made at a recent meeting of the 
WETT Programme Management Group to 
provide further detail to the participating 
Councils on the proposed service 
standards and related information (due 
April 2010) 
 

 

Cllr Braley / 
R Kindon / B 
Haycock 

Easemore Road Site – Consultation with 
Tenants 
 
Officers undertook to carry out a basic 
check of all such Leases held by the 
Council by the end of the financial year. 

 

3rd February 
2010 

  

Cllr Braley / 
T Kristunas 

Initial Estimates 2010/11 
 
Officers to write, in the first instance, to 
Worcestershire County Council highlighting 

 

Page 204



   
 

Executive 
Committee  

 

 
 

 

10th March 2010 
 

the increasing pressure on the Council’s 
budgets for staff pensions. 
 

Cllr Braley / 
B Barr 

Corporate Sickness Statistics 
 
Officers were asked to provide Councillor 
Hartnett with information regarding the SLA 
with Worcestershire County Council for the 
provision of Occupational Health services. 
 

 

17th 
February 
2010 

  

Cllr 
MacMillan / A 
Rutt 

Planning Services - Increase In 
Charging For Pre-Application 
Discussions 
 
Officers were asked to circulate Appendix 
2, as detailed in the report, prior to the 
meeting of Council on 29th March 2010. 
 

 

Cllr 
Anderson / K 
Cook 

Leisure Contracts Advisory Panel - 
Abbey Stadium Redevelopment 
 
Officers were asked to arrange a visit for 
Councillors to a leisure centre in Coventry, 
which had been subject to a similar 
refurbishment to that being suggested at 
the Abbey Stadium. 
 

 

Note: No further debate should be held on the above 
matters or substantive decisions taken, without 
further report OR unless urgency requirements are 
met. 

Report period: 
13/01/09 to 22/2/10 

 

Page 205



Page 206


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	100217 Minutes
	100217 Minutes (Restricted)

	5 Quarterly Performance Monitoring - Quarter 3, October - December 2009
	Q3 Exception Report 260210 Post PHB Mtg Page View

	6 Quarterly Budget Monitoring - Quarter 3, September to December 2009
	Quarterley Budget Monitoring April - September - Appendix 1
	Quarterley Budget Monitoring April - September - Appendix 2
	Quarterley Budget Monitoring April - September Quarter - Appendix 3
	Quarterley Budgt Monitoring April - September - Appendix 4

	7 Quarterly Monitoring of Formal Complaints and Compliments - Quarter 3, September to December 2009
	FINAL - QUARTERLY MONITORING OF FORMAL COMPLAINTS & COMPLIMENTS - Appendix 1
	FINAL - QUARTERLY MONITORING OF FORMAL COMPLAINTS & COMPLIMENTS - Appendix 2
	FINAL - QUARTERLY MONITORING OF FORMAL COMPLAINTS & COMPLIMENTS - Appendix 3
	FINAL- QUARTERLY MONITORING OF FORMAL COMPLAINTS & COMPLIMENTS - Appendix 4

	8 Quarterly Monitoring of the Benefits Service Improvement Plan - Quarter 3, September to December 2009
	Benefits Improvement Plan - Quarterly Monitoring October - December Appendix1 - FINAL
	Benefits Improvement Plan - Quarterly Monitoring October - December Appendix 2 - FINAL

	9 Home Improvement Agency
	Re-Commissioning of HIA report Confidential information - Appendix 1
	Re-Commissioning of HIA report - Appendix 2

	10 Redditch Housing Advice and Homelessness Review and Enhanced Housing Options Strategy and Action Plan
	11 Prudential Indicators 2010/11 to 2012/13 and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy
	12 Treasury Management Policy Statement
	TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 201011- Appendix A

	13 Voluntary Sector Grant Applications 2010/11
	Voluntary Sector Grants Applications 2010-2011-App 1

	16 Advisory Panels - update report
	17 Action Monitoring

